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PARPP TRR  I

Item 1.  Business

Overview

Lexicon Pharmaceuticals is a biopharmaceutical company with a mission of pioneering medicines that transform 
patients’ lives. We are devoting most of our resources to the commercialization or development of our four most advanced WW
drug programs:

• We are commercializing XERMELOWW ® (telotristat ethyl), an orally-delivered small molecule drug, in the United States 
for the treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in combination with somatostatin analog, or SSA, therapy in adults 
inadequately controlled by SSA therapyA .  We have granted Ipsen Pharma SAS, or Ipsen, an exclusive, royalty-bearing WW
right to commercialize XERMELO outside of the United States and Japan.  Ipsen is commercializing XERMELO in 
multiple countries, including the United Kingdom and Germany, and is preparing to commercialize XERMELO in yy
certain additional countries.  We are also developing telotristat ethyl as a treatment for biliary tract cancer and are WW
conducting a Phase 2a clinical trial of telotristat ethyl in biliary tract cancer patients.

• We are developing sotagliflozin, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for type 1 and WW
type 2 diabetes. We have granted Sanofi-AWW ventis Deutschland GmbH, or Sanofi, an exclusive, worldwide (excluding AA
Japan), royalty-bearing right to develop, manufacture and commercialize sotagliflozin. We have reported positive data WW
from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials and a third Phase 3 clinical trial of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes patients.  
Sanofi has submitted applications for regulatory approval to market sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United 
States, the European Union and certain additional countries, and we and Sanofi are preparing for the commercial
launch of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, if approved.  Sanofi is also conducting a comprehensive 
Phase 3 development program for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes.

• We are developing LX921WW 1, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for neuropathic pain.  
We have reported positive top-line data from an initial Phase 1a clinical trial of LX921WW 1 and are conducting a Phase 1b 
clinical trial of LX9211.

• We are developing LX2761, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for diabetes.  WW We haveWW
reported top-line data from two Phase 1 clinical trials of LX2761 and are presently evaluating the further clinical
development of LX2761.  We have granted Sanofi certain rights of first negotiation with respect to the futureWW
development and commercialization of LX2761.

Compounds from our most advanced drug programs, as well as compounds from a number of additional drug 
discovery and development programs that we have advanced into various stages of clinical and preclinical development, 
originated from our own internal drug discovery efforts.ff These efforts were driven by a systematic, tarff get biology-driven 
approach in which we used gene knockout technologies and an integrated platform of advanced medical technologies to 
systematically study the physiological and behavioral functions of almost 5,000 genes in mice and assessed the utility of the 
proteins encoded by the corresponding human genes as potential drug targets. We have identified and validated in living WW
animals, or in vivo, more than 100 targets with promising profiles for drug discovery.

We are working both independently and through strategic collaborations and alliances with third parties to capitalize WW
on our drug target discoveries and drug discovery and development programs.  We seek to retain exclusive or co-exclusive WW
rights to the benefits of certain drug discovery and development programs by developing and commercializing drug candidates 
from those programs internally, particularly in the United States for indications treated by specialist physicians. yy We seek toWW
collaborate with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, such as Ipsen and Sanofi, with respect to drug discovery 
or the development and commercialization of certain of our drug candidates, particularly with respect to commercialization in
territories outside the United States, commercialization in the United States for indications treated by primary care physicians,
or when the collaboration may otherwise provide us with access to expertise and resources that we do not possess internally or 
are complementary to our own.

Lexicon Pharmaceuticals was incorporated in Delaware in July 1995, and commenced operations in September 
1995.  Our corporate headquarters are located at 8800 Technology Forest Place, TT The Woodlands,WW Texas 77381, and our TT
telephone number is (281) 863-3000.

Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to 
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made available 
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free of charge on our corporate website located at www.lexpharma.com as soon as reasonably practicable after the filing of 
those reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Information found on our website should not be considered part 
of this annual report on Form 10-K.

Drug Programs

We are devoting most of our resources to the commercialization or development of our four most advanced drug WW
programs:  XERMELO (telotristat ethyl), which we are commercializing for carcinoid syndrome diarrhea and developing for 
biliary tract cancer; sotagliflozin, which we are developing for type 1 and type 2 diabetes; LX9211, which we are developing 
for neuropathic pain; and LX2761, which we are developing for diabetes.  We have also advanced a number of additional WW
compounds into various stages of clinical and preclinical development.

XERMELO (telotristat ethyl)ll

We commercially launched XERMELO, an orally-delivered small molecule compound, following regulatory approvalWW
in the United States in February 2017 for the treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in combination with SSA therapy in A
adults inadequately controlled by SSA therapyA .  XERMELO was discovered by our scientists and inhibits tryptophan
hydroxylase, or TPH, the rate-limiting enzyme for serotonin production found primarily in enterochromaffin cells of the ff
gastrointestinal tract.  Carcinoid syndrome is characterized by frequent and debilitating diarrhea and can result when these cells
become cancerous and metastisize to the liver or other organs, where they overproduce serotonin.  The recommended dose of 
XERMELO is 250mg three times daily, and the full prescribing information for XERMELO includes certain warnings and yy
precautions relating to constipation.

We have entered into a license and collaboration agreement under which we granted Ipsen an exclusive, royalty-WW
bearing right and license to commercialize XERMELO outside of the United States and Japan.  Ipsen has received approval 
from the European Commission to market XERMELO for the treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in all member states of 
the European Union, Norway and Iceland and from certain other regulatory authorities to market XERMELO in additional
countries.  Ipsen has commercially launched XERMELO in multiple countries, including the United Kingdom and Germany, yy
and is preparing to commercially launch XERMELO in certain additional countries.

As part of our life cycle management of the program, we are conducting a Phase 2a clinical trial evaluating the safety
and tolerability of telotristat ethyl and its effects on biliary tract cancerff .  The trial is expected to enroll approximately 54 
patients with unresectable, locally advanced, recurrent or metastatic biliary tract cancer in an open-label, two-stage study of a 
250mg three times daily dose of telotristat ethyl over an initial 7-day treatment period, followed by a 500mg three times daily 
dose of telotristat ethyl over subsequent 21-day treatment cycles until cessation of treatment for disease progression, toxicity or 
patient withdrawal.  Standard of care, first-line chemotherapy doses of cisplatin and gemcitabine will be administered on days 
one and eight of each 21-day treatment cycle.  The trial is designed to be conducted in two stages, each of which is expected to
enroll approximately 27 patients.  The primary efficacy endpoint under evaluation is the progression-free survival rate at six ff
months, with secondary endpoints including progression-free survival at 12 months, overall survival rates, disease control rates
and weight change.

Sotagliflozin

Sotagliflozin is an orally-delivered small molecule compound that we and Sanofi are developing for the treatment of 
type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus.  Sotagliflozin was discovered by our scientists and inhibits both sodium-glucose
cotransporter type 2, or SGLT2, a transporter responsible for most of the glucose reabsorption performed by the kidneyLL , and yy
sodium-glucose cotransporter type 1, or SGLT1, a transporter responsible for glucose and galactose absorption in the LL
gastrointestinal tract.  Our scientists discovered that mice lacking SGLT1, SGLLL T2 or both exhibit potent anti-diabetic LL
phenotypes across multiple measures of glucose control and metabolism, and found that compounds inhibiting both targets had 
a favorable preclinical profile relative to compounds selective for SGLT2.LL

We have entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Sanofi under which we granted Sanofi an exclusive, WW
worldwide (excluding Japan), royalty-bearing right and license to develop, manufacture and commercialize sotagliflozin.

Type 1 DiabetesTT .

We have completed three Phase 3 clinical trials evaluating the safety and tolerability of sotagliflozin and its efWW fects on ff
glycemic parameters associated with type 1 diabetes.
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Our pivotal inTandem1 Phase 3 clinical trial enrolled 793 patients with type 1 diabetes in the United States and TT
Canada in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin over a 
24-week treatment period, followed by a 28-week extension.  Insulin therapy was optimized in patients over a 6-week period 
prior to dosing.  The primary efficacy endpoint under evaluation in the trial was the reduction of hemoglobin ff A1c, or A1C,
versus placebo on optimized insulin treatment at 24 weeks, with secondary endpoints including percentage of patients
achieving A1C levels of less than 7% without experiencing an event of severe hypoglycemia or diabetic ketoacidosis, or DKA,
change in meal-time, or bolus, insulin use, body weight, fasting plasma glucose and patient-reported assessments.  Data from
the study showed that patients treated with sotagliflozin experienced statistically significant reductions in A1C from baseline of 
0.43% for the 200mg dose (p<0.001) and 0.48% for the 400mg dose (p<0.001), as compared to a reduction of 0.07% on
placebo after 24 weeks of treatment, meeting the study’s primary efficacy endpoint at both dose levels. ff The A1C benefit 
achieved with sotagliflozin was sustained with statistically significant results over the full 52-week duration of the study for 
both the 200mg and 400mg doses.  Benefits in all secondary efficacy endpoints were observed in both the 200mg and 400mg ff
dose arms compared to placebo, with statistically significant improvements in all secondary efficacy endpoints observed in the ff
400mg dose arm and in the percentage of patients achieving A1C levels of less than 7% without any severe hypoglycemia or 
DKA events and weight loss observed in the 200mg dose arm and statistically significant improvements in all secondaryA
efficacy endpoints observed in the 400mg dose arm.  Over the full 52-week treatment period, the incidences of treatment-ff
emergent adverse events in the placebo, 200mg and 400mg dose arms were 80.6%, 81.7% and 79.8%, respectively; the 
incidences of serious adverse events were 7.5%, 10.3% and 11.1%, respectively; and the incidences of discontinuation due to
adverse events were 4.1%, 4.9% and 6.5%, respectively.  Potential cases of severe hypoglycemia and DKA were reviewed by a A
blinded adjudication panel, which determined whether such cases met pre-established diagnostic criteria.  The number of 
patients with positively adjudicated severe hypoglycemic events during the full 52-week treatment period was 26 (9.7%), 17 
(6.5%) and 17 (6.5%) in the placebo, 200mg and 400mg dose arms, respectively. The number of patients with positively 
adjudicated DKA events during the full 52-week treatment period was 1 (0.4%), 9 (3.4%) and 1A 1 (4.2%) in the placebo, 200mg
and 400mg dose arms, respectively.

 Our pivotal inTandem2 Phase 3 clinical trial enrolled 782 patients with type 1 diabetes in Europe and Israel in a TT
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin over a 24-week 
treatment period, followed by a 28-week extension.  Insulin therapy was optimized in patients over a 6-week period prior to
dosing.  As with inTandem1, the primary efTT ficacy endpoint under evaluation in the trial was the reduction of ff A1C versus
placebo on optimized insulin treatment at 24 weeks, with secondary endpoints including percentage of patients achieving A1C
levels of less than 7% without experiencing a severe hypoglycemia or DKA event, change in bolus insulin use, body weight,A
fasting plasma glucose and patient-reported assessments.  Data from the study showed that patients treated with sotagliflozin
experienced statistically significant reductions in A1C from baseline of 0.39% for the 200mg dose (p<0.001) and 0.37% for the
400mg dose (p<0.001), as compared to a reduction of 0.02% on placebo after 24 weeks of treatment, meeting the study’s
primary efficacy endpoint at both dose levels. ff The A1C benefit achieved with sotagliflozin was sustained with statistically
significant results over the full 52-week duration of the study for both the 200mg and 400mg doses.  Statistically significant 
improvements in all secondary efficacy endpoints were observed in both the 200mg and 400mg dose arms compared to ff
placebo.  Over the full 52-week treatment period, the incidences of treatment-emergent adverse events in the placebo, 200mg
and 400mg dose arms were 61.2%, 68.2% and 68.8%, respectively; the incidences of serious adverse events were 6.6%, 10.0% 
and 8.0%, respectively; and the incidences of discontinuation due to adverse events were 3.5%, 3.8% and 6.8%, respectively.  
Potential cases of severe hypoglycemia and DKA were reviewed by a blinded adjudication panel, which determined whether A
such cases met pre-established diagnostic criteria. The number of patients with positively adjudicated severe hypoglycemic 
events during the full 52-week treatment period was 13 (5.0%), 13 (5.0%) and 6 (2.3%) in the placebo, 200mg and 400mg dose
arms, respectively.  The number of patients with positively adjudicated DKA events during the full 52-week treatment period A
was 0 (0.0%), 6 (2.3%) and 9 (3.4%) in the placebo, 200mg and 400mg dose arms, respectively.

We have additionally reported pooled continuous glucose monitoring, or CGM, data from the inTWW andem1 and TT
inTandem2 clinical trials. TT The percentage of time during the initial 24-week treatment period spent inside the target range for 
CGM glucose (70-180 mg/dL) increased from 52.2% to 57.8% in patients treated with 200mg of sotagliflozin and from 50.7%
to 64.1% in patients treated with 400mg of sotagliflozin, with no relevant change observed in patients receiving placebo.  The 
differences from placebo were clinically significant for both the 200mg and 400mg dose groups (p=0.026 and p<0.001,ff
respectively). The increase in time spent in range by both sotagliflozin dose groups was a result of significantly reduced time 
spent above 180 mg/dL, while the time spent below 70 mg/dL was not increased. L These results translate into an additional 1.41
hours and 3.02 hours that a patient would spend within the 70-180 mg/dL tarL get range in a 24-hour period, for the 200mg and 
400mg dose groups respectively.

Our inTandem3 Phase 3 clinical trial enrolled 1,405 patients with type 1 diabetes in the United States and Europe in a TT
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of a 400mg once daily dose of sotagliflozin over a 24-week treatment 
period.  Insulin therapy was not optimized in patients and eligibility criteria included any background insulin therapy. The 
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primary efficacy endpoint under evaluation in the trial was the proportion of patients achieving ff A1C levels of less than 7% at 
24 weeks without experiencing a severe hypoglycemic or DKA event, with secondary endpoints including the change from A
baseline in A1C, body weight, systolic blood pressure and bolus insulin use.  Data from the study showed statistically 
significant superiority of sotagliflozin (28.6%) compared to placebo (15.2%) in the proportion of patients achieving A1C levels
of less than 7% without experiencing a severe hypoglycemic or DKA event (p<0.001), meeting the study’A s primary endpoint.  
Patients treated with sotagliflozin also experienced statistically significant improvements in all secondary efficacy endpoints ff
compared to placebo.  The incidences of treatment-emergent adverse events in the placebo and 400mg dose arms were 52.5% 
and 55.1%, respectively; the incidences of serious adverse events were 3.3% and 6.9%, respectively; and the incidences of 
discontinuation due to adverse events were 2.3% and 6.3%, respectively.  Potential cases of severe hypoglycemia and DKA
were reviewed by a blinded adjudication panel, which determined whether such cases met pre-established diagnostic criteria.  
The number of patients with positively adjudicated severe hypoglycemic events during the 24-week treatment period was 17 
(2.4%) and 21 (3.0%) in the placebo and 400mg dose arms, respectively.  The number of patients with positively adjudicated 
DKA events during the 24-week treatment period was 4 (0.6%) and 21 (3.0%) in the placebo and 400mg dose arms,A
respectively.  Results from the inTandem3 trial were published in the New England Journal of Medicine in September 2017.TT

Sanofi has submitted applications for regulatory approval to market sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United 
States, the European Union and certain additional countries.  On January 17, 2019, the Endocrinologic and Metabolic Drugs 
Advisory Committee of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, voted eight to eight on the question of whether the 
overall benefits of sotagliflozin outweighed the risks to support approval.  While the FDA is not required to follow the A
committee’s vote, the FDA considers the committee’A s recommendations when making its decision on the United States
application, which is anticipated by March 22, 2019 under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act.

On February 28, 2019, the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use yy
adopted a positive opinion recommending regulatory approval of sotagliflozin for use as an adjunct to insulin therapy to 
improve glycemic control in adults with type 1 diabetes with a body mass index of 27 kg/m2 or greater, who have failed to 
achieve adequate glycemic control despite optimal insulin therapy.  The European Commission is anticipated to make a final 
decision on the European Union application in the second quarter of 2019.

We and Sanofi are working with the FDA, EMAWW  and other regulatory authorities in support of their review process and A
preparing for the commercial launch of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, if approved.

Type 2 Diabetes.TT

Sanofi is conducting a comprehensive Phase 3 development program for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes patients, 
including the following randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies:

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin as monotherapy in approximately 400 patients over a 26-week 
treatment period;

• 400mg once daily dose of sotagliflozin in approximately 500 patients on background metformin therapy over a 26-
week treatment period, followed by a 53-week extension;

• 400mg once daily dose of sotagliflozin in approximately 500 patients added to sulfonylurea alone or in combination 
with metformin over a 26-week treatment period, followed by a 53-week extension;

• 200mg or 400mg once daily dose of sotagliflozin in approximately 10,500 patients with cardiovascular risk factors 
and moderately impaired renal function over a treatment period to be determined by cardiovascular outcome events,
currently expected to be approximately four years;

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 780 patients with moderate renal impairment 
over a 52-week treatment period;

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 276 patients with severe renal impairment over a 
52-week treatment period;

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 560 patients on background basal insulin alone
or in addition to other oral antidiabetic drug therapies over an 18-week treatment period, followed by a 34-week 
extension;
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• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 700 patients on dipeptidyl peptidase-4, or 
DPP-4, inhibitors, with or without metformin, compared to 25mg dose of empagliflozin over a 26-week treatment 
period;

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 930 patients on background metformin therapy 
compared to up to a 6mg dose of glimepiride over a 52-week treatment period;

• 200mg and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 360 patients aged 55 years or older, with or 
without any stable anti-diabetes therapy, evaluating efyy ficacy and bone safety over a 26-week treatment period, ff
followed by a 78-week extension; and

• 200mg or 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin in approximately 4,000 hemodynamically stable patients with type
2 diabetes post-worsening heart failure over a treatment period determined by cardiovascular outcome events, 
currently expected to be approximately three years.

We previously completed two Phase 2 clinical trials evaluating the safety and tolerability of sotagliflozin and its WW
effects on glycemic parameters associated with type 2 diabetes.ff

The Phase 2b clinical trial enrolled 299 patients with type 2 diabetes who were not adequately controlled on 
metformin monotherapy in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study of 75mg once daily, 200mg once dailyyy , yy
200mg twice daily and 400mg once daily doses of sotagliflozin, each administered in combination with standard metformin 
therapy over a 12 week treatment period. The primary efficacy ff endpoint under evaluation in the trial was the change in A1C
from baseline to week 12.  Secondary efficacy endpoints included percentage of patients achieving ff A1C levels of less than 7%,
as well as changes in fasting plasma glucose levels, weight, blood pressure and triglyceride levels.  Data from the study showed 
that treatment with sotagliflozin demonstrated statistically significant benefits in the primary and multiple secondary endpoints. 
Patients in each of the 75mg once daily, 200mg once dailyyy , 200mg twice daily and 400mg once daily sotagliflozin treatment yy
arms had mean A1C reductions from baseline of 0.43, 0.52, 0.79 and 0.92 percent, respectively (p<0.001 for all treatment 
arms), while in patients randomized to placebo, A1C decreased by 0.09 percent.  We also observed that patients treated withWW
sotagliflozin showed significant reductions in body weight and blood pressure.  Sotagliflozin was well tolerated and adverse 
events were generally mild to moderate, with the overall incidence of adverse events with sotagliflozin being similar to 
placebo.

The Phase 2a clinical trial enrolled 36 patients with non-insulin dependent type 2 diabetes in a double-blind, 
randomized, placebo-controlled study of 150mg and 300mg doses of sotagliflozin, each administered once daily over a four-
week treatment period.  The efficacy endpoints under evaluation in the trial included urinary glucose excretion, fasting plasma ff
glucose, response to oral glucose tolerance testing, and change in A1C.  Data from the study showed that treatment with 150mg
and 300mg of sotagliflozin provided improvements in glycemic control and demonstrated statistically significant benefits in the 
primary and multiple secondary efficacy endpoints.  ff A marked and statistically significant decrease in fasting plasma glucoseA
was observed at each measurement point throughout the treatment period in both treatment arms relative to placebo.  After four 
weeks of dosing, patients in both dose groups exhibited statistically significant reductions in A1C as compared to patients
receiving placebo (p=0.001 and p<0.001 for the 150mg and 300mg treatment arms, respectively).  Patients in both treatment 
arms also exhibited statistically significant improvements in glucose tolerance in response to oral glucose tolerance testing
(p<0.001 for both treatment arms).  Consistent with the mechanism of action of sotagliflozin, there was also a significant, dose-
dependent increase in 24-hour urinary glucose excretion in both treatment arms at each measurement point throughout the 
study period relative to placebo (p<0.001 at all time points measured).  Patients in both treatment arms also showed positive
trends in broader metabolic and cardiovascular parameters, including weight reduction, decreased blood pressure and lower 
triglyceride levels.  Sotagliflozin was well tolerated in the trial, with no dose-limiting toxicities observed and adverse events
being generally mild and equally distributed across all treatment groups, including the placebo group.

LX9211

LX9211 is an orally-delivered small molecule compound that we are developing for the treatment of neuropathic pain. 
LX9211 was discovered by scientists working within our drug discovery alliance with Bristol-Myers Squibb and inhibits
adaptor associated kinase 1, or AAK1.  Our scientists discovered that mice lacking AAK1 exhibit increased resistance to
induced neuropathic pain in preclinical models.

We reported top-line data in December 2018 from a Phase 1a clinical trial evaluating the safetyWW , tolerability and yy
pharmacokinetics of LX9211.  The trial enrolled ten cohorts of healthy volunteers in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-
controlled, ascending single dose study of daily doses of LX9211.  LX9211 demonstrated a safety, tolerability and yy
pharmacokinetics profile identifying the maximum tolerated dose and supportive of once daily, or less frequent, dosing. yy
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Pharmacokinetics results were dose proportional over substantially all of the dose range.  The most common adverse event was
headache and there were no drug-related serious adverse events.

We are conducting a Phase 1b clinical trial further evaluating the safetyWW , tolerability and pharmacokinetics of LX921yy 1.  
The trial is expected to enroll up to 40 healthy volunteers in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, ascending 
multiple dose study of daily doses of LX9211 over a 14-day treatment period.

We have obtained exclusive research, development and commercialization rights to LX921WW 1 and additional 
compounds acting through AAK1 from Bristol-Myers Squibb.  

LX2761

LX2761 is an orally-delivered small molecule compound that we are developing for the treatment of diabetes. 
LX2761 was discovered by our scientists and is designed to inhibit SGLT1 locally in the gastrointestinal tract without any LL
significant inhibition of SGLT2 in the kidneyLL .

We reported top-line data in December 2018 from two Phase 1 clinical trials evaluating the safetyWW , tolerabilityyy , yy
pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of LX2761.  The Phase 1a trial enrolled five cohorts of healthy volunteers and two 
cohorts of type 2 diabetes patients in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, ascending single dose study of daily
doses of LX2761.  Patients with type 2 diabetes were washed off metformin for three days prior to dosing.  LX2761 ff
demonstrated minimal absorption and no systemic effect, with no increase in urine glucose excretion from baseline.  LX2761 ff
also reduced postprandial glucose in diabetic patients while increasing plasma levels of glucagon-like peptide-1, or GLP-1, a 
hormone produced in the small intestine that stimulates insulin secretion and inhibits glucagon secretion. The most common
adverse and dose-limiting event was diarrhea.

The Phase 1b trial enrolled 51 patients with type 2 diabetes in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 
ascending multiple dose study of daily doses of LX2761, administered as a single dose or twice per day over an 8-day
treatment period.  Patients were treated with metformin at the time of screening and for the duration of the study.  LX2761
showed reduced postprandial glucose, demonstrating delayed and reduced intestinal glucose absorption while increasing
plasma levels of GLP-1 with minimal effect on urinary glucose excretion.  ff The most common adverse event was diarrhea.  We WW
are presently evaluating the further clinical development of LX2761.

We have granted Sanofi certain rights of first negotiation with respect to the future development and WW
commercialization of LX2761.

Drug Target DiscoveriesTT

Our internal drug discovery efforts were driven by a systematic, tarff get biology-driven approach in which we used gene 
knockout technologies and an integrated platform of advanced medical technologies to systematically study the physiological
and behavioral functions of almost 5,000 genes in mice and assessed the utility of the proteins encoded by the corresponding
human genes as potential drug targets. We have identified and validated in living animals, or WW in vivo, more than 100 targets with
promising profiles for drug discovery.

Collaborations

We are working both independently and through strategic collaborations and alliances with third parties to capitalize WW
on our drug target discoveries and drug discovery and development programs.  Consistent with this approach, we seek to retain
exclusive rights to the benefits of certain drug discovery and development programs by developing and commercializing drug 
candidates from those programs internally, particularly in the United States for indications treated by specialist physicians, asyy
we have with XERMELO in the United States. We seek to collaborate with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology WW
companies, such as Ipsen and Sanofi, with respect to drug discovery or the development and commercialization of certain of 
our drug candidates, particularly with respect to commercialization in territories outside the United States, commercialization in 
the United States for indications treated by primary care physicians, or when the collaboration may provide us with access to 
expertise and resources that we do not possess internally or are complementary to our own.  We also seek to collaborate withWW
other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, research institutes and academic institutions to capitalize on our drug
target discoveries.
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Strategic Collaborations

Sanofi. We entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Sanofi in November 2015 under which we granted WW
Sanofi an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing right and license to develop, manufacture and commercialize sotagliflozin.  In
December 2016, Sanofi terminated its rights under the agreement with respect to Japan.  We received a $300 million upfront WW
payment under the agreement and we are eligible to receive up to $210 million upon the achievement of specified clinical 
development milestones, up to $220 million upon the achievement of specified regulatory milestones and up to $990 million 
upon the achievement of specified commercial milestones.  We are also entitled to tiered, escalating royalties ranging from low WW
double digit percentages to 40 percent of net sales of sotagliflozin, based on indication and territory, with royalties for the yy
higher band of such range attributable to net sales for type 1 diabetes in the United States, and subject in each case to
customary royalty reduction provisions. 

We are responsible for all clinical development activities relating to type 1 diabetes and have exercised an exclusiveWW
option to co-promote and have a significant role, in collaboration with Sanofi, in the commercialization of sotagliflozin for the
treatment of type 1 diabetes in the United States.  Under the terms of the exercised co-promotion option, we will fund 40 
percent of the commercialization costs relating to such co-promotion activities.  Sanofi is responsible for all clinical 
development and commercialization of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 2 diabetes worldwide and is solely responsible for 
the commercialization of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes outside the United States.  We shared in the funding WW
of a portion of the planned type 2 diabetes development costs over the first three years of the collaboration, up to an aggregate 
of $100 million, which was satisfied in 2018.  Sanofi will book sales worldwide in all indications.

Ipsen. We entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Ipsen in October 2014 under which we granted WW
Ipsen an exclusive, royalty-bearing right and license to commercialize XERMELO outside of the United States, Canada and 
Japan.  The collaboration was expanded in March 2015 to include Canada.  We have received $24.5 million in upfront WW
payments and $20.5 million in regulatory and commercial launch milestones under the agreement.  In addition, we are eligible 
to receive up to an additional $11.8 million upon the achievement of additional specified regulatory and commercial launch 
milestones and up to €72 million upon the achievement of specified sales milestones. We are also entitled to tiered, escalating WW
royalties ranging from low twenties to mid-thirties percentages of net sales of XERMELO in the licensed territory, subject to a yy
credit for Ipsen’s payments to us for the manufacture and supply of such units of XERMELO and customary royalty reduction 
provisions.

Bristol-Myers Squibb.  We established a drug discovery alliance with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company in December WW
2003 to discover, develop and commercialize small molecule drugs in the neuroscience field.  Bristol-Myers Squibb extended 
the target discovery term of the alliance in May 2006.  We initiated the alliance with a number of neuroscience drug discovery WW
programs at various stages of development and used our gene knockout technologies to identify additional drug targets with
promise in the neuroscience field.  For those targets that were selected for the alliance, we and Bristol-Myers Squibb worked 
together, on an exclusive basis, to identify, characterize and carry out the preclinical development of small molecule drugs.  yy
Bristol-Myers Squibb has the first option to assume full responsibility for clinical development and commercialization of any 
drugs resulting from the alliance which enter clinical trials, other than LX9211 and additional compounds acting through 
AAK1.  We received $86 million in upfront payments and research funding under the agreement during the tarWW get discovery 
portion of the alliance, which expired in October 2009.  In addition, we are entitled to receive clinical and regulatory milestone
payments ranging, depending on the timing and extent of our efforts in the alliance, up to $76 million for each drug developed ff
by Bristol-Myers Squibb under the alliance.  We will also earn royalties on sales of drugs commercialized by Bristol-Myers WW
Squibb under the alliance.

We jointly developed LX921WW 1 with Bristol-Myers Squibb as part of the alliance, and separately obtained from Bristol-
Myers Squibb exclusive research, development and commercialization rights to LX9211 and additional compounds acting
through AAK1.  We have agreed to pay Bristol-Myers Squibb up to $34.5 million in clinical and regulatory milestones for the WW
first indication and up to $16 million in clinical and regulatory milestones for each of the second and third indications, if 
applicable. We have also agreed to pay single digit royalties on worldwide net sales and up to $40 million in commercialWW
milestones.

Genentech.  We established a drug discovery alliance with Genentech, Inc. in December 2002 to discover novel WW
therapeutic proteins and antibody targets. We and Genentech expanded the alliance in November 2005 for the advanced WW
research, development and commercialization of new biotherapeutic drugs.  Under the original alliance agreement, we used our 
target validation technologies to discover the functions of secreted proteins and potential antibody targets identified through r
Genentech’s internal drug discovery research.  In the expanded alliance, we conducted additional, advanced research on a broad 
subset of those proteins and targets. We have exclusive rights to develop and commercialize biotherapeutic drugs for two of WW
these targets, while Genentech has exclusive rights to develop and commercialize biotherapeutic drugs for the other targets.  We WW
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retain certain other rights to discoveries made in the alliance, including non-exclusive rights, along with Genentech, for the 
development and commercialization of small molecule drugs addressing the targets included in the alliance. We received WW
$58 million in upfront payments, research funding and research milestone payments under the agreement during the research 
collaboration term, which expired in November 2008.  In addition, we are entitled to receive clinical and regulatory milestone
payments ranging, depending on the extent of our efforts in the alliance, up to $25 million for each drug tarff get for which 
Genentech develops a biotherapeutic drug under the alliance.  We will also earn royalties on sales of biotherapeutic drugs WW
commercialized by Genentech under the alliance.  Genentech is entitled to receive milestone payments and royalties on sales of 
biotherapeutic drugs which we develop or commercialize under the alliance.

Other Collaborations

We have established collaborations with a number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, research institutesWW
and academic institutions under which we have received fees in exchange for generating knockout mice for genes requested by 
the collaborator, providing phenotypic data with respect to such knockout mice or otherwise granting access to some of our 
technologies and discoveries.  In some cases, we remain eligible to receive milestone or royalty payments on the sale of mice
and phenotypic data or on products that our collaborators discover or develop using our technology.

Manufacturing and Product Supply

We do not own or operate manufacturing or distribution facilities or resources for clinical or commercial productionWW
and distribution of XERMELO or any of our drug candidates.  Instead, we have multiple contractual agreements in place with
third-party contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, who, on our behalf, manufacture commercial supplies of 
XERMELO and clinical supplies of our drug candidates, and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future.  Sanofi is 
responsible for the manufacture of all clinical and commercial supplies of sotagliflozin under the terms of our collaboration.  
We have selected well-established and reputable global CMOs for our active pharmaceutical ingredient, or WW API, and drug 
product manufacturing that have good regulatory standing, large manufacturing capacities, and multiple manufacturing sites 
within their business footprint.  We employ highly skilled personnel with both technical and manufacturing experience to WW
diligently manage the activities at our CMOs.  Our quality department audits these suppliers on a periodic basis.  Our 
commercial suppliers are subject to routine inspections by regulatory agencies.  We work closely with our third-party WW
manufacturers to ensure compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, and other stringent regulatory PP
requirements enforced by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies in other territories, as applicable.A

Raw materials that are used to manufacture our API are sourced from multiple third-party suppliers in Asia and 
Europe. Third-party API contract manufacturers in Asia and Europe stock sufficient quantities of these materials to ensure they ff
can manufacture adequate API quantities per our requirements, for both clinical and commercial purposes.  We storeWW API at 
third-party facilities, and provide appropriate amounts to third-party drug product contract manufacturers in Asia and North 
America who then manufacture, package and label our specified quantities of finished goods for XERMELO and our drug
candidates.  We rely on sole source third-party drug product contract manufacturers in the United States to manufacture,WW
package and label finished drug product for commercial distribution of XERMELO. We also rely on a single third-party WW
logistics provider, with two distribution locations, to provide shipping and warehousing services for our commercial supply of 
XERMELO in the United States.  Our third-party contract manufacturers also need to obtain materials such as excipients, 
components and reagents to manufacture our API and finished drug products.

Within our supply chain, we have established safety stock amounts for both our W API and drug products, and store those 
quantities for XERMELO in multiple locations.  The quantities that we store are based on our business needs and take into
account scenarios for demand, production lead times, potential supply interruptions and shelf life for our API and drug 
products.  In parallel, for business continuity reasons, we have established a backup supplier for our API and are in the process 
of evaluating and expect to establish an additional or backup supplier for our drug product in the near future. We believe that WW
our current manufacturing network has the appropriate capacity to produce sufficient commercial quantities of XERMELO for ff
both our and Ipsen’s commercialization efforts in support of the current approved indication of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea, asff
well as the potential indication of biliary tract cancer, if clinical development in that indication proves to be successful and 
gains regulatory approval in the future.

Marketing, Sales and Distribution

We have a fully integrated commercial team consisting of sales, marketing, market access, and commercial operations WW
functions.  Our specialized sales team promotes XERMELO in the United States, concentrating their efforts on oncologists,ff
oncology nurses and pharmacists. We have also built an internal medical afWW fairs function with responsibility for responding to ff
external inquiries regarding the appropriate use of XERMELO with regularly updated and well-substantiated scientific and 



9

medical information.  We have contracted with two independent specialty pharmacies to dispense XERMELO and provide WW
specialty pharmacy services in fulfillment of prescriptions in the United States, allowing for efficient delivery of XERMELO ff
by mail directly to patients.  We rely on Ipsen for the commercialization and distribution of XERMELO in territories outside of WW
the United States.

To help ensure that all eligible patients in the United States have appropriate access to XERMELO, we haveTT
established a comprehensive reimbursement and support program called LexCares.  Through LexCares, we provide co-pay 
assistance to qualified, commercially insured patients to help minimize out-of-pocket costs and provide free drug to uninsured 
or under-insured patients who meet certain clinical and financial criteria.  In addition, LexCares is designed to provide 
comprehensive reimbursement support services, such as benefits investigation and, if needed, appeals support.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are highly competitive and characterized by rapid technological 
change. We face significant competition in each of the aspects of our business from other pharmaceutical and biotechnology WW
companies, as well as academic research institutions, clinical reference laboratories and governmental agencies that are 
pursuing research or development activities similar to ours.  Many of our competitors have substantially greater research, 
development and commercialization capabilities and financial, scientific, marketing and human resources than we do.  As a
result, our competitors may succeed in developing products earlier than we do, obtaining approvals from the FDA or other A
regulatory agencies for those products more rapidly than we do, developing products that are more effective than those we ff
develop or commercializing products more effectively and profitably than we do.  Similarlyff , our collaborators face similar yy
competition from other competitors who may succeed in developing products more quickly, developing products that are more yy
effective than those developed by our collaborators or commercialize products more efff fectively and profitably than our ff
collaborators.

The competition for our products and drug candidates includes both marketed products and drug candidates that are 
being developed by others, including pharmaceutical products that are currently in a more advanced stage of clinical 
development or commercialization than are our own drug candidates.  These competitive marketed products and drug 
candidates include compounds that employ different mechanisms of action in addressing diseases and conditions for which weff
are developing our own drug candidates and, in some cases such as sotagliflozin, that employ the same or similar mechanisms
of action.

We believe that our ability to successfully compete with these potentially competitive drug candidates and other WW
competitive products currently on the market will depend on, among other things:

• the efficacyff , safety and reliability of our products;yy

• our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to complete preclinical and clinical development and obtain regulatory yy
approvals for our drug candidates;

• the timing and scope of regulatory approvals of our products;

• our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to obtain product acceptance by physicians and other health care yy
providers and secure coverage and adequate reimbursement for product use in approved indications;

• our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to manufacture and sell commercial quantities of our products;yy

• the skills of our employees and our ability to recruit and retain skilled employees;

• protection of our intellectual property; and

• the availability of substantial capital resources to fund development and commercialization activities.

Our principal competition for XERMELO includes the use, above their maximum labeled dose, of the established SSA
therapies octreotide and lanreotide, injectable products currently marketed by Novartis and Ipsen, respectively, as well asyy
lutetium Lu 177 dotatate, a radiopharmaceutical product currently marketed for the treatment of gastroenteropancreatic
neuroendocrine tumors by Advanced Accelerator Applications (a subsidiary of Novartis).
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If approved for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, we expect that our principal competition for sotagliflozin will include
established insulin therapies, as well as selective SGLT2 inhibitors currently being prescribed ofLL f-label, but which may gainff
regulatory approval, for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.  Such selective SGLT2 inhibitors include dapagliflozin, empagliflozin LL
and canagliflozin, currently marketed for the treatment of type 2 diabetes by AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim and Eli Lilly, yy
and Janssen (a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson), respectively.  The EMA Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use A
has adopted a positive opinion recommending regulatory approval for AstraZeneca to market dapagliflozin for the treatment of 
insufficiently controlled type 1 diabetes as an adjunct to insulin in adult patients with a body mass index of 27 kg/m2 or greaterff ,
when insulin alone does not provide adequate glycaemic control despite optimal insulin therapy.  If approved for the treatment 
of type 2 diabetes, we expect that our principal competition for sotagliflozin will include such selective SGLT2 inhibitors, asLL
well as DPP-4 inhibitors such as sitagliptin, currently marketed for the treatment of type 2 diabetes by Merck.

Government Regulation

The development, manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical products are subject to extensive regulation by United 
States and foreign governmental authorities, including federal, state and local authorities.  In the United States, new drugs are 
subject to regulation under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, or the FDC
Act. The FDA and comparable governmental authorities regulate, among other things, research and development activities and A
the testing, manufacture, quality control, safety, efyy ficacyff , record keeping, reporting, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, yy
promotion, sale, distribution, export and import of pharmaceutical products.

The standard process required by the FDA before a drug candidate may be marketed in the United States generally A
includes the following:

• preclinical laboratory and animal tests performed under current good laboratory practices, or cGLP;

• submission of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may commence;ff

• adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug candidate for its ff
intended use;

• submission of a New Drug Application, or NDA, for approval of commercial marketing and sale, or of an NDA
supplement, or sNDA, for approval of a new indication if the product is already approved for another indication;

• pre-approval inspection of manufacturing facilities and selected clinical investigators for their compliance with cGMP
and current good clinical practices, or cGCP;

• if FDA convenes an advisory committee, satisfactory completion of the advisory committee review; andA

• FDA approval of the NDAA or sNDA.A

This process for the testing and approval of drug candidates requires substantial time, effort and financial ff
resources.  Preclinical development of a drug candidate can take from one to several years to complete, with no guarantee that 
an IND based on those studies will become effective to even permit clinical testing to begin.  Before commencing the first ff
clinical trial of a drug candidate in the United States, we must submit an IND to the FDA.  The IND automatically becomes 
effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day time period, raises concerns or questions about ff
the conduct of the clinical trial.  In such a case, we and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial A
may begin.  Submission of an IND may not result in FDA authorization to commence a clinical trial.  A A separate submission toA
the existing IND must be made for each successive clinical trial conducted during product development, and the FDA must A
grant permission for each clinical trial to start and continue.  Further, an independent institutional review board for each 
medical center proposing to participate in the clinical trial must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before it 
commences at that center.  Regulatory authorities or an institutional review board or we may suspend a clinical trial at any time 
on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

For purposes of NDA approval, human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that mayA
overlap.

• Phase 1 clinical trials are conducted in a limited number of healthy human volunteers or, in some cases, patients, to
evaluate the safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion of the drug candidate;yy

• Phase 2 clinical trials are conducted in groups of patients afflicted with a specified disease or condition to obtain ff
preliminary data regarding efficacy as well as to further evaluate safety and optimize dosing of the drug candidate.  ff
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Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive 
Phase 3 clinical trials; and

• Phase 3 clinical trials are conducted in larger patient populations at multiple clinical trial sites to obtain statistically
significant evidence of the efficacy of the drug candidate for its intended use and to further test for safety in anff
expanded patient population.

In addition, the FDA may require, or companies may pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is A
approved.  These so-called Phase 4 studies may be made a condition to be satisfied after a drug receives approval.  Failure to 
satisfy such post-marketing commitments can result in FDA enforcement action, up and to including withdrawal of NDAA
approval.  The results of phase 4 studies can confirm the effectiveness of a drug candidate and can provide important safety ff
information to augment the FDA’AA s adverse drug reaction reporting system.

After completion of clinical trials, FDA approval of an NDAA  must be obtained before a new drug may be marketed in A
the United States. The submission of an NDA requires payment of a substantial user fee to the FDA. A An NDA must contain,A
among other things, information on chemistry, manufacturing controls and potency and purityyy , non-clinical pharmacology and yy
toxicology, human pharmacokinetics and bioavailability and clinical data.  yy There can be no assurance that the FDA will accept A
an NDA for filing and, even if accepted for filing, that approval will be granted. A The FDA may convene an advisory committee A
to provide clinical insight on NDA review questions. A Although the FDA is not required to follow the recommendations of an A
advisory committee, the agency typically does so. Among other things, the FDA reviews an NDAA  to determine whether a A
product is safe and effective for its intended use and whether the facility in which it is manufactured, processed, packed, or held ff
meets standards designed to assure the product’s continued safety, purity and potencyyy . The FDA may deny approval of an NDAA
by way of a Complete Response letter if the applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied, or it may require additional clinical 
data or an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial.  Even if such data are submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the A
NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval.  A An NDA may be approved with significant restrictions on its labeling,A
marketing and distribution under a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy or otherwise that could restrict the commercial 
applications of a product or impose costly procedures in connection with the commercialization or use of the product.  Once 
issued, the FDA may withdraw product approval if ongoing regulatory standards are not met or if safety problems occur after A
the product reaches the market.  In addition, the FDA may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the efA fect of ff
approved products which have been commercialized, and the FDA has the power to prevent or limit further marketing of a A
product based on the results of these post-marketing programs.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each product, each drug manufacturing establishment must be inspected and A
approved by the FDA.  All manufacturing establishments are subject to inspections by the FDA and by other federal, state and A
local agencies and must comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices requirements.  Non-compliance with these 
requirements can result in, among other things, total or partial suspension of production, failure of the government to grant 
approval for marketing and withdrawal, suspension or revocation of marketing approvals.

Satisfaction of FDA requirements or similar requirements of state, local and foreign regulatory agencies typically takes A
many years, with the actual time required varying substantially based on, among other things, the nature, novelty and 
complexity of the drug candidate and of the disease or condition.  Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of 
drug candidates or new diseases for a considerable period of time and impose costly procedures upon our activities.  The FDA
or any other regulatory agency may not grant approvals for new indications for our product candidates on a timely basis, if at 
all.  Success in earlier-stage clinical trials does not ensure success in later-stage clinical trials.  TarTT gets and pathways identified 
in vitro may be determined to be less relevant in clinical studies and results in animal model studies may not be predictive of 
human clinical results.  Furthermore, data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and may be susceptible to
varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.  Even if a drug candidate receives regulatoryyy
approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific disease states, patient populations and dosages.  Further, even
after regulatory approval is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in restrictions 
on the product or even complete withdrawal of the product from the market.

Once the FDA approves a product, a manufacturer must provide certain updated safety and efA ficacy ff
information.  Product changes as well as certain changes in a manufacturing process or facility would necessitate additional 
FDA review and approval.  Other post-approval changes may also necessitate further FDAA review and approval.  A Additionally, yy
a manufacturer must meet other requirements including those related to adverse event reporting and record keeping.

Products manufactured or distributed by us pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to continuing regulation by the A
FDA, including record-keeping requirements and reporting of adverse experiences with the drug.  Drug manufacturers and their 
subcontractors are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodicA
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unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMPA , which impose certain procedural PP
and documentation requirements upon us and our third-party manufacturers.

The FDA closely regulates the marketing and promotion of drugs, including restricting the promotion of uses for A
which a drug is not approved by the agency.  Not only must a company have appropriate substantiation to support claims made
about a drug, under the FDA’AA s current interpretation of relevant laws, a company can make only those claims relating to safety 
and efficacy that are for indications for which FDAff  has approved the drug and are otherwise consistent with the FDA-approved A
label for the drug.  Failure to comply with these requirements can result in adverse publicity, warning letters, corrective yy
advertising and potential civil and criminal penalties.  Physicians may, in their independent medical judgment, prescribe legally yy
available drugs for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from those tested by us and approved by ff
the FDA.  Such off-label uses are common across medical specialties.  Physicians may believe that such offf f-label uses are the ff
best treatment for many patients in varied circumstances.  The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice A
of treatments.  The FDA does, howeverA , restrict manufacturers’ communications on the subject of off-label use. ff Additionally, a yy
significant number of pharmaceutical companies have been the target of inquiries and investigations by various United States
federal and state regulatory, investigative, prosecutorial and administrative entities in connection with the promotion of yy
products for off-label uses and other sales practices.ff These investigations have alleged violations of various United States
federal and state laws and regulations, including claims asserting antitrust violations, violations of the FDC Act, false claims
laws, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, anti-kickback laws, and other alleged violations in connection with the promotion 
of products for unapproved uses, pricing and Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement.

The United States Orphan Drug Act is intended to incentivize the development of products for rare diseases or 
conditions that affect fewer than 200,000 people in the United States.  If a drug is being developed for a rare disease or ff
condition, to be eligible for designation as an orphan drug, the FDA must not have previously approved a drug considered the A
“same drug” for the same orphan indication.  If the FDA has previously approved another same drug for the same indication, A
the sponsor of the subsequent drug would be required to provide a plausible hypotheses of clinical superiority over the 
previously approved drug to obtain an orphan designation.  Upon FDA receipt of orphan drug designation, the sponsor is A
eligible for tax credits of up to 25% for qualified clinical trial expenses, the ability to apply for annual grant funding and waiver 
of PDUFAFF  application fee.  In addition, upon marketing approval, an orphan-designated drug could be eligible for seven yearsA
of market exclusivity for the approved orphan-designated indication.  Such orphan drug exclusivity, if awarded, would only yy
block the approval of any drug considered the same drug for the same orphan indication.  Moreover, a subsequent same drug
could break a previously approved drug’s orphan exclusivity through a demonstration of clinical superiority over the previously 
approved drug.

The FDA has various programs, including Fast A Track, priority review and accelerated approval, which are intended to TT
expedite or simplify the process for developing and reviewing promising drugs, or to provide for the approval of a drug on the
basis of a surrogate endpoint.  Generally, drugs that are eligible for these programs are those for serious or life-threateningyy
conditions, those with the potential to address unmet medical needs and those that offer meaningful benefits over existing ff
treatments.  For example, Fast Track is a process designed to facilitate the development and expedite the review of drugs to TT
treat serious or life-threatening diseases or conditions and fill unmet medical needs.  Priority review is designed to give drugs
that treat serious conditions and offer major advances in treatment or provide a treatment where no adequate therapy exists an ff
initial review within six months of NDA filing as compared to a standard review time of 10 months from NDAA  filing.  CertainA
other types of drug applications are also eligible for priority review.  Although Fast Track and priority review do not afTT fect the ff
standards for approval, the FDA will attempt to facilitate early and frequent meetings with a sponsor of a Fast A Track-designated TT
drug and expedite review of the application for a drug designated for priority review.  Accelerated approval provides for an 
earlier approval for a new drug that is intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and that fills an unmet 
medical need based on a surrogate endpoint.  As a condition of approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of a product A
candidate receiving accelerated approval perform post-marketing clinical trials to confirm the clinically meaningful outcome as 
predicted by the surrogate marker trial.  In addition to the Fast Track, accelerated approval and priority review programs, theT
FDA also designates BreakthroughA Therapy status to drugs that are intended, alone or in combination with one or more other 
drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition, and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may 
demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial
treatment effects observed early in clinical development.  Drugs designated as breakthrough therapies are also eligible for ff
accelerated approval.  The FDA will seek to ensure the sponsor of a breakthrough therapy product candidate receives intensive A
guidance on an efficient drug development program, intensive involvement of senior managers and experienced stafff f on a ff
proactive, collaborative and cross-disciplinary review and rolling review.

Additional programs intended to expedite the development of drug products were included in the 21st Century Cures 
Act, or the Cures Act. The Cures Act includes various provisions to accelerate the development and delivery of new 
treatments, such as those intended to expand the types of evidence manufacturers may bring to the FDA to support drug A
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approval, to encourage patient-centered drug development, to liberalize the communication of healthcare economic information
to payers, and to create greater transparency with regard to manufacturer expanded access programs.  Central to the Cures Act 
are provisions that enhance and accelerate the FDA’AA s processes for reviewing and approving new drugs and supplements to
approved NDAs, including provisions that:

• require the FDA to establish a program to evaluate the potential use of real world evidence to help support the A
approval of a new indication for an approved drug and to help support or satisfy post-approval study requirements;

• provide that the FDA may rely upon qualified data summaries to support the approval of a supplemental application A
with respect to a qualified indication for an already approved drug;

• require the FDA to issue guidance for purposes of assisting sponsors in incorporating complex adaptive and other A
novel trial designs into proposed clinical protocols and applications for new drugs; and

• require the FDA to establish a process for the qualification of drug development tools for use in supporting or A
obtaining FDA approval for or investigational use of a drug.A

The Cures Act amends Section 114 of the Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997 to help clarify 
and facilitate the dissemination of healthcare economic information, including by broadening the definition of healthcare 
economic information, expressly extending the dissemination of healthcare economic information to payors, and clarifying that 
healthcare economic information must only relate to an FDA-approved indication rather than directly relate to the indication.

Regulation Outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States, we are subject to the regulations of other countries governing clinical 
trials and the manufacturing, commercial sales and distribution of our products outside of the United States.  Whether or not we 
obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of countries outside of A
the United States before we can commence clinical trials in such countries and approval of the regulators of such countries or 
economic areas, such as the European Union, before we may market products in those countries or areas.  The approval process 
and requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from place 
to place, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval.A

Under European Union regulatory systems, a company may submit marketing authorization applications, or MAAs, 
either under a centralized or decentralized procedure. Under the centralized procedure, MAAs are submitted to the European
Medicines Agency, or EMA, whose Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use reviews the application and issues anyy
opinion on it.  The opinion is considered by the European Commission which is responsible for deciding applications.  If the 
application is approved, the European Commission grants a single marketing authorization that is valid for all European Union 
member states as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway, or the EEA.  yy The national authorization procedures, the 
decentralized and mutual recognition procedures, as well as national applications, are available for products for which the 
centralized procedure is not compulsory. The mutual recognition procedure provides for the European Union member states
selected by the applicant to mutually recognize a national marketing authorization that has already been granted by the 
competent authority of another member state, referred to as the Reference Member State, or RMS.  The decentralized 
procedure is used when the product in question has yet to be granted a marketing authorization in any member state.  Under this 
procedure the applicant can select the member state that will act as the RMS.  In both the mutual recognition and decentralized 
procedures, the RMS reviews the application and submits its assessment of the application to the member states where 
marketing authorizations are being sought, referred to as Concerned Member States or CMS.  Within 90 days of receiving the W
application and assessment report, each CMS must decide whether to recognize the RMS assessment.  If a member state does 
not agree with the assessment, and the disputed points cannot be resolved the matter is eventually referred to the European 
Commission, whose decision is binding on all member states.  If the application is successful national marketing authorizations 
will be granted by the competent authorities in each of the member states chosen by the applicant.

Conditional marketing authorizations may be granted for a limited number of medicinal products for human use 
referenced in European Union law applicable to conditional marketing authorizations where the clinical dataset is not 
comprehensive, if the risk-benefit balance of the product is positive, it is likely that the applicant will be in a position to provide
the required comprehensive clinical trial data, unmet medical needs will be fulfilled and the benefit to public health of the 
immediate availability on the market of the medicinal product outweighs the risk inherent in the fact that additional data are 
still required.  Specific obligations, such as the completion of ongoing or new studies and obligations relating to the collection 
of pharmacovigilance data, may be amongst the conditions stipulated in the marketing authorization.
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As in the United States, we may apply for designation of a product as an Orphan drug for the treatment of a specific 
indication in the European Union before the application for marketing authorization is made. In the European Union, orphan
designation is available for products in development which are either intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of life-
threatening or chronically debilitating conditions affecting not more than 5 in 10,000 persons in the European Union, or ff
intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition
in the community and when, without incentives, it is unlikely that sales of the drug in the European Union would be sufficient ff
to justify the necessary investment in developing the medicinal product. Additionally, the sponsor of an application for orphan yy
drug designation must establish that there exists no satisfactory authorized method of diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of the 
condition or even if such treatment exists, the product will be of significant benefit to those affected by that condition.ff

Orphan drugs in the European Union enjoy economic and marketing benefits, including up to ten years of market 
exclusivity for the approved indication unless another applicant can show that its product is safer, more effective or otherwise ff
clinically superior to the orphan-designated product.  The period of market exclusivity may be reduced to six years if at the end 
of the fifth year it is established that the criteria for orphan designation are no longer met, including where it is shown that the 
product is sufficiently profitable not to justify maintenance of market exclusivityff .

Healthcare Regulation

Federal and state healthcare laws, including fraud and abuse and health information privacy and security laws, also 
apply to our business.  If we fail to comply with those laws, we could face substantial penalties and our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected.  ff The laws that may affect our ability to operate ff
include, but are not limited to: the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits. among other things, soliciting, receiving, 
offering or paying remuneration, directly or indirectlyff , to induce, or in return foryy , the purchase or recommendation of an item or 
service reimbursable under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs; and federal civil and 
criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from 
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payers that 
are false or fraudulent.  Additionally, we are subject to state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, which may be yy
broader in scope and apply regardless of whether the payer is a federal healthcare program, and many of which differ from each ff
other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, further complicate compliance efff forts.ff

Numerous federal and state laws, including state security breach notification laws, state health information privacy 
laws and federal and state consumer protection laws, govern the collection, use and disclosure of personal information.  Other 
countries also have, or are developing, laws governing the collection, use and transmission of personal information.  In 
addition, most healthcare providers who are expected to prescribe our products and from whom we obtain patient health 
information, are subject to privacy and security requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 
1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical HealthTT Act, or HIPAA.  PP Although we are not directly 
subject to HIPAA, we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain individually identifiable health information PP
from a HIPAA-covered entityPP , including healthcare providers, in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPyy AA.  PP The 
legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing 
amount of focus on privacy and data protection issues with the potential to affect our business, including recently enacted lawsff
in a majority of states requiring security breach notification.  These laws could create liability for us or increase our cost of 
doing business. International laws, such as the EU Data Privacy Directive and Swiss Federal Act on Data Protection, regulate 
the processing of personal data within the European Union and between countries in the European Union and countries outside 
of the European Union, including the United States.  Failure to provide adequate privacy protections and maintain compliance 
with safe harbor mechanisms could jeopardize business transactions across borders and result in significant penalties.

In addition, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care ff Act, as amended by the Health Care Education Reconciliation
Act, or the PPACA, created a federal requirement under the federal Open Payments program, that requires certainPP
manufacturers to track and report to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, annually certain payments and 
other transfers of value provided to physicians and teaching hospitals made in the previous calendar year.  In addition, there are 
also an increasing number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing 
information. These laws may affect our sales, marketing, and other promotional activities by imposing administrative and ff
compliance burdens on us.  In addition, given the lack of clarity with respect to these laws and their implementation, our 
reporting actions could be subject to the penalty provisions of the pertinent state and federal authorities.

For those marketed products which are covered in the United States by the Medicaid program, we have various 
obligations, including government price reporting and rebate requirements, which generally require products be offered at ff
substantial rebates/discounts to Medicaid and certain purchasers. We are also required to discount such products to authorized WW
users of the Federal Supply Schedule of the General Services Administration, under which additional laws and requirements 
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apply.  These programs require submission of pricing data and calculation of discounts and rebates pursuant to complex 
statutory formulas, as well as the entry into government procurement contracts governed by the Federal Acquisition
Regulations, and the guidance governing such calculations is not always clear.  Compliance with such requirements can require 
significant investment in personnel, systems and resources, but failure to properly calculate our prices, or offer required ff
discounts or rebates could subject us to substantial penalties.

Other Regulations

In addition to the foregoing, our business is subject to regulation under various state and federal environmental laws, 
including the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and the Toxic SubstancesTT
Control Act. These and other laws govern our use, handling and disposal of various biological, chemical and radioactive 
substances used in and wastes generated by our operations. We believe that we are in material compliance with applicable WW
environmental laws and that our continued compliance with these laws will not have a material adverse effect on our ff
business.  We cannot predict, howeverWW , whether new regulatory restrictions will be imposed by state or federal regulators and 
agencies or whether existing laws and regulations will adversely affect us in the future.ff

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We are able to protect our proprietary rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that those rightsWW
are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. ff Accordingly, patents and other yy
proprietary rights are an essential element of our business.  We own or exclusively license patents and/or patent applicationsWW
throughout the world that claim our products and drug candidates, including:

• issued patents and pending patent applications in Europe, the United States, and other countries throughout the world, 
including Australia, Argentina, Brazil, Canada, China, Europe, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, South 
Africa, and South Korea, that claim telotristat ethyl and associated crystalline forms, pharmaceutical compositions 
comprising telotristat ethyl, and methods of its manufacture and use;

• issued patents and pending patent applications in Europe, the United States, and other countries throughout the world, 
including Australia, Argentina, Brazil, Canada, China, Europe, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, South 
Africa, and South Korea, that claim sotagliflozin and associated crystalline forms, pharmaceutical compositions 
comprising sotagliflozin, and methods of its manufacture and use;

• pending patent applications in Europe, the United States, and other countries throughout the world, including 
Australia, Argentina, Brazil, Canada, China, Europe, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, South Africa, and 
South Korea, that disclose and/or claim LX9211, pharmaceutical compositions comprising LX9211, and methods of 
its use; and

• pending patent applications in Europe, the United States, and other countries throughout the world, including 
Australia, Argentina, Brazil, Canada, China, Europe, India, Israel, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, South Africa, and 
South Korea, that disclose and/or claim LX2761, pharmaceutical compositions comprising LX2761, and methods of 
its use.

Additionally, we hold rights to a number of patents and patent applications under license agreements with third yy
parties.  Many of these licenses are nonexclusive, although some are exclusive in specified fields.  Most of the licenses have
terms that extend for the life of the licensed patents.

Patents extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in the
various countries where patent protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country ff
to country, depends on the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal remedies in the countryyy .  We WW
have filed patent applications and hold issued patents covering our approved drug, XERMELO, and each of our drug 
candidates.  None of our United States patents that claim XERMELO or one of our drug candidates has a normal expiration 
date earlier than 2026.

All of our employees, consultants and advisors are required to execute a proprietary information agreement upon the 
commencement of employment or consultation. In general, the agreement provides that all inventions conceived by the 
employee or consultant, and all confidential information developed or made known to the individual during the term of the
agreement, shall be our exclusive property and shall be kept confidential, with disclosure to third parties allowed only in 
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specified circumstances. We cannot assure you, howeverWW , that these agreements will provide useful protection of our 
proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information.

Our patent and intellectual property rights are subject to certain rights and uncertainties.  See “Risks Related to Our 
Intellectual Property” under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Executive Officers

Our executive officers ff and their ages and positions are listed below.

Name Ageg Position with the Companyp y
Lonnel Coats 54 President and Chief Executive Officer and Directorff
Pablo Lapuerta, M.D. 55 Executive Vice President and Chief Medical Officerff
Alan J. Main, Ph.D. 65 Executive Vice President, Commercial Supply Operations
Alexander A. Santini 60 Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial Officerff
Praveen Tyle, Ph.D.TT 58 Executive Vice President, Research and DevelopmentVV

Jeffrey L. ff WadeWW 54 Executive Vice President, Corporate and Administrative Affairs and Chiefff
Financial Officerff

James F. Tessmer 59 Vice President, Finance and VV Accounting

Lonnel Coats has been our president and chief executive officer ff and a director since July 2014. Mr. Coats previously
served in a series of executive leadership positions at Eisai Inc. and Eisai Corporation of North America, where he worked for 18 
years before joining our company, yy most recently as chief executive officer ff from 2010 to 2014. Prior to joining Eisai, Mr. Coats
spent eight years with Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a division of Johnson & Johnson, where he held a variety of management 
and sales positions. Mr. Coats serves as a director of Blueprint Medicines Corporation and holds a B.S. from Oakland University.

Pablo Lapuerta, M.D. has been our executive vice president and chief medical officer since February 2015 and ff
previously served in a series of medical and clinical leadership positions since joining our company in 2011.  Dr. Lapuerta was
formerly vice president at Bristol-Myers Squibb Company with responsibility for global development of an Alzheimer’s
disease drug candidate, and prior to that served as senior vice president, clinical strategy and chief medical officer of Cogentus ff
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in a variety of clinical development leadership roles at Bristol-Myers Squibb, where he worked for 
11 years before joining Cogentus. He holds a B.A. in biology from Harvard College and an M.D. from Harvard Medical 
School.

Alan J. Main, Ph.D. has been our executive vice president, commercial supply operations since May 2017 and 
previously served in a series of manufacturing and scientific leadership positions since joining our company in 2001.  Dr. Main
was president and chief executive officer of Coelacanth Corporation, a leader in using proprietary chemistry technologies to ff
rapidly discover new chemical entities for drug development, until our acquisition of Coelacanth in 2001.  Dr. Main was
formerly senior vice president, U.S. Research at Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, where he worked for 20 years before
joining Coelacanth.  Dr. Main holds a B.S. from the University of Aberdeen, Scotland and a Ph.D. in organic chemistry from 
the University of Liverpool, England and completed postdoctoral studies at the Woodward Research Institute.WW

Alexander A. Santini has been our executive vice president and chief commercial officer since November 2016 and ff
previously served in a series of commercial leadership positions since joining our company in April 2015.  Mr. Santini was
formerly vice president of market access and an executive member at Bayer Healthcare Pharmaceuticals, where he had 
executive responsibility for market access, pricing, trade and channel management and payer account management, and prior to 
that served in a variety of commercial leadership roles of increasing responsibility during eight years of service at Bayer and 22
years of service at Berlex Laboratories.  Mr. Santini served as a non-commissioned officer in the United States ff Air Force, 
where he completed the Radiologic Technology Program at the United States TT Air Force School of Health Care Science and an 
AAS in business marketing from Westchester Community College.WW

Praveen Tyle, Ph.D.TT  has been our executive vice president of research and development since May 2016.  Dr. Tyle wasTT
previously a member of the executive management team at Osmotica Pharmaceutical Corp., serving as president and chief 
executive officer from January 2013 through ff April 2016 and prior to that as executive vice president and chief scientific officerff .  
Prior to his service at Osmotica, Dr. Tyle held a series of scientific leadership positions within the pharmaceutical industryTT , yy
including executive vice president and chief science officer for the United States Pharmacopeia, senior vice president and ff
global head of research and development and business development and licensing at Novartis OTC, corporate senior vice
president of global research and development and chief scientific officer at Bausch & Lomb Incorporated and vice president ff
and global head of pharmaceutical sciences at Pharmacia Corporation.  Dr. Tyle serves as director of Eyegate Pharmaceuticals, TT
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Inc. and Orient Europharma Ltd.  Dr. Tyle received his B.Pharm. from the Indian Institute of TT TechnologyTT , Banaras Hindu yy
University and his Ph.D. in pharmaceutics and pharmaceutical chemistry from the Ohio State University.

Jeffrey L. Wrr adeWW  has been our executive vice president, corporate and administrative affairs and chief financial offf ficer ff
since February 2015 and previously served in a series of finance and legal leadership positions since joining our company in 
1999.  Mr. Wade was previously a corporate securities and finance attorney for ten years with the law firm of WW Andrews & 
Kurth L.L.P., where he represented companies in the biotechnologyPP , information technology and eneryy gy industries.  Mr. Wade isWW
a member of the board of directors of the Texas Healthcare and Bioscience Institute.  He received his B.A. and J.D. from theTT
University of Texas.TT

James F  TFF essmerTT  has been our vice president, finance and accounting since November 2007 and previously served in r
a series of finance and accounting leadership positions since joining our company in 2001.  Mr. Tessmer was previouslyTT
assistant controller for Mariner Health Network, Inc. and prior to that served in a variety of financial and accounting
management positions for HWC Distribution Corp. and American General Corporation.  Mr. Tessmer is a certified publicTT
accountant and received his B.B.A. from the University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee and his M.B.A. from the University of W
Houston.

Employees

As of February 28, 2019, we employed 202 persons, of whom 34 hold M.D. or Ph.D. degrees and another 63 hold 
other advanced degrees.  All of our employees are located in the United States.  None of our employees are represented by a 
labor union and we believe that our relationship with our employees is good.

Research and Development Expenses

In 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, we incurred expenses of yy $100.2 million, $152.2 million and $164.0 million in 
company-sponsored as well as collaborative research and development activities, including $6.0 million, $4.9 million and 
$3.9 million of stock-based compensation expense in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors

The following risks and uncertainties are important factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially ff
from those indicated by forward-looking statements.  The factors described below are not the only ones we face and additional 
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business 
operations.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We depend heavily on the commerWW cial success of XERMELO.  If we do not achieve commerrr cial success with XERMELO, our rr
business will suffer and our stock price will likely decline.

We expect that a significant portion of our total revenues for the next several years will be attributable to sales of WW
XERMELO in the United States, but we cannot be certain that XERMELO will be commercially successful.  Our future sales 
of XERMELO will depend on numerous factors, including:

• the number of patients with carcinoid syndrome diarrhea who are inadequately controlled by SSA therapyA , as well asyy
the number of newly diagnosed carcinoid syndrome diarrhea patients;

• competition from SSA therapies, radiopharmaceutical products and any additional products for the treatment of A
carcinoid syndrome diarrhea that may be approved by the FDA in the future;A

• the safety profile of XERMELO, including whether previously unknown side effects or increased incidence or severity ff
of known side effects as compared to those seen during development are identified with the increased use of ff
XERMELO after approval;

• the effectiveness of our commercial strategy for marketing XERMELO and our execution of that strategyff , including yy
our pricing strategy and the effectiveness of our efff forts to obtain adequate third-party reimbursement;ff

• the acceptance of XERMELO by patients, the medical community and third-party payers; and

• our ability to meet the demand for commercial supplies of XERMELO and to maintain and successfully monitor 
commercial manufacturing arrangements for XERMELO with third-party manufacturers to ensure they meet our 
standards and those of the FDA, which extensively regulates and monitors pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities.

While we believe that XERMELO has a competitive commercial profile, our current estimates of the revenues that 
XERMELO could generate in future periods may change based upon the above factors, and could prove to be incorrect.  If our 
revenues, market share or other indicators of market acceptance of XERMELO fail to meet the expectations of investors or 
public market analysts, the market price of our common stock could decline.  In addition, if one or more of the factors above
negatively affects XERMELO sales, our business and financial condition could be materially harmed and we may be more ff
heavily dependent on the success of our other drug programs.

We depend heavily on our and Sanofi’WW s ability to obtain r’ egulatory apprrr oval in the United States and the Eurrr opean Union for rr
sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes.  If we and Sanofi fail to obtain such regulatory apprrr ovals or fail to successfully commerrr cializerr
sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes upon such regulatory apprrr ovals, our business will suffer and our stock price will likely decline. rr

Sanofi has submitted applications for regulatory approval to market sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United 
States and the European Union, as well as additional countries.  On January 17, 2019, the Endocrinologic and Metabolic Drugs
Advisory Committee of the FDA voted eight to eight on the question of whether the overall benefits of sotagliflozin A
outweighed the risks to support approval.  While the FDA is not required to follow the committee’A s vote, the FDA considers theA
committee’s recommendations when making its decision on the United States application, which is anticipated by March 22,
2019 under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act.

On February 28, 2019, the EMA Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use adopted a positive opinion A
recommending regulatory approval of sotagliflozin for use as an adjunct to insulin therapy to improve glycemic control in
adults with type 1 diabetes with a body mass index of 27 kg/m2 or greater, who have failed to achieve adequate glycemic 
control despite optimal insulin therapy. The European Commission is anticipated to make a final decision on the European 
Union application in the second quarter of 2019.
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We cannot ofWW fer any assurances or predict with any certainty that the FDAff and/or EMAA  will grant marketing approval A
for sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes, in either case on the expected timelines.  Furthermore, regulatory approvals for sotagliflozin 
in type 1 diabetes, even if obtained, may limit the type of patients in which sotagliflozin may be used, such as on the basis of 
body mass index as recommended by the EMA Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or otherwise require A
specific warning or labeling language, each of which may reduce the commercial potential of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes.  
Even if approved, we and Sanofi might not be successful in commercializing sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes.  Should we and 
Sanofi fail to obtain regulatory approval in the United States and/or the European Union for sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes or 
fail to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin upon such regulatory approvals, our business and financial condition could be 
materially harmed and we may be more heavily dependent on the success of our other drug programs.

We depend heavily on Sanofi’WW s ability to successfully complete Phase 3 clinical development and obtain r’ egulatory apprrr ovals rr
for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes.  If Sanofi fails to successfully complete such Phase 3 clinical development and obtain such
regulatory apprrr ovals, or fails to successfully commerrr cialize sotagliflozin for type 2 diabetes upon such rrr egulatory apprrr ovals,rr
our business will suffer and our stock price will likely decline. 

Sanofi is presently conducting a comprehensive Phase 3 development program for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes 
patients.  We cannot ofWW fer any assurances or predict with any certainty that such Phase 3 clinical development will be ff
successfully completed, that positive clinical data will be obtained from such Phase 3 clinical development efforts or that ff
regulatory authorities will grant marketing approval for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes, in any such case on the expected 
timelines.  Furthermore, regulatory approvals for sotagliflozin, even if obtained, may limit the type of patients in which
sotagliflozin may be used for type 2 diabetes or otherwise require specific warning or labeling language, each of which may 
reduce the commercial potential of sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes.  Even if approved, Sanofi might not be successful in 
commercializing sotagliflozin for type 2 diabetes.  Should Sanofi fail to obtain regulatory approvals for sotagliflozin in type 2 
diabetes or fail to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin upon such regulatory approvals, our business and financial
condition could be materially harmed and we may be more heavily dependent on the success of our other drug programs.

Clinical testing of our drug candidates in humans is an inherently risky and time-consuming prrr ocess that may fail torr
demonstrate safety and efficacy, which could ryy esult in the delayrr , limitation or pryy evention of rrr egulatory apprrr oval.rr

In order to obtain regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any products that we or our collaborators may
develop in addition to XERMELO, we or our collaborators are required to complete extensive clinical trials in humans to 
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our drug candidates.  ff We or our collaborators may not be able to obtain authority from WW
the FDA, or other equivalent foreign regulatory agencies to initiate or complete any clinical trials.  In addition, we have limited 
internal resources for making regulatory filings and interacting with regulatory authorities.

Clinical trials are inherently risky and the results from nonclinical testing of a drug candidate that is under 
development may not be predictive of results that will be obtained in human clinical trials.  In addition, the results of early 
human clinical trials may not be predictive of results that will be obtained in larger-scale, advanced stage clinical trials. A
number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after ff
achieving positive results in earlier trials.  Although Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes 
patients were positive, we cannot assure you that the Phase 3 clinical development program for sotagliflozin being conducted 
by Sanofi in type 2 diabetes patients will yield positive results.  Negative or inconclusive results from a nonclinical study or a
clinical trial could cause us, our collaborators or the FDA or other equivalent foreign regulatory agencies to terminate a A
nonclinical study or clinical trial or require that we or our collaborators repeat or modify it.  Furthermore, we, one of our 
collaborators or a regulatory agency with jurisdiction over the trials may suspend clinical trials at any time if the subjects or 
patients participating in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks or for other reasons.

Any nonclinical or clinical test may fail to produce results satisfactory to the FDA or foreign regulatory A
authorities.  Nonclinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways, which could delayff , limit or prevent regulatory yy
approval. The FDA or institutional review boards at the medical institutions and healthcare facilities where we or our A
collaborators sponsor clinical trials may suspend any trial indefinitely if they find deficiencies in the conduct of these 
trials.  Clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’AA s current Good Clinical Practices. The FDA and theseA
institutional review boards have authority to oversee our and our collaborators’ clinical trials, and the FDA may require larA ge
numbers of subjects or patients.  In addition, we or our collaborators must manufacture, or contract for the manufacture of, the
drug candidates that we use in our clinical trials under the FDA’AA s current Good Manufacturing Practices.

The rate of completion of clinical trials is dependent, in part, upon the rate of enrollment of patients.  Patient accrual is 
a function of many factors, including the size of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility
criteria for the study, the nature of the studyyy , the existence of competitive clinical trials and the availability of alternative yy
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treatments.  Delays in planned patient enrollment may result in increased costs and prolonged clinical development, which in 
turn could allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to commercialize our products
or potential products.

We or our collaborators may not be able to successfully complete any clinical trial of a drug candidate within any WW
specified time period.  In some cases, we or our collaborators may not be able to complete the trial at all. Moreover, clinical
trials may not show our drug candidates to be both safe and effective.  ff Thus, the FDA and other regulatory authorities may not A
approve any additional drug candidates that we develop for any indication or may limit the approved indications or impose 
other conditions.

Our drug candidates are subject to a lengthy and uncertain rrr egulatory prrr ocess that may not rrr esult in the necessary rrr egulatoryrr
approvals, which could adversely affect our and our collaborators’rr  ability to commer’ cialize prrr oducts.rr

Our drug candidates, as well as the activities associated with their research, development and commercialization, are 
subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in A
other countries.  Failure to obtain regulatory approval for any drug candidate would prevent us from commercializing that drug
candidate.  Other than XERMELO, we and our collaborators have not received regulatory approval to market any of our drug
candidates in any jurisdiction. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive, and often takes many years, if 
approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the drug candidates 
involved.  Before a new drug application can be filed with the FDA, the drug candidate must undergo extensive clinical trials,
which can take many years and may require substantial expenditures. Any clinical trial may fail to produce results satisfactory 
to the FDA.  For example, the FDA could determine that the design of a clinical trial is inadequate to produce reliable A
results.  Furthermore, prior to approving a new drug, the FDA typically requires that the efA ficacy of the drug be demonstrated in ff
two double-blind, controlled studies.  The regulatory process also requires nonclinical testing, and data obtained from 
nonclinical and clinical activities are susceptible to varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory yy
approval.  In addition, delays or rejections may be encountered based upon changes in regulatory policy for product approval
during the period of product development and regulatory agency review.  Changes in regulatory approval policy, regulations or yy
statutes or the process for regulatory review during the development or approval periods of our drug candidates may cause 
delays in the approval or rejection of an application.  Even if the FDA or a comparable authority in another country approves a A
drug candidate, the approval may impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses, conditions for use, labeling, advertising,
promotion, marketing and/or production of such product and may impose ongoing requirements for post-approval studies, 
including additional research and development and clinical trials.  These agencies also may impose various civil or criminal
sanctions for failure to comply with regulatory requirements, including withdrawal of product approval.

The commercial success of XERMELO and any other prrr oducts that we or our collaborators may develop will depend upon the rr
degree of market acceptance among physicians, patients, health carrr e payers and the medical communityrr .yy

Our ability to commercialize XERMELO and our or our collaborators’ ability to commercialize any other products 
that we or they may develop will be highly dependent upon the extent to which XERMELO and such other products gain 
market acceptance among physicians, patients, health care payers, such as commercial health insurers, Medicare and Medicaid,
and the medical community.  If XERMELO and such other products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may 
not generate adequate product revenues and we may not become profitable.  The degree of market acceptance of XERMELO 
and such other products will depend upon a number of factors, including:

• the effectiveness, or perceived efff fectiveness, of our products in comparison to competing products;ff

• the existence of any significant side effects, as well as their severity in comparison to any competing products;ff

• potential advantages or disadvantages in relation to alternative treatments;

• current and future indications for which our products may be approved;

• the ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices;ff

• relative convenience and ease of administration;

• the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

• sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.ff
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If we are unable to maintain an effective sales forrr ce, marketing infrastructurrr e and distribution capabilities, we will not be ablerr
to successfully commercialize XERMELO or any other prrr oducts that we or our collaborators may develop.rr

In order to successfully commercialize XERMELO, we have built a marketing organization and a specialized sales
force for XERMELO and established distribution capabilities in the United States.  However, we had no prior experience in 
building and maintaining such a commercialization infrastructure.  Factors that may hinder our efforts to efff fectively manage ff
and maintain such infrastructure for XERMELO or establish, manage and maintain such infrastructure for other products that 
we or our collaborators may develop include:

• inability to recruit, retain and effectively manage adequate numbers of efff fective sales and marketing personnel;ff

• inability to maintain relationships with third-party logistics providers, specialty pharmacies, third-party manufacturers 
and other third parties instrumental in the commercial manufacture and distribution of XERMELO and any other 
products;

• inability to establish or implement internal controls and procedures required in connection with sales of 
pharmaceutical products;

• inability of sales personnel to obtain access to or convince adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe XERMELO or 
any other products; and

• lack of complementary products to be offered by our sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantageff
relative to companies with more extensive product lines.

If we are unable to sustain our sales force, marketing infrastructure and distribution capability for XERMELO or any
other products, we may not be able to generate any product revenue, may generate increased expenses and may never become 
profitable.

We will need to continue to expend significant time and resources to train our sales force to be credible, persuasive WW
and compliant in discussing XERMELO and any other products with the specialists treating the patients indicated under the
label.  We will also need to continue to train our sales force to ensure that a consistent and appropriate message about WW
XERMELO and any other products is being delivered to our potential customers.  If we are unable to effectively train our sales ff
force and equip them with effective materials, including medical and sales literature to help them inform and educate potential ff
customers about the benefits and risks of XERMELO and any other products and their proper administration, our ability to 
successfully commercialize XERMELO and any other products could be diminished, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial condition, stock price and operations.ff

If we are unable to maintain adequate coverage and rrr eimbursement frrr om thirrr d-party payers for XERMELO and any other rr
products that we or our collaborators may develop, our rrr evenues and prrr ospects for prrr ofitability will sufferrr .rr

Our ability to successfully commercialize XERMELO and any other products that we or our collaborators may 
develop is highly dependent on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for such products are available from third-
party payers, including governmental payers, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private health insurers, including managed 
care organizations and group purchasing organizations.  Many patients are not capable of paying themselves for XERMELO 
and some or all of the other products that we or our collaborators may develop, and rely on third-party payers to pay for, or 
subsidize, their medical needs.  If third-party payers do not provide coverage or reimbursement for XERMELO or any other 
products, our revenues and prospects for profitability will sufferff .  In addition, even if third-party payers provide some coverage 
or reimbursement for such products, the availability of such coverage or reimbursement for prescription drugs under private
health insurance and managed care plans often varies based on the type of contract or plan purchased.

In addition, in some foreign countries, particularly the countries in the European Union, the pricing of prescription
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control.  In these countries, price negotiations with governmental authorities can 
take six to 12 months or longer after the receipt of regulatory marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement and/TT
or pricing approval in some countries, we or our collaborators may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost 
effectiveness of our drug candidates or products to other available therapies.  ff The conduct of such a clinical trial could be 
expensive and result in delays in the commercialization of our drug candidates.  Third-party payers are challenging the prices 
charged for medical products and services, and many third-party payers limit reimbursement for newly approved health care
products.  In particular, third-party payers may limit the indications for which they will reimburse patients who use any 
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products that we or our collaborators may develop.  Cost-control initiatives could decrease prices we or our collaborators might 
establish for products that may be developed, which would result in lower product revenues to us.

We may not be able to manufacturWW e XERMELO and any other prrr oducts that we or our collaborators may develop inrr
commercial quantities, which would impair our ability to commerrr cialize such prrr oducts.rr

Other than XERMELO, our drug candidates have been manufactured in relatively small quantities for nonclinical and 
clinical trials.  If any of these drug candidates are approved by the FDA or other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we or A
our collaborators will need to manufacture them in larger quantities.  We may not be able to successfully increase theWW
manufacturing capacity, whether in collaboration with third-party manufacturers or on our own, for any of such drug candidatesyy
in a timely or economic manner, or at all.  Significant scale-up of manufacturing may require additional validation studies, 
which the FDA must review and approve.  If we or our collaborators are unable to successfully increase the manufacturing A
capacity for a drug candidate, the regulatory approval or commercial launch of that drug candidate may be delayed or there
may be a shortage in supply.  Our drug candidates require precise, high-quality manufacturing.  The failure to achieve and 
maintain these high manufacturing standards, including the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or 
death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems that yy
could seriously hurt our business.

We and our collaborators arWW e subject to extensive and rigorrr ous ongoing rrr egulation rrr elating to XERMELO and any other rr
products that we or our collaborators may develop.rr

We are subject to extensive and rigorous ongoing domestic and foreign government regulation of, among other things, WW
the research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution and marketing of XERMELO 
and any other products which receive regulatory approvals from the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities.  A The failure to 
comply with these requirements or the identification of safety problems during commercial marketing could lead to the need 
for product marketing restrictions, product withdrawal or recall or other voluntary or regulatory action, which could delay 
further marketing until the product is brought into compliance.  The failure to comply with these requirements may also subject 
us or our collaborators to stringent penalties.

We arWW e subject to certain healthcarrr e laws, rrr egulation and enforrr cement; our failurrr e to comply with those laws could have arr
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.rr

We are subject to certain healthcare laws and regulations and enforcement by the federal government and the states in WW
which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include, without limitation:ff

• the federal Anti-Kickback Law, which constrains our business activities, which includes our marketing practices,ww
educational programs, pricing policies, and relationships with healthcare providers or other entities, by prohibiting, 
among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying ff
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual foryy , or the
purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under federal healthcare
programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;

• federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, 
individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, 
Medicaid, or other third-party payers that are false or fraudulent;

• federal criminal laws that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false
statements relating to healthcare matters;

• state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply
to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payer, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the 
privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in ff
significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efff forts;ff

• the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, a United States law which regulates certain financial relationships with foreign 
government officials (which could include, for example, certain medical professionals);ff

• federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and 
activities that potentially harm consumers;
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• state and federal government price reporting laws that require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics to
government programs, where such reported price may be used in the calculation of reimbursement and/or discounts on 
our marketed drugs (participation in these programs and compliance with the applicable requirements may subject us 
to potentially significant discounts on our products, increased infrastructure costs, and potentially limit our ability to 
offer certain marketplace discounts); andff

• state and federal marketing expenditure tracking and reporting laws, which generally require certain types of 
expenditures in the United States to be tracked and reported.  Compliance with such requirements may require 
investment in infrastructure to ensure that tracking is performed properly, and some of these laws result in the publicyy
disclosure of various types of payments and relationships, which could potentially have a negative effect on our ff
business and/or increase enforcement scrutiny of our activities.

In addition, certain marketing practices, including off-label promotion, may also violate certain federal and state health ff
regulatory fraud and abuse laws as well as false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act.  Suits filed under the civil 
False Claims Act, known as “qui tam” actions, can be brought by any individual on behalf of the government and such 
individuals, commonly known as “whistleblowers,” may share in any amounts paid by the entity to the government in fines or 
settlement.  The filing of qui tam actions has caused a number of pharmaceutical, medical device and other healthcare 
companies to defend a civil False Claims Act action. When an entity is determined to have violated the civil False Claims Act,
it may be required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus civil penalties for each 
separate false claim.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations
that apply to us, we, or our officers or employees, may be subject to penalties, including administrative civil and criminal ff
penalties, damages, fines, withdrawal of regulatory approval, the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, the exclusion 
from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state healthcare programs, individual imprisonment, contractual
damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we 
become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these 
laws, any of which could adversely affect our ability to sell our products or operate our business and also adversely afff fect our ff
financial results.  Defending against any such actions can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant financial and yy
personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, 
our business may be impaired.

Numerous federal and state laws, including state security breach notification laws, state health information privacy 
laws and federal and state consumer protection laws, govern the collection, use and disclosure of personal information. Other 
countries also have, or are developing, laws governing the collection, use and transmission of personal information. In addition, 
most healthcare providers who may be expected to prescribe our products and from whom we may obtain patient health 
information are subject to privacy and security requirements under the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 
Act of 1996, or HIPAA. PP Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA, we could be subject to criminal penalties if wePP
knowingly obtain individually identifiable health information from a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized PP
or permitted by HIPAA.  PP The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there 
has been an increasing amount of focus on privacy and data protection issues with the potential to affect our business, includingff
recently enacted laws in a majority of states requiring security breach notification.  These laws could create liability for us or 
increase our cost of doing business.  International laws, such as the EU Data Privacy Directive and Swiss Federal Act on Data 
Protection, regulate the processing of personal data within Europe and between European countries and the United States.  
Failure to provide adequate privacy protections and maintain compliance with safe harbor mechanisms could jeopardize 
business transactions across borders and result in significant penalties.

Current healthcarrr e laws and rrr egulations and futurrr e legislative or rrr egulatory rrr eforms to the healthcarrr e system may negativelyrr
affect our revenues and prrr ospects for prrr ofitabilityrr .yy

A primary trend in the United States and some foreign countries is toward reform and cost containment in the health A
care industry.  The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of legislative and 
regulatory proposals that may have the effect of reducing the prices that we are able to charff ge for XERMELO and other 
products we or our collaborators may develop.  Healthcare reform measures which may be adopted in the future in the United 
States and foreign jurisdictions may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and significant downward pressure on the prices 
drug manufacturers may charge.  As a result, our revenues and prospects for profitability could be significantly harmed.
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As a result of the overall trend towards cost-effectiveness criteria and managed healthcare in the United States, third-ff
party payers are increasingly attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement 
of new drugs. They may use tiered reimbursement and may adversely affect demand for XERMELO and other products we or ff
our collaborators may develop by placing them in an expensive tier. They may also refuse to provide any coverage of uses of 
approved products for medical indications other than those for which the FDA has granted market approvals.  A As a result,
significant uncertainty exists as to whether and how much third-party payers will reimburse for newly approved drugs, which in 
turn will put pressure on the pricing of drugs.  Further, we do not have experience in ensuring approval by applicable third-
party payers outside of the United States for coverage and reimbursement of pharmaceutical products.  We also anticipateWW
pricing pressures in connection with the sale of XERMELO and other products we or our collaborators may develop due to the 
increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative proposals.

Pricing for pharmaceutical products has come under incrrr easing scrutiny by governments, legislative bodies and enforrr cement rr
agencies. These activities may result in actions that have the effect of rrr educing our rrr evenue or harming our business or rr
reputation.rr

Many companies in our industry have received a governmental request for documents and information relating to drug 
pricing and patient support programs.  We may become subject to similar requests, which would require us to incur significant WW
expense and result in distraction for our management team.  Additionally, to the extent there are findings, or even allegations, of yy
improper conduct on the part of our company, such findings could further harm our business, reputation and/or prospects.  It is yy
possible that such inquiries could result in negative publicity or other negative actions that could harm our reputation, changes
in our product pricing and distribution strategies, reduced demand for our approved products and/or reduced reimbursement of 
approved products, including by federal health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid and state health care programs.

Our competitors may develop products that impair the value of XERMELO or any other prrr oducts that we or our collaborators rr
may develop.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are highly diversified and are characterized by rapid technological
change. We and our collaborators face, and will continue to face, intense competition from biotechnology and pharmaceutical WW
companies, as well as academic research institutions, clinical reference laboratories and government agencies that are pursuing 
research and development activities similar to ours.  In addition, significant delays in the development of our drug candidates 
could allow our competitors to bring products to market before us, which would impair our or our collaborators’ ability to 
commercialize our drug candidates.  XERMELO and any other products that we or our collaborators develop will compete in
highly competitive markets.  Further, our competitors may be more effective at using their technologies to develop commercial ff
products.  Many of the organizations competing with us have greater capital resources, larger research and development staff ff
and facilities, more experience in obtaining regulatory approvals and more extensive product manufacturing and marketing
capabilities. As a result, our competitors may be able to more easily develop products that would render XERMELO and any 
other products that we or our collaborators develop obsolete and noncompetitive.  For example, dapagliflozin, empagliflozin 
and canagliflozin are currently being marketed by AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim and Eli Lilly, and Janssen (a subsidiaryyy
of Johnson & Johnson), respectively, for the treatment of type 2 diabetes.  In addition, the EMAyy Committee for Medicinal A
Products for Human Use has adopted a positive opinion recommending regulatory approval for AstraZeneca to market 
dapagliflozin for the treatment of insufficiently controlled type 1 diabetes as an adjunct to insulin in adult patients with a bodyff
mass index of 27 kg/m2 or greater, when insulin alone does not provide adequate glycemic control despite optimal insulin
therapy.  Each of those products act through SGLT2, one of the tarLL gets of sotagliflozin.  In addition, there may be drug 
candidates of which we are not aware at an earlier stage of development that may compete with our drug candidates.

Risks Related to Our Capital Requirements and Financial Results

We will need additional capital in the futurWW e and, if it is unavailable, we will be forrr ced to delayrr , ryy educe or eliminate our rr
commercialization efforts or prrr oduct development prrr ograms.  If additional capital is not available on rrr easonable terms, we will rr
be forced to obtain funds, if at all, by entering into financing agrrr eements on unattractive terms.rr

As of December 31, 2018, we had $160.1 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments. We anticipate that our WW
existing capital resources and the cash and revenues we expect to derive from product revenues, collaborations and other 
sources will enable us to fund our currently planned operations for at least the next 12 months.  However, we caution you that 
we may generate less cash and revenues or incur expenses more rapidly than we currently anticipate.  Our currently planned 
operations for the next twelve months include the continued commercialization of XERMELO in the United States; the 
continued support of the regulatory review process for sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes; preparations for the commercial launch 
of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United States, if approved; and the continued nonclinical and clinical development of 
telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug candidates.
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Although difficult to accurately predict, the amount of our future capital requirements will be substantial and will ff
depend on many factors, including:

• the success of our sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization activities for XERMELO in the United 
States and the revenues we generate from that approved product;

• the success of Ipsen’s sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization activities for XERMELO outside of 
the United States and Japan;

• our and Sanofi’s ability to obtain regulatory approvals for the marketing and sale of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes;

• if approved, our and Sanofi’s ability to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes;

• the progress and scope of Sanofi’s development activities with respect to sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes patients;

• if approved, Sanofi’s ability to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin for type 2 diabetes;

• the timing, progress and results of our clinical trials of telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other 
drug candidates;

• the amount and timing of payments, if any, under our existing collaboration agreements with Sanofi, Ipsen and other yy
entities and any future collaboration agreements;

• the amount and timing of our research, development and commercialization expenditures;

• future results from clinical trials of our other drug candidates;

• the cost and timing of regulatory approvals and commercialization of additional drug candidates that we successfully 
develop;

• the market acceptance and commercial success of additional products that we successfully develop and commercially
launch;

• the effect of competing programs and products, and of technological and market developments;ff

• the filing, maintenance, prosecution, defense and enforcement of patent claims and other intellectual property rights; 
and

• the cost and timing of establishing or contracting for commercialization capabilities of any other approved drug 
candidate.

Our capital requirements have and will continue to be substantial as we market XERMELO in the United States, 
support the regulatory review process for sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes, prepare for the commercial launch of sotagliflozin for 
type 1 diabetes in the United States, conduct nonclinical and clinical development of telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211 and 
LX2761 and advance new drug candidates into clinical development.  Our capital requirements will also be affected by any ff
expenditures we make in connection with license agreements and acquisitions of and investments in complementary products
and technologies.  For all of these reasons, our future capital requirements cannot easily be quantified.

If our capital resources are insufficient to meet future capital requirements, we will need to raise additional funds to ff
continue our currently planned operations.  Our ability to raise additional capital is dependent on a number of factors, including 
the market demand for our securities, which itself is subject to a number of pharmaceutical development and business risks and 
uncertainties, as well as uncertainty that we would be able to raise such additional capital at a price or on terms that are 
favorable to us.  If we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our then-existing stockholders will experience 
dilution and the terms of any new equity securities may have preferences over our common stock.  The affirmative and ff
restrictive covenants and the pledge of substantially all of our assets as collateral under our existing term loan with BioPharma 
Credit PLC and BioPharma Credit Investments IV Sub LPV , or the BioPharma PP Term Loan, restrict our ability to raise additional TT
capital by issuing debt securities. We cannot be certain that additional financing, whether debt or equityWW , will be available in yy
amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. We may be unable to raise sufWW ficient additional capital on reasonable terms, and ff
if so, we will be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our clinical development programs or commercialization efyy forts or obtain ff
funds, if at all, by entering into financing agreements on unattractive terms.
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We have a history of net losses, and we expect to continue to incur net losses and may not achieve or maintain prWW ofitabilityrr .yy

We have incurred net losses since our inception, including net losses of WW $120.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, $123.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 and $131.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2016. As of December 31, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.5 billion.  Because of the numerous risks and 
uncertainties associated with successfully developing and commercializing drugs, we are unable to predict the extent of any 
future losses or whether or when we will become profitable, if at all.  The size of our net losses will depend, in part, on the rate 
of decline or growth in our revenues and on the amount of our expenses.  We expect to continue to incur significant expensesWW
over the next several years as we expect to make significant investments in the commercialization of XERMELO in the United 
States, the commercialization of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United States, if approved, and the continued 
nonclinical and clinical development of telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug candidates.

Prior to the commercial launch of XERMELO, we derived substantially all of our revenues from strategic
collaborations and other research and development collaborations and technology licenses.  Future revenues from our 
commercialization of XERMELO are uncertain because they depend on a number of factors, including market acceptance of 
XERMELO, the success of our sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization activities and the cost and 
availability of reimbursement for XERMELO.  Future revenues from our existing collaborations are uncertain because they
depend, to a large degree, on the achievement of milestones and payment of royalties we earn from any future products 
developed under the collaborations.  Our ability to secure future revenue-generating agreements will depend upon our ability to 
address the needs of our potential future collaborators and licensees, and to negotiate agreements that we believe are in our 
long-term best interests. We may determine, as we have with certain of our drug candidates, including XERMELO in the WW
United States and Japan, that our interests are better served by retaining rights to our discoveries and advancing our therapeutic 
programs to a later stage, which could limit our near-term revenues and increase expenses.  Because of these and other factors,
our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to do so in the future, and we do not believe that period-to-period 
comparisons of our operating results are a good indication of our future performance.

We expect to spend significant amounts to fund our commercialization activities with respect to XERMELO in the WW
United States, our preparations for the commercial launch of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United States and our 
planned nonclinical and clinical development of telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug candidates.  
As a result, we will need to generate substantial additional revenues to achieve profitability.  Even if we do achieve 
profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.yy

Our operating results have been and likely will continue to fluctuate, and we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our rr
operating results arrr e not a good indication of our futurrr e performance.rr

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future.  A number of factors, many of A
which we cannot control, could subject our operating results to volatility, including:yy

• our ability to successfully commercialize XERMELO in the United States and the amount of revenues generated from 
such commercialization efforts;ff

• our and Sanofi’s ability to obtain regulatory approval for the marketing and sale of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes;

• the amount and timing of payments, if any, under our existing collaboration agreements with Sanofi, Ipsen and other yy
entities;

• the success of our ongoing nonclinical and clinical development efforts;ff

• the timing and amount of expenses incurred with respect to our nonclinical and clinical development and 
commercialization efforts;ff

• our success in establishing new collaborations and technology licenses, and the timing of such arrangements;

• the success rate of our development efforts leading to opportunities for new collaborations and licenses, as well asff
milestone payments and royalties;

• the timing and willingness of our collaborators to commercialize pharmaceutical products that would result in 
milestone payments and royalties;
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• disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to 
obtain patent protection for our products and technologies;

• general and industry-specific economic conditions, which may affect our and our collaborators’ff  research and 
development expenditures.

Because of these and other factors, including the risks and uncertainties described in this section, our operating results
have fluctuated in the past and are likely to do so in the future.  Due to the likelihood of fluctuations in our revenues and 
expenses, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our future 
performance.

We have substantial indebtedness that may limit cash flow available to invest in the ongoing needs of our business.WW

We have incurred WW $245.0 million of indebtedness. Although the affirmative and restrictive covenants and the pledge ff
of substantially all of our assets as collateral under the BioPharma Term Loan restrict our ability to obtain additional debt TT
financing, we could in the future incur additional indebtedness beyond such amount.  Our substantial debt combined with our 
other financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse consequences, including:

• requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to the payment of interest on, and principal 
of, our debt, which will reduce the amounts available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product 
commercialization and development efforts and other general corporate purposes;ff

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions;

• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete;
and

• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing 
options.

We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents and WW
marketable securities and funds from external sources.  However, we may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange ff
for additional financing to pay the amounts due under our existing debt.  Funds from external sources may not be available on 
acceptable terms, if at all.  In addition, a failure to comply with the covenants under our existing debt instruments could result 
in an event of default under those instruments.  In the event of an acceleration of amounts due under our debt instruments as a 
result of an event of default, including upon the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material
adverse effect on our business, operations, properties, assets or condition or a failure to pay any amount due, we may not have ff
sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to repay our indebtedness or to make any accelerated ff
payments, and the lenders could seek to enforce their security interests in the collateral securing such indebtedness.

If we do not effectively manage our affirmative and restrictive covenants under the BioPharma Trr erm Loan, our financial TT
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.rr

Our obligations under the BioPharma Term Loan are secured by a first lien security interest in substantially all of our TT
assets.  In addition, the BioPharma Term Loan requires that we comply with certain afTT firmative and restrictive covenants, ff
including among other things, covenants restricting dispositions, fundamental changes in our business, mergers or acquisitions,
indebtedness, encumbrances, distributions, investments, transactions with affiliates and subordinated debt, any of which could ff
restrict our business and operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes in our business or to take specified actions to
take advantage of certain business opportunities that may be presented to us.  Our failure to comply with any of these covenants
could result in a default under the BioPharma Term Loan, which could permit the lenders to declare all or part of any TT
outstanding borrowings to be immediately due and payable.  If we are unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could enforce 
the security interest granted to them to secure that debt, which would seriously harm our business.

Risks Related to Our Relationships with Third Parties

We arWW e significantly dependent upon our collaborations with Ipsen, Sanofi and other pharmaceutical and biotechnologyrr
companies.  If pharmaceutical products arrr e not successfully and timely developed and commerrr cialized under our rr
collaborations, our opportunities to generate revenues frrr om milestones and rrr oyalties will be grrr eatly rrr educed.rr
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We have entered into collaboration agreements with Ipsen for the commercialization of XERMELO outside of theWW
United States and Japan and with Sanofi for the worldwide (excluding Japan) development and commercialization of 
sotagliflozin. We have also established collaborative arrangements with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companiesWW
with respect to the research, development and commercialization of drug candidates from other programs. We have derived a WW
substantial majority of our revenues to date from these strategic collaborations and other research and development 
collaborations and technology licenses.  Future revenues from our existing collaborations depend upon the achievement of 
milestones and payment of royalties we earn from any future products developed under the collaborations.  If our relationship 
terminates with any of our collaborators, particularly Ipsen and Sanofi, our reputation in the business and scientific community 
may suffer and revenues will be negatively impacted to the extent such losses are not offf fset by additional collaboration ff
agreements.  If milestones are not achieved under our collaborations or our collaborators are unable to successfully develop and 
commercialize products from which milestones and royalties are payable, we will not earn the revenues contemplated by those 
collaborations.

We have limited or no control over the resources that any collaborator may devote to the development and WW
commercialization of products under our alliances.  For example, Sanofi is responsible for all clinical development activities 
relating to sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 2 diabetes and we have limited influence on the manner in which Sanofi may
conduct such clinical development. Any of our present or future collaborators may not perform their obligations as
expected. These collaborators may breach or terminate their agreements with us or otherwise fail to conduct research, 
development or commercialization activities successfully or in a timely manner.  Further, our collaborators may elect not to 
develop pharmaceutical products arising out of our collaborative arrangements or may not devote sufficient resources to the ff
development, regulatory approval, manufacture, marketing or sale of these products.  If any of these events occurs, we may not 
receive collaboration revenue or otherwise realize anticipated benefits from such collaborations, our product development 
efforts may be delayed and our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely afff fected.ff

Conflicts with our collaborators could jeopardize the success of our collaborative agrrr eements and harm our prrr oduct rr
development efforts.

We may pursue opportunities in specific disease and therapeutic modality fields that could result in conflicts with our WW
collaborators, if any of our collaborators takes the position that our internal activities overlap with those activities that are 
exclusive to our collaboration.  Moreover, disagreements could arise with our collaborators over rights to our intellectual 
property or our rights to share in any of the future revenues of compounds or therapeutic approaches developed by our 
collaborators. Any conflict with or among our collaborators could result in the termination of our collaborative agreements,
delay collaborative research or development activities, impair our ability to renew or obtain future collaborative agreements or 
lead to costly and time consuming litigation.  Conflicts with our collaborators could also have a negative impact on our 
relationship with existing collaborators, materially impairing our business and revenues.  Some of our collaborators are also 
potential competitors or may become competitors in the future.  Our collaborators could develop competing products, preclude 
us from entering into collaborations with their competitors or terminate their agreements with us prematurely.  Any of these 
events could harm our product development efforts.ff

We depend on thirWW d-party manufacturrr ers, including sole sourrr ce suppliers, to manufacturrr e commerrr cial quantities of XERMELO.  rr
We may not be able to maintain these rWW elationships and could experience supply disruptions outside of our contrrr ol.rr

We rely on a network of third-party manufacturers to manufacture and supply XERMELO for commercial sale. WW As a
result of our reliance on these third-party manufacturers and suppliers, including sole source suppliers for certain steps in the
manufacture of XERMELO, we could be subject to significant supply disruptions.  Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials 
and manufacturing drug product ready for distribution is a multi-step endeavor.  Third-party contract manufacturers procure
raw materials, convert these raw materials into API, and then convert the API into final dosage form. Establishing and 
managing this supply chain requires a significant financial commitment and the creation and maintenance of numerous third 
party contractual relationships.  Although we attempt to effectively manage the business relationships with companies in our ff
supply chain, we do not have control over their operations.

We require our own commercial supply of XERMELO for sale in the United States, and are required under our WW
collaboration agreement to supply Ipsen’s commercial requirements of XERMELO in the European Union and other territories
outside of the United States and Japan. We currently relyWW , and expect to continue to relyyy , on sole source third-party yy
manufacturers to produce final drug product and package and label XERMELO. While we have identified and expect to 
qualify and engage back-up third-party manufacturers as additional or alternative suppliers for the production of final drug
product and packaging and labeling of XERMELO, we currently do not have such arrangements in place.  Moreover, some of 
these alternative manufacturers will need to be approved by the FDA before we can use them for manufacturing XERMELO.  It A
is also possible that supplies of materials that cannot be second-sourced can be managed with inventory planning. There can be 
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no assurance, however, that failure of any of our sole source third-party manufacturers to meet our and Ipsen’s commercial 
demands for XERMELO in a timely manner, or our failure to engage qualified additional or back-up suppliers for the
production of final drug product and packaging and labeling of XERMELO, would not have a material adverse effect on ff
commercialization of XERMELO and our business.

Supply disruptions may result from a number of factors, including shortages in product raw materials, labor or 
technical difficulties, regulatory inspections or restrictions, shipping or customs delays or any other performance failure by any ff
third-party manufacturer on which we rely. Any supply disruptions could disrupt sales of XERMELO, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business.

We rWW ely on a single thirrr d-party logistics prrr ovider and two independent specialty pharmacies for distribution of XERMELO inrr
the United States, and their failure to distribute XERMELO effectively would adversely affect sales of XERMELO.rr

We rely on a single third-party logistics provider for shipping and warehousing of our commercial supply of WW
XERMELO and two independent specialty pharmacies for dispensation of XERMELO to patients in fulfillment of 
prescriptions in the United States. Although our third-party logistics provider stores our commercial supply of XERMELO at 
two separate warehouses, the use of a single third-party logistics provider increases the risk that a fire or damage from another 
type of disaster at either of the warehouses may result in a disruption of our commercialization efforts. ff A specialty pharmacy isA
a pharmacy that specializes in the dispensing of medications for complex or chronic conditions, which often require a high 
level of patient education and ongoing management.  The use of specialty pharmacies involves certain additional risks,
including, but not limited to, risks that these specialty pharmacies will:

• not provide us accurate or timely information regarding their inventories, the number of patients who are using
XERMELO or complaints about XERMELO;

• reduce or discontinue their efforts to sell or support or otherwise not efff fectively sell or support XERMELO;ff

• not devote the resources necessary to sell XERMELO in the volumes and within the time frames that we expect;

• be unable to satisfy their financial obligations to us; or

• cease operations.

If our third-party logistics provider or either or both of our specialty pharmacies do not fulfill their contractual
obligations to us, or refuse or fail to adequately distribute XERMELO and serve patients, or the agreements are terminated 
without adequate notice, shipments of XERMELO, and associated revenues, would be adversely affected.  In addition, we ff
expect that it may take a significant amount of time if we were required to change our third-party logistics provider or either of 
our specialty pharmacies.

We rWW ely on thirrr d parties to carry out drug development activities.rr

We rely on clinical research orWW ganizations and other third-party contractors to carry out many of our drug development 
activities, including the performance of nonclinical laboratory and animal tests under the FDA’AA s current Good Laboratory 
Practices regulations and the conduct of clinical trials of our drug candidates in accordance with protocols we establish.  If 
these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines,
our drug development activities may be delayed, suspended or terminated.  Such a failure by these third parties could 
significantly impair our ability to develop and commercialize the affected drug candidates.ff

We lack the capability to manufacturWW e materials for nonclinical studies, clinical trials or commerrr cial sales and rrr ely on thirrr d rr
parties to manufacture our drug candidates, which may harm or delay our prrr oduct development and commerrr cialization efforts.rr

We currently do not have the manufacturing capabilities or experience necessary to produce materials for nonclinicalWW
studies, clinical trials or commercial sales and intend in the future to continue to rely on collaborators and third-party 
contractors to produce such materials.  We will rely on selected manufacturers to deliver materials on a timely basis and to WW
comply with applicable regulatory requirements, including the current Good Manufacturing Practices of the FDA, which relate
to manufacturing and quality control activities.  These manufacturers may not be able to produce material on a timely basis or 
manufacture material at the quality level or in the quantity required to meet our development timelines and applicable 
regulatory requirements.  In addition, there are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under the FDA’AA s current Good 
Manufacturing Practices and that are capable of producing such materials, and we may experience difficulty finding ff
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manufacturers with adequate capacity for our needs.  If we are unable to contract for the production of sufficient quantity and ff
quality of materials on acceptable terms, our product development and commercialization efforts may be delayed.  Moreoverff ,
noncompliance with the FDA’AA s current Good Manufacturing Practices can result in, among other things, fines, injunctions, civil 
and criminal penalties, product recalls or seizures, suspension of production, failure to obtain marketing approval and 
withdrawal, suspension or revocation of marketing approvals.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to adequately prrr otect our intellectual prrr opertyrr , thiryy d parties may be able to use our prrr oducts and technologies,rr
which could adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part upon our ability to obtain patents and maintain adequate protection of the intellectual 
property related to our products and technologies.  The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, 
including our patent position, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions.  We will be able to WW
protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that our products and 
technologies are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets.  ff We will continue toWW
apply for patents covering our products and technologies as, where and when we deem appropriate.  However, pending patent 
applications do not provide protection against competitors because they are not enforceable until they issue as patents.  Further, 
the disclosures contained in our current and future patent applications may not be sufficient to meet statutory requirements for ff
patentability and our applications may fail to result in issued patents.  Once issued, patents still may not provide commercially
meaningful protection.  Our existing patents and any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others ff
from developing competing products and technologies.  Furthermore, others may independently develop similar or alternative 
products or technologies or design around our patents.  If anyone infringes upon our or our collaborators’ patent rights, 
enforcing these rights may be difficult, costly and time-consuming and, as a result, it may not be cost-efff fective or otherwise ff
expedient to pursue litigation to enforce those patent rights.

Our patents may be challenged by third parties as invalid or unenforceable under U.S. or foreign laws, or they may be 
infringed by third parties.  As a result, we may be involved in the defense and enforcement of our patent or other intellectual 
property rights in a court of law, U.S. Patent and ww Trademark OfTT fice inter partes review or reexamination proceeding, foreignff
opposition proceeding or related legal and administrative proceeding in the United States and elsewhere.  The costs of 
defending our patents or enforcing our proprietary rights in post-issuance administrative proceedings and litigation may be 
substantial and the outcome can be uncertain. An adverse outcome may allow third parties to use our intellectual property 
without a license and negatively impact our business.

In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, third parties may have pending applications,
unknown to us, which may later result in issued patents that cover the production, manufacture, commercialization or use of 
our products and drug candidates.   If any such patents are issued to other entities, we will be unable to obtain patent protection 
for the same or similar discoveries that we make relating to our products and drug candidates.  Moreover, we may be blocked 
from using our drug targets or drug candidates or developing or commercializing our products and other drug candidates, or 
may be required to obtain a license that may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all.  Further, others may discover uses
for our drug targets and drug candidates other than those covered in our issued or pending patents, and these other uses may be
separately patentable.  Even if we have a patent claim on a particular technology or product, the holder of a patent covering the 
use of that technology or product could exclude us from selling a product that is based on the same use of that product.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the 
United States, and many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending such rights in foreign 
jurisdictions.  Many countries, including certain countries in Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent 
owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties (for example, if the patent owner has failed to “work” the invention in
that country or the third party has patented improvements).  In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents
against government agencies or government contractors.  In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, 
which could materially diminish the value of the patent.  Compulsory licensing of life-saving drugs is also becoming
increasingly popular in developing countries either through direct legislation or international initiatives.  Such compulsory 
licenses could be extended to include some of our products and drug candidates, which could limit our potential revenue 
opportunities.  Moreover, the legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the 
aggressive enforcement of patent and other intellectual property protection, which makes it difficult to stop infringement.ff

We rely on trade secret protection for some of our confidential and proprietary information. WW We have taken security WW
measures to protect our proprietary information and trade secrets, but these measures may not provide adequate 
protection.  While we seek to protect our proprietary information by entering into confidentiality agreements with employees, 
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collaborators and consultants, we cannot assure you that our proprietary information will not be disclosed, or that we can 
meaningfully protect our trade secrets.  In addition, our competitors may independently develop substantially equivalent 
proprietary information or may otherwise gain access to our trade secrets.

We may be involved in patent litigation and other disputes rWW egarrr ding intellectual prrr operty rights and may rrr equirrr e licenses frrr om rr
third parties for our planned nonclinical and clinical development and commerrr cialization activities.  Wrr e may not prWW evail in any rr
such litigation or other dispute or be able to obtain requirrr ed licenses.rr

Our products and those of our collaborators, as well as our nonclinical and clinical development efforts, may give riseff
to claims that they infringe the patents of others.  We are aware that other companies and institutions are developing products WW
acting through the same drug targets through which some of our drug candidates currently in clinical development act, have 
conducted research on many of the same targets that we have identified and have filed patent applications potentially covering 
drug targets that we have identified and certain therapeutic products addressing such targets.  In some cases, patents have issued 
from these applications.  In addition, many companies and institutions have well-established patent portfolios directed to
common techniques, methods and means of developing, producing and manufacturing pharmaceutical products.  These or other 
companies or institutions could bring legal actions against us or our collaborators for damages or to stop us or our collaborators 
from engaging in certain nonclinical or clinical development activities or from manufacturing and marketing therapeutic
products that allegedly infringe their patent rights.  If any of these actions are successful, in addition to our potential liability for 
damages, these entities would likely require us or our collaborators to obtain a license in order to continue engaging in the 
infringing activities or to manufacture or market the infringing therapeutic products or may force us to terminate such activities
or manufacturing and marketing efforts.ff

We may deem it advisable to pursue litigation against others to enforce our patents and intellectual property rights and WW
may be the subject of litigation brought by third parties to enforce their patent and intellectual property rights.  In addition, we 
may become involved in litigation based on intellectual property indemnification undertakings that we have given to certain of 
our collaborators.  Patent litigation is expensive and requires substantial amounts of management attention. The eventual 
outcome of any such litigation is uncertain and involves substantial risks.

We believe that there will continue to be significant litigation in our industry regarding patent and other intellectual WW
property rights.  We have expended and many of our competitors have expended and are continuing to expend significant WW
amounts of time, money and management resources on intellectual property litigation.  If we become involved in future 
intellectual property litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our resources and could negatively affect our results of ff
operations.

Data breaches and cyberrr -attacks could comprrr omise our intellectual prrr operty or other sensitive information and cause rr
significant damage to our business and reputation.rr

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, maintain and transmit sensitive data on our networks and systems,
including our intellectual property and proprietary or confidential business information (such as research data and personal
information) and confidential information with respect to our customers, clinical trial patients and our business partners.  We WW
have also outsourced significant elements of our information technology infrastructure and, as a result, third parties may or 
could have access to our confidential information.  The secure maintenance of this information is critical to our business and 
reputation.  We believe that companies have been increasingly subject to a wide variety of security incidents, cyberWW -attacks and 
other attempts to gain unauthorized access. These threats can come from a variety of sources, ranging in sophistication from an 
individual hacker to a state-sponsored attack and motive (including corporate espionage).  Cyber threats may be generic, or 
they may be custom-crafted against our information systems.  Our network and storage applications and those of our vendors 
may be subject to unauthorized access by hackers or breached due to operator error, malfeasance or other system disruptions.  It 
is often difficult to anticipate or immediately detect such incidents and the damage caused by such incidents. ff These data 
breaches and any unauthorized access or disclosure of our information or intellectual property could compromise our 
intellectual property and expose sensitive business information. A data security breach could also lead to public exposure of A
personal information of our clinical trial patients, customers and others.  Cyber-attacks could cause us to incur significant 
remediation costs, result in product development delays, disrupt key business operations and divert attention of management 
and key information technology resources.  Our network security and data recovery measures and those of our vendors may not 
be adequate to protect against such security breaches and disruptions. These incidents could also subject us to liability, expose yy
us to significant expense and cause significant harm to our reputation and business.
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We may be subject to damages rWW esulting frrr om claims that we, our employees or independent contractors have wrrr ongfully used rr
or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.rr

Many of our employees and independent contractors were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology 
or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.  We may be subject to claims that theseWW
employees, independent contractors or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary 
information of their former employers.  Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims.  Even if we are successful
in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention.  If we fail in 
defending such claims, in addition to paying money claims, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel.  A
loss of key research personnel and/or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize certain drug
candidates, which could severely harm our business.

Risks Related to Employees and Facilities Operations

If we are unable to manage our grrr owth, our business, financial condition, rrr esults of operations and prrr ospects may be adverselyrr
affected.

We have experienced and expect to continue to experience growth in the number of our employees and in the scope of WW
our operations.  This growth places significant demands on our management, operational and financial resources, and our 
current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our growth.  To efTT fectively ff
manage our growth, we must continue to improve existing, and implement new, operational and financial systems, procedures ww
and controls and must expand, train and manage our growing employee base, and there can be no assurance that we will 
effectively manage our growth without experiencing operating inefff ficiencies or control deficiencies.  ff We expect that we may WW
need to increase our medical, clinical, commercial and other personnel, and recruiting and retaining qualified individuals is 
difficult.  If we are unable to manage our growth efff fectivelyff , or are unsuccessful in recruiting qualified personnel when yy
advisable, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected.ff

The loss of key personnel or the inability to attract and retain additional personnel could impair our ability to operate and rr
expand our operations.

We are highly dependent upon the principal members of our management, as well as medical, clinical and commercial WW
staff, the loss of whose services might adversely impact the achievement of our objectives.  Retaining and, where advisable,ff
recruiting qualified medical, clinical and commercial personnel will be critical to support activities related to successfully 
executing on our commercial plan for XERMELO and advancing our nonclinical and clinical development programs for 
telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug candidates.  Competition is intense for experienced medical, 
clinical and commercial personnel, and we may be unable to retain or recruit such personnel with the expertise or experience 
necessary to allow us to successfully develop and commercialize our products.  Further, all of our employees are employed “at 
will” and, therefore, may leave our employment at any time.

Facility security breaches may disrupt our operations, subject us to liability and harm our operating rrr esults.rr

Any break-in or trespass of our facilities that results in the misappropriation, theft, sabotage or any other type of 
security breach with respect to our proprietary and confidential information, including research or clinical data, or that results
in damage to our equipment and assets could subject us to liability and have a material adverse impact on our business, 
operating results and financial condition.

Our facilities are located near coastal zones, and the occurrrr ence of a hurricane or other disaster could damage our facilities rr
and equipment, which could harm our operations.

Our facilities are located in The Woodlands,WW Texas and Basking Ridge, New JerseyTT , and therefore our facilities are yy
vulnerable to damage from hurricanes.  We are also vulnerable to damage from other types of disasters, including fire, floods, WW
power loss, communications failures, terrorism and similar events and any insurance we may maintain may not be adequate to 
cover our losses.  If any disaster were to occur, our ability to operate our business at our facilities could be seriously, or yy
potentially completely, impaired.yy
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Risks Related to Environmental and Product Liability

We have used hazarWW dous chemicals and radioactive and biological materials in our business. rr Any claims relating to imprrr oper rr
handling, storage or disposal of these materials could be time consuming and costly.yy

Our research and development processes have historically involved the controlled use of hazardous materials, 
including chemicals and radioactive and biological materials.  Our operations have produced hazardous waste products.  We WW
cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or discharge and any resultant injury from these materials.  Federal, state 
and local laws and regulations govern the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials. We may WW
face liability for any injury or contamination that results from our use or the use by third parties of these materials, and such 
liability may exceed our insurance coverage and our total assets.  Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be
expensive, and current or future environmental regulations may impair our research, development and production efforts.ff

In addition, our collaborators may use hazardous materials in connection with our collaborative efforts. In the event of ff
a lawsuit or investigation, we could be held responsible for any injury caused to persons or property by exposure to, or release 
of, these hazardous materials used by these parties.  Further, we may be required to indemnify our collaborators against all 
damages and other liabilities arising out of our development activities or products produced in connection with these 
collaborations.

Our business has a substantial risk of product liability and we face potential prrr oduct liability exposurrr e far in excess of our rr
limited insurance coverage.

We may be held liable if XERMELO or any other product that we or our collaborators develop or commercialize, or WW
any product that is made with the use or incorporation of any of our technologies, causes injury or is found otherwise 
unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale.  Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability 
claims could result in decreased demand for our products and product candidates, injury to our reputation, withdrawal of 
patients from our clinical trials, product recall, substantial monetary awards to third parties and the inability to commercialize
any products that we may develop. These claims might be made directly by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical 
companies or others selling or testing our products. We have obtained limited product liability insurance coverage for our WW
clinical trials and commercial activities.  However, our insurance may not reimburse us or may not be sufficient to reimburse us ff
for expenses or losses we may sufferff .  Moreover, if insurance coverage becomes more expensive, we may not be able to 
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liabilityff .  On
occasion, juries have awarded large judgments in class action lawsuits for claims based on drugs that had unanticipated side
effects.  In addition, the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, in general, have been subject to significant medical ff
malpractice litigation.  A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could harm our reputation and A
business.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Invus, L.P., Invus C.VPP . and their affiliates own a contrVV olling interrr est in our outstanding common stock and may have interrr estsrr
which conflict with those of our other stockholders.

Invus, L.P. and Invus C.VPP ., which we collectively refer to as Invus, and their afVV filiates currently own approximately ff
61.0% of the outstanding shares of our common stock and are thereby able to control the election and removal of our directors
and determine our corporate and management policies, including potential mergers or acquisitions, asset sales, the amendment 
of our articles of incorporation or bylaws and other significant corporate transactions.  This concentration of ownership may 
delay or deter possible changes in control of our company, which may reduce the value of an investment in our common stock.  yy
The interests of Invus and its affiliates may not be aligned with the interests of other holders of our common stock.ff

Invus has additional rights under our stockholders’ agreement with Invus, L.Prr  rPP elating to the membership of our boarrr d of rr
directors, which prrr ovides Invus with substantial influence over significant corporate matters. rr

Under our stockholders’ agreement with Invus, L.P., Invus has the right to designate a number of directors equal to the PP
percentage of all the outstanding shares of our common stock owned by Invus and its affiliates, rounded up to the nearest whole ff
number of directors.  Invus has designated three of the nine current members of our board of directors. While Invus has not 
presently exercised its director designation rights in full, it may exercise them at any time in the future in its sole discretion. ToTT
facilitate the exercise of such rights, we have agreed, upon written request from Invus, to take all necessary steps in accordance 
with our obligations under the stockholders’ agreement to (1) increase the number of directors to the number specified by Invus
(which number shall be no greater than reasonably necessary for the exercise of Invus’ director designation rights under the 
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stockholders’ agreement) and (2) cause the appointment to the newly created directorships of directors so designated by Invus 
pursuant to its rights under the stockholders’ agreement.

Invus also has the right to require proportionate representation of Invus-appointed directors on the audit, compensation
and corporate governance committees of our board of directors, subject to certain restrictions.  Invus-designated directors
currently serve as one of the three members of each of the compensation committee and the corporate governance committee of 
our board of directors.  No Invus-designated directors currently serve on the audit committee of our board of directors.

The provisions of the stockholders’ agreement relating to Invus’ rights to designate members of our board of directors 
and its audit, compensation and corporate governance committees will terminate if the percentage of all the outstanding shares 
of our common stock owned by Invus and its affiliates falls below 10%.  Invus also has the right to terminate these provisionsff
at any time in its discretion.

Our stock price may be extremely volatile.rr

The trading price of our common stock has been highly volatile, and we believe the trading price of our common stock 
will remain highly volatile and may fluctuate substantially due to factors such as the following, many of which we cannot 
control:

• the commercial success of XERMELO and the revenues we generate from sales of XERMELO;

• adverse results or delays in our or our collaborators’ clinical trials;

• the timing and achievement of milestones under our collaboration agreements;

• the announcement of FDA approval or non-approval, or delays in the FDAA review process, of our or our collaborators’A
drug candidates or those of our competitors or actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our, our 
collaborators’ or our competitors’ clinical trials;

• actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to XERMELO, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug 
candidates;

• the announcement of new products by our competitors;

• quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations;

• developments in our relationships with our collaborators, including conflicts, litigation or the termination or 
modification of our agreements;

• the announcement of an in-licensed drug candidate or strategic acquisition;

• litigation, including intellectual property infringement and product liability lawsuits, involving us;

• failure to achieve operating results projected by securities analysts;

• changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

• the satisfaction of outstanding debt obligations or entry into new financing arrangements;

• developments in the biotechnology or pharmaceutical industry;

• sales of large blocks of our common stock or sales of our common stock by our executive officers, directors and ff
significant stockholders;

• departures of key personnel or board members;

• FDA or international regulatory actions;A

• third-party coverage and reimbursement policies;
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• disposition of any of our drug programs or other technologies; and

• other factors, including general market, economic and political conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating
performance or the operatingn  performance of our competitors.g

These factors may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  In addition, the stock markets in ff
general, and the markets for biotechnology and pharmaceutical stocks in particular, have historically experienced significant 
volatility that has often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies.  For example,
negative publicity regarding drug pricing and price increases by pharmaceutical companies has negatively impacted, and may 
continue to negatively impact, the markets for biotechnology and pharmaceutical stocks.  Likewise, the broader financial 
markets could experience significant volatility that could also negatively impact the markets for biotechnology and 
pharmaceutical stocks. These broad market fluctuations have adversely affected and may in the future adversely afff fect the ff
trading price of our common stock.  Excessive volatility may continue for an extended period of time.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted. A securities class action suit against us could result in substantial costs and divert A
management’s attention and resources, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business.ff

We arWW e subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.rr

Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class
action litigation and we are currently a target of this type of litigation.  On January 28, 2019, a purported securities class action 
complaint captioned Daniel Manopla v. Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Lonnel Coats and Jeffrey L.ff Wade was filed against us,WW
and certain of our officers in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of ff Texas, Houston Division. TT The lawsuit purports 
to be a class action brought on behalf of purchasers of our securities during the period from March 11, 2016 through
January 17, 2019.  The complaint alleges that the defendants violated federal securities laws by making materially false and 
misleading statements and/or omissions concerning data from our Phase 3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes
patients and the prospects of FDA approval of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.  A The complaint purports to 
assert claims for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 
thereunder. The complaint seeks, on behalf of the purported class, an unspecified amount of monetary damages, interest, fees 
and expenses of attorneys and experts, and other relief.  This case, and other litigation of this type, could result in substantial
costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could adversely impact our business. Any adverse
determination in litigation could also subject us to significant liabilities.

Future sales of our common stock, or the perrr ception that such sales may occurrr , may deprrr ess our stock price.rr

A substantial number of shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance upon conversion of notes evidencing our A
current indebtedness, upon the exercise of stock options and upon vesting of restricted stock units.  If our stockholders sell
substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares issued upon the conversion of notes, exercise of stock options or 
vesting of restricted stock units) in the public market, or if the market perceives that such sales may occur, the market price of 
our common stock could fall and it may become more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a ff
time and price that we deem appropriate.  For example, following an acquisition, a significant number of shares of our common 
stock held by new stockholders may become freely tradable or holders of registration rights could cause us to register their 
shares for resale.  Sales of these shares of common stock held by existing stockholders could cause the market price of our 
common stock to decline.

Conversion of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 may dilute the ownership interest of our existing stockholders,rr
including holders who had previously converted their notes, or may otherwise deprrr ess the price of our common stock.rr

The conversion of some or all of our 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 will dilute the ownership interests of 
existing stockholders to the extent we deliver shares upon conversion of any of the notes. Any sales in the public market of the 
common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.  In ff
addition, the existence of the notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the notes
could be used to satisfy short positions, or anticipated conversion of the notes into shares of our common stock could depress
the price of our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish researrr ch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable rrr esearrr ch about our business, our rr
stock price and trading volume could decline.
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The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us or our business.  If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline.  If one or more of these analysts 
cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which yy
might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

We may engage in futurWW e acquisitions, which may be expensive and time consuming and frrr om which we may not rrr ealizerr
anticipated benefits.

We may acquire additional businesses, technologies and products if we determine that these businesses, technologies WW
and products complement our existing technology or otherwise serve our strategic goals.  If we do undertake any transactions 
of this sort, the process of integrating an acquired business, technology or product may result in operating difficulties and ff
expenditures and may not be achieved in a timely and non-disruptive manner, if at all, and may absorb significant management 
attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business.  If we fail to integrate acquired 
businesses, technologies or products effectively or if key employees of an acquired business leave, the anticipated benefits of ff
the acquisition would be jeopardized.  Moreover, we may never realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, such as 
increased revenues and earnings or enhanced business synergies.  Future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive
issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities and amortization expenses related to 
intangible assets, which could materially impair our results of operations and financial condition.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal contrWW ol over financial rrr eporting that, if not prrr operly rrr emediated, could rr
result in us being unable to prrr ovide rrr equirrr ed financial information in a timely and rrr eliable mannerrr .rr

Our management has identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2018 relating to the design of our controls to prevent overstatement of estimated pass-through costs recorded in our clinical trial 
expense accruals. A material weakness is a deficiencyA , or combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over financial yy
reporting that results in a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.  For further discussion of our internal control over financial reporting, a
description of the identified material weakness and a summary of the remediation efforts we are implementing, see “Item 9A. ff
Controls and Procedures.”

If we are not able to remediate the material weakness in a timely manner, or if additional material weaknesses in our 
internal control over financial reporting are discovered or occur in the future, we may be unable to provide holders of our 
securities with the required financial information in a timely and reliable manner, either of which could subject us to litigation
and regulatory enforcement actions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commentsff

None.

Item 2. Properties

We currently own approximately 260,000 square feet of space for our corporate ofWW fices and laboratories in buildings ff
located in The Woodlands,WW Texas, a suburb of Houston,TT Texas, and lease approximately 25,000 square feet of ofTT fice space in ff
Basking Ridge, New Jersey.

In August 2018, our subsidiary Lex-Gen Woodlands, L.PWW . entered into a term loan and security agreement refinancing PP
the previously existing mortgage on our facilities in The Woodlands,WW Texas. TT The loan agreement provides for a $12.9 million 
mortgage on the property and has a two-year term with a 10-year amortization. The mortgage loan bears interest at a rate per 
annum equal to the greater of (a) the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 5.5% and (b) 7.5% and provides for a balloon payment of $10.3 
million due in August 2020. The mortgage debt, net of issuance costs, was $12.1 million as of December 31, 2018. 

In March 2015, our subsidiary Lexicon Pharmaceuticals (New Jersey), Inc. leased a 25,000 square-foot office space inff
Basking Ridge, New Jersey.  The term of the lease extends from June 1, 2015 through December 31, 2022, and provides for 
escalating yearly base rent payments starting at $482,000 and increasing to $646,000 in the final year of the lease.  

We believe that our facilities are well-maintained, in good operating condition and acceptable for our current WW
operations.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On January 28, 2019, a purported securities class action complaint captioned Daniel Manopla v. Lexicon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Lonnel Coats and Jeffrey L. ff Wade was filed against us, and certain of our ofWW ficers in the U.S. District ff
Court for the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division. TT The lawsuit purports to be a class action brought on behalf of 
purchasers of our securities during the period from March 11, 2016 through January 17, 2019.  The complaint alleges that the
defendants violated federal securities laws by making materially false and misleading statements and/or omissions concerning
data from our Phase 3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes patients and the prospects of FDA approval of A
sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.  The complaint purports to assert claims for violations of Sections 10(b) and 
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  The complaint seeks, on behalf of the 
purported class, an unspecified amount of monetary damages, interest, fees and expenses of attorneys and experts, and other 
relief.

In addition, we are from time to time party to claims and legal proceedings that arise in the normal course of our 
business and that we believe will not have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our results of ff
operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PARPP TRR II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity’’ , Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securitiesyy

Our common stock is quoted on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “LXRX.” As of March 8, 2019, 
there were approximately 324 holders of record of our common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock.WW We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings, WW
if any, for use in the expansion and operation of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeableyy
future.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the performance of our common stock to the Nasdaq Composite Index
and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index for the period beginning December 31, 2013 and ending December 31, 2018. The graph 
assumes that the value of the investment in our common stock and each index was $100 at December 31, 2013, and that all
dividends were reinvested.

December 31,r

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100 51 106 110 78 53
Nasdaq Composite Index 100 113 120 129 165 159
Nasdaq Biotechnology Index 100 134 149 117 142 128

The foregoing stock price performance comparisons shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by 
reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this annual report on Form 10-K into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate such 
comparisons by reference.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The statements of comprehensive loss data for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and the balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 have been derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in 
this annual report on Form 10-K.  The statements of comprehensive loss data for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 have been derived from our audited financial statements 
not included in this annual report on Form 10-K.  Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected 
for any future period.  The data presented below has been derived from financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and should be read with our financial statements, 
including the notes, and with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

The following data contain corrections of errors identified in previously reported amounts.  For the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the effect of the corrections on net loss was a net favorable adjustment of $6.1 million, ff
$10.0 million and $0.1 million, respectively.  See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Statements of Comprehensive Loss Data: (in thousands, except per sharr e data)

Revenues                                                      $ 63,209 $ 91,689 $ 79,256 $ 130,014 $ 22,854
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales (including finite-lived intangible asset
amortization) 2,491 1,899 — — —

Research and development, including stock-based
compensation of $6,010 in 2018, $4,905 in 2017, $3,938 in
2016, $3,693 in 2015 and $4,020 in 2014 100,243 152,223 163,973 95,065 89,279

Increase (decrease) in fair value of Symphony Icon, Inc.
purchase liability — 2,101 (703) 5,927 1,428

Selling, general and administrative, including stock-based
compensation of $5,686 in 2018, $4,567 in 2017, $3,514 in
2016, $3,150 in 2015 and $3,061 in 2014 63,754 66,090 43,157 23,835 19,411

Impairment loss on buildings — — — 3,597 13,102
Total operating expensesTT 166,488 222,313 206,427 128,424 123,220

Income (loss) from operations (103,279) (130,624) (127,171) 1,590 (100,366)
Interest and other income (expense), net (17,269) (5,030) (4,274) (6,150) 2
Net loss before taxes (120,548) (135,654) (131,445) (4,560) (100,364)
Income tax benefit — 12,661 — — 70
Net loss $ (120,548) $ (122,993) $ (131,445) $ (4,560) $ (100,294)
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (1.14) $ (1.17) $ (1.27) $ (0.04) $ (1.31)
Shares used in computing net loss per common share, basic and

diluted 105,830 105,237 103,863 103,591 76,347

As of December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Balance Sheet Data: (in thousands)

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, including
restricted cash and investments $ 160,052 $ 310,788 $ 346,504 $ 521,352 $ 339,339

Working capital 136,573 216,506 205,618 409,565 324,018
Total assets 284,136 436,539 475,625 651,960 471,376
Long-term debt, net of current portion 243,887 231,576 85,167 100,960 87,500
Accumulated deficit (1,471,577) (1,365,241) (1,240,257) (1,108,812) (1,104,252)
Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders’ (deficit) equity (26,405) 68,265 167,507 285,972 284,018



40

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and ’’ Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read with “Selected Financial Data” and our financial statementsrr
and notes included elsewhere in this annual rrr eport on Form 10-K.rr

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company with a mission of pioneering medicines that transform patients’WW  lives. We are WW
devoting most of our resources to the commercialization or development of our four most advanced drug programs:

• We are commercializing XERMELO (telotristat ethyl), an orally-delivered small molecule drug, in the United StatesWW
for the treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in combination with somatostatin analog, or SSA, therapy in adults 
inadequately controlled by SSA therapyA .  We have granted Ipsen Pharma SAS, or Ipsen, an exclusive, royalty-bearing WW
right to commercialize XERMELO outside of the United States and Japan.  Ipsen is commercializing XERMELO in 
multiple countries, including the United Kingdom and Germany, and is preparing to commercialize XERMELO in yy
certain additional countries.  We are also developing telotristat ethyl as a treatment for biliary tract cancer and are WW
conducting a Phase 2a clinical trial of telotristat ethyl in biliary tract cancer patients.

• We are developing sotagliflozin, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for type 1 and WW
type 2 diabetes. We have granted Sanofi-AWW ventis Deutschland GmbH, or Sanofi, an exclusive, worldwide (excluding AA
Japan), royalty-bearing right to develop, manufacture and commercialize sotagliflozin.  We have reported positive data WW
from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials and a third Phase 3 clinical trial of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes patients.  
Sanofi has submitted applications for regulatory approval to market sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes in the United 
States, the European Union and certain additional countries, and we and Sanofi are preparing for the commercial
launch of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, if approved.  Sanofi is also conducting a comprehensive 
Phase 3 development program for sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes.

• We are developing LX921WW 1, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for neuropathic pain.  
We have reported positive top-line data from an initial Phase 1a clinical trial of LX921WW 1 and are conducting a Phase 1b 
clinical trial of LX9211.

• We are developing LX2761, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, as a treatment for diabetes.  WW We haveWW
reported top-line data from two Phase 1 clinical trials of LX2761 and are presently evaluating the further clinical
development of LX2761.  We have granted Sanofi certain rights of first negotiation with respect to the futureWW
development and commercialization of LX2761.

Compounds from our most advanced drug programs, as well as compounds from a number of additional drug 
discovery and development programs that we have advanced into various stages of clinical and preclinical development, 
originated from our own internal drug discovery efforts.ff These efforts were driven by a systematic, tarff get biology-driven 
approach in which we used gene knockout technologies and an integrated platform of advanced medical technologies to 
systematically study the physiological and behavioral functions of almost 5,000 genes in mice and assessed the utility of the 
proteins encoded by the corresponding human genes as potential drug targets. We have identified and validated in living WW
animals, or in vivo, more than 100 targets with promising profiles for drug discovery.

We are working both independently and through strategic collaborations and alliances with third parties to capitalize WW
on our drug target discoveries and drug discovery and development programs.  We seek to retain exclusive or co-exclusive WW
rights to the benefits of certain drug discovery and development programs by developing and commercializing drug candidates 
from those programs internally, particularly in the United States for indications treated by specialist physicians. yy We seek toWW
collaborate with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, such as Ipsen and Sanofi, with respect to drug discovery 
or the development and commercialization of certain of our drug candidates, particularly with respect to commercialization in
territories outside the United States, commercialization in the United States for indications treated by primary care physicians,
or when the collaboration may otherwise provide us with access to expertise and resources that we do not possess internally or 
are complementary to our own.

We commercially launched XERMELO following regulatory approval in the United States in February 2017 for theWW
treatment of carcinoid syndrome diarrhea in combination with SSA therapy in adults inadequately controlled by SSAA  therapyA . 
Prior to the launch of XERMELO, we derived substantially all of our revenues from strategic collaborations and other research
and development collaborations and technology licenses. To date, we have generated a substantial portion of our revenues TT
from a limited number of sources.
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Our operating results and, in particular, our ability to generate additional revenues are dependent on many factors, 
including our ability to successfully commercialize XERMELO in the United States and the amount of revenues generated 
from such commercialization efforts; our and Sanofi’ff s ability to obtain regulatory approval for the marketing and sale of 
sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes; the amount and timing of payments, if any, under our existing collaboration agreements with yy
Sanofi, Ipsen and other entities; the success of our ongoing nonclinical and clinical development efforts and ability to obtainff
necessary regulatory approvals of the drug candidates which are the subject of such efforts; our success in establishing newff
collaborations and licenses; the timing and willingness of such new collaborators to commercialize products that would result 
in milestone payments and royalties and their success in such efforts; and general and industry-specific economic conditions ff
which may affect research and development expenditures.ff

Future revenues from our commercialization of XERMELO are uncertain because they depend on a number of factors,
including market acceptance of XERMELO, the success of our sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization 
activities and the cost and availability of reimbursement for XERMELO.

Future revenues from our existing collaborations are uncertain because they depend, to a large degree, on the 
achievement of milestones and payment of royalties we earn from any future products developed under the collaborations.  Our 
ability to secure future revenue-generating agreements will depend upon our ability to address the needs of our potential future 
collaborators and licensees, and to negotiate agreements that we believe are in our long-term best interests.  We may determine, WW
as we have with certain of our drug candidates, including XERMELO in the United States and Japan, that our interests are 
better served by retaining rights to our discoveries and advancing our therapeutic programs to a later stage, which could limit 
our near-term revenues and increase expenses.  Because of these and other factors, our operating results have fluctuated in the 
past and are likely to do so in the future, and we do not believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are a 
good indication of our future performance.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses and, as of December 31, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit 
of $1.5 billion. Our losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in research and development, selling, general and 
administrative costs associated with our operations, and non-cash stock-based compensation expenses associated with stock 
options and restricted stock granted to employees and consultants.  Research and development expenses consist primarily of 
salaries and related personnel costs, external research costs related to our nonclinical and clinical efforts, material costs, facilityff
costs, depreciation on property and equipment, and other expenses related to our drug discovery and development programs. 
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, sales and 
marketing, and administrative personnel, professional fees and other corporate expenses, including information technology,yy
facilities costs and general legal activities. We expect to continue to incur significant research and development costs in WW
connection with the continuing development of our drug candidates.  As a result, we will need to generate significantly higher 
revenues to achieve profitability.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we identified errors in our previously issued financial statements for the 
interim and annual periods prior to the quarter ended December 31, 2018 related to the recognition of research and 
development expense and accrued liabilities for our inTandem1, inTTT andem2 and inTTT andem3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin.  TT We WW
recognized research and development expense based on our estimates of clinical trial costs, but in 2018 we determined that the 
design of our controls were not sufficiently precise to prevent the overstatement of estimated pass-through costs recorded in the ff
clinical trial expense accrual.  In December 2018, we were notified by the third party vendor performing such clinical trials that 
the aggregate pass-through costs payable by us with respect to such clinical trials would be $19.0 million less than previously 
estimated.  As a result, our accruals of expenses for such clinical trials were overstated by such amount.  

We assessed the materiality of these errors in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission StafWW f ff
Accounting Bulletins No. 99, Materiality and No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior ff Year Misstatements when QuantifyingYY
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”), using both the rollover method and the iron curtain method, YY
as defined in SAB 108. We concluded that the errors, including other adjustments discussed belowWW , were immaterial to prior ww
years but, if corrected in the current year, would have been material to the current year. Under SAB 108, such prior year 
misstatements must be corrected by adjusting the prior year financial statements if such corrections would be material to the 
current year if made in the current year.  Correcting prior year financial statements for such immaterial misstatements does not 
require previously filed reports to be amended.

In addition to the adjustments related to research and development expense and accrued liabilities for the inTandem1,TT
inTandem2 and inTTT andem3 clinical trials, we recorded other adjustments related to the years ended December 31, 2016 and TT
2015 and the quarterly periods in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 to correct for immaterial errors related to research
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and development and selling, general and administrative expense. These other adjustments were not previously recorded in the 
appropriate periods, as we concluded that they were immaterial to our previously issued consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

     Revenue Recognition

Product rr Revenues

Product revenues consist of commercial sales of XERMELO in the United States and sales of bulk tablets of 
XERMELO to Ipsen.  Product revenues are recognized when the customer obtains control of the Company’s product, which
occurs upon delivery to the customer. The Company recognizes product revenue net of applicable reserves for variable 
consideration, including allowances for customer credits, estimated rebates, chargebacks, discounts, returns, distribution service
fees, and government rebates, such as Medicare Part D coverage gap reimbursements in the United States, as discussed below.
The Company’s net product revenues reflect the Company’s best estimates of the amounts of consideration to which it is
entitled based on the terms of the respective underlying contracts.  Product shipping and handling costs are considered a 
fulfillment activity when control transfers to the Company’s customers and such costs are included in cost of sales.

Customer Credits:  Our specialty pharmacy customers are offered various forms of consideration, including ff
allowances, service fees and prompt payment discounts. We expect that the specialty pharmacies will earn prompt payment WW
discounts. As a result, we deduct the full amount of those discounts from total product sales when revenues are recognized.  
Service fees are also deducted from product sales as they are earned.

Rebates: Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program.  Rebate 
amounts are based upon contractual agreements or legal requirements with public sector (e.g., Medicaid) benefit providers.  
Rebates are amounts owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant and are based upon contractual 
agreements or legal requirements with public sector benefit providers.  The allowance for rebates is based on statutory discount 
rates and expected utilization.  Our estimates for expected utilization of rebates are based on third party market research data
and data received from the specialty pharmacies.  Rebates are generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance 
consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance for yy
known unpaid rebates from the prior quarter.  If actual future rebates vary from estimates, we may need to adjust prior period 
accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of adjustment.ff

Chargebacks:  Chargebacks are discounts that occur when contracted customers purchase directly from a specialty 
pharmacy.  Contracted customers, which currently consist primarily of Public Health Service Institutions, non-profit clinics, 
and federal government entities purchasing via the Federal Supply Schedule, generally purchase the product at a discounted 
price. The specialty pharmacies, in turn, charge back us the difference between the price initially paid by the specialty ff
pharmacies and the discounted price paid to the specialty pharmacies by the customer. The allowance for chargeback is based 
on known sales to contracted customers.

Medicare Part D Coverage Gap:  The Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit mandates manufacturers to fund 50%
of the Medicare Part D insurance coverage gap for prescription drugs sold to eligible patients.  Our estimates for the expected 
Medicare Part D coverage gap are based on data received from the specialty pharmacies.  Funding of the coverage gap is 
generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred 
for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance for known prior quarters.  If actual future funding varies fromyy
estimates, we may need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenues in the period of adjustment.ff

Co-payment assistance:  Patients who have commercial insurance and meet certain eligibility requirements may
receive co-payment assistance. We accrue a liability for co-payment assistance based on actual program participation and WW
estimates of program redemption using data provided by third-party administrators.

Collaborative Agrg eementsrr

Revenues under collaborative agreements include both license revenue and contract research revenue.  We perform the WW
following five steps in determining the amount of revenue to recognize as it fulfills its performance obligations under each of 
its agreements:  (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligation in the contract; (iii)
determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract, and (v)
recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation.  We apply this five-step model to contracts when it isWW
probable that we will collect the consideration to which we are entitled in exchange for the goods or services we transfer to the 



43

customer. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract and determine those that are
performance obligations, and assess whether each promised good or service is distinct. We then recognize as revenue the WW
amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance
obligation is satisfied. We develop assumptions that require judgment to determine the stand-alone selling price for each WW
performance obligation identified in the contract.

At contract inception, we evaluate whether development milestones are considered probable of being reached and 
estimate the amount to be included in the transaction price using the most likely amount method.  If it is probable that a 
significant revenue reversal will not occur, the associated development milestone value is included in the transaction price. 
Development milestones that are not within our control or the control of our licensee, including those requiring regulatory 
approval, are not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received.  The transaction price is allocated to 
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which we recognize revenue when (or as) the
performance obligation is satisfied.  At the end of each reporting period, we re-evaluate the probability of achievement of the
development milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjust our estimates of the overall transaction price.  yy Any 
such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect collaboration revenues in the period of ff
adjustment.

In agreements in which a license to our intellectual property is determined distinct from other performance obligations
identified in the agreement, we recognize revenue when the license is transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use
and benefit from the license.  

For agreements that include sales-based royalties, including milestones based on a level of sales, the license is deemed 
to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate and we recognize revenue at the later of (i) when the related sales occur 
or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied).

We may receive payments from our licensees based on billing schedules established in each contract.  Up-front WW
payments and fees are recorded as deferred revenue upon receipt or when due, and may require deferral of revenue recognition 
to a future period until we perform our obligations under these agreements.  Amounts are recorded as accounts receivable when 
our right to consideration is unconditional.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for research and development activities solely sponsored 
by us as well as collaborative research and development activities. These costs include direct and research-related overhead 
expenses and are expensed as incurred. Technology license fees for technologies that are utilized in research and development TT
and have no alternative future use are expensed when incurred.

We are presently devoting most of our resources to the commercialization or development of our four most advanced WW
drug programs:

• XERMELO (telotristat ethyl), an orally-delivered small molecule drug that we are commercializing for carcinoid 
syndrome diarrhea and developing for biliary tract cancer;

• Sotagliflozin, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate that we are developing as a treatment for type 1 and 
type 2 diabetes;

• LX9211, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, that we are developing as a treatment for neuropathic
pain; and

• LX2761, an orally-delivered small molecule drug candidate, that we are developing as a treatment for diabetes.

Compounds from our most advanced drug programs, as well as compounds from a number of additional drug 
discovery and development programs that we have advanced into various stages of clinical and preclinical development, 
originated from our own internal drug discovery efforts.ff These efforts were driven by a systematic, tarff get biology-driven 
approach in which we used gene knockout technologies and an integrated platform of advanced medical technologies to 
systematically study the physiological and behavioral functions of almost 5,000 genes in mice and assessed the utility of the 
proteins encoded by the corresponding human genes as potential drug targets. We have identified and validated in living WW
animals, or in vivo, more than 100 targets with promising profiles for drug discovery.
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The drug development process takes many years to complete.  The cost and length of time varies due to many factors 
including the type, complexity and intended use of the drug candidate.  We estimate that drug development activities are WW
typically completed over the following periods:

Phase Estimated Completion Period
Preclinical development 1-2 years
Phase 1 clinical trials 1-2 years
Phase 2 clinical trials 1-2 years
Phase 3 clinical trials 2-4 years

We expect research and development costs to remain substantial in the future as we continue to fund our nonclinical WW
and clinical development efforts and advance new drug candidates into clinical development.  Due to the variability in theff
length of time necessary for drug development, the uncertainties related to the cost of these activities and ultimate ability to
obtain governmental approval for commercialization, accurate and meaningful estimates of the ultimate costs to bring our 
potential drug candidates to market are not available. 

We record significant accrued liabilities related to unbilled expenses for products or services that we have received WW
from service providers, specifically related to ongoing nonclinical studies and clinical trials.  These costs primarily relate to 
clinical study management, monitoring, laboratory and analysis costs, drug supplies, toxicology studies and investigator 
grants.  We have multiple drugs in concurrent nonclinical studies and clinical trials at clinical sites throughout the world.  In WW
order to ensure that we have adequately provided for ongoing nonclinical and clinical development costs during the period in 
which we incur such costs, we maintain accruals to cover these expenses.  Substantial portions of our nonclinical studies and 
clinical trials are performed by third-party laboratories, medical centers, contract research organizations and other vendors.  For 
nonclinical studies, we accrue expenses based upon estimated percentage of work completed and the contract milestones
remaining.  For clinical studies, expenses are accrued based upon the number of patients enrolled and the duration of the study.  
We monitor patient enrollment, the progress of clinical studies and related activities to the extent possible through internal WW
reviews of data reported to us by the vendors and clinical site visits.  Our estimates depend on the timeliness and accuracy of 
the data provided by our vendors regarding the status of each program and total program spending.  We periodically evaluate WW
the estimates to determine if adjustments are necessary or appropriate based on information we receive.  Although we use
consistent milestones or subject or patient enrollment to drive expense recognition, the assessment of these costs is a subjective 
process that requires judgment.  Upon settlement, these costs may differ materially from the amounts accrued in our ff
consolidated financial statements.

We record our research and development costs by type or categoryWW , rather than by project.  Significant categories of yy
costs include personnel, facilities and equipment costs and third-party and other services.  In addition, a significant portion of 
our research and development expenses is not tracked by project as it benefits multiple projects. Consequently, fully-loaded yy
research and development cost summaries by project are not available.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

We recognize compensation expense in our statements of comprehensive loss for share-based payments, includingWW
stock options and restricted stock units issued to employees, based on their fair values on the date of the grant, with the
compensation expense recognized over the period in which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the 
stock award.  Stock-based compensation expense for awards without performance conditions is recognized on a straight-line 
basis.  Stock-based compensation expense for awards with performance conditions is recognized over the period from the date 
the performance condition is determined to be probable of occurring through the time the applicable condition is met. We had WW
stock-based compensation expense of $11.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, or $0.11 per share.  As of 
December 31, 2018, stock-based compensation cost for all outstanding unvested options and restricted stock units was $22.3 
million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of 1.2 years.

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  For 
purposes of determining the fair value of stock options, we segregate our options into two homogeneous groups, based on 
exercise and post-vesting employment termination behaviors, resulting in different assumptions used for expected optionff
lives.  Historical data is used to estimate the expected option life for each group.  Expected volatility is based on the historical 
volatility in our stock price.  The following weighted-average assumptions were used for options granted in the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively:
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Expected
Volatility

Risk-free
Interest Rate

Expected
TermTT

Dividend
Rate

December 31, 2018:
Employees 58% 2.6% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 63% 2.8% 8 0%
December 31, 2017:
Employees 61% 1.7% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 70% 2.2% 8 0%
December 31, 2016:
Employees 63% 1.1% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 83% 1.6% 8 0%

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill. yy We regularly review WW
long-lived assets for impairment.  The recoverability of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, is measured by comparing the 
assets carrying amount to the expected undiscounted future cash flows that the asset is expected to generate.  Determining
whether an impairment has occurred typically requires various estimates and assumptions, including determining which cash
flows are directly related to the potentially impaired asset, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, their amount, and 
the asset's residual value, if any.  We use internal cash flow estimates, quoted market prices when available and independent WW
appraisals as appropriate to determine fair value.  We derive the required cash flow estimates from our historical experience and WW
our internal business plans and apply an appropriate discount rate.  There were no significant impairments of long-lived assets 
in 2018, 2017 or 2016. 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, composed primarily of in-process research and development, or IPR&D, projects 
acquired in business combinations which have not reached technological feasibility, are reviewed annually for impairment and yy
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Estimating future cash 
flows of an IPR&D product candidate for purposes of an impairment analysis requires us to make significant estimates and 
assumptions regarding the amount and timing of costs to complete the project and the amount, timing and probability of 
achieving revenues from the completed product similar to how the acquisition date fair value of the project was determined.    

Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested at least annually for impairment at the reporting unit level.  We haveWW
determined that the reporting unit is the single operating segment disclosed in our current financial statements.  Impairment is
the condition that exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.  The first step in the impairment 
process is to determine the fair value of the reporting unit and then compare it to the carrying value, including goodwill.  We WW
determined that the market capitalization approach is the most appropriate method of measuring fair value of the reporting
unit.  Under this approach, fair value is calculated as the average closing price of our common stock for the 30 days preceding 
the date that the annual impairment test is performed, multiplied by the number of outstanding shares on that date.  A control A
premium, which is representative of premiums paid in the marketplace to acquire a controlling interest in a company, is thenyy
added to the market capitalization to determine the fair value of the reporting unit.  If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, 
no further action is required and no impairment loss is recognized.  Additional impairment assessments may be performed on
an interim basis if we encounter events or changes in circumstances that would indicate that, more likely than not, the carrying
value of goodwill has been impaired.  There was no impairment of goodwill in 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Business Combinations

We allocate the purchase price of acquired businesses to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilitiesWW
assumed based upon their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The purchase price allocation process requires 
management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at acquisition date with respect to intangible assets and 
in-process research and development.

These assumptions are based in part on historical experience and are inherently uncertain.  Examples of critical 
estimates in valuing certain of the intangible assets we have acquired or may acquire in the future include but are not limited to: 
the feasibility and timing of achievement of development, regulatory and commercial milestones; expected costs to develop the 
in-process research and development into commercially viable products; and future expected cash flows from product sales.
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In connection with the purchase price allocations for acquisitions, we estimate the fair value of the contingent 
payments. The estimated fair value of any contingent payments is determined utilizing a probability-based income approach 
inclusive of an estimated discount rate.

Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, ff
estimates or actual results.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for a discussion
of the impact of new accounting standards on our consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations – Comparison of Years EndedYY December 31, 2018r , 2017 and 2016

The following analysis of our operating results contains corrections of errors identified in previously reported amounts. See Note 
2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for a discussion of the impact 
of such corrections of errors on our consolidated financial statements.

Revenues

Total revenues and dollar and percentage changes as compared to the prior year are as follows (dollar amounts are TT
presented in millions):

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r

2018 2017 2016
Total revenues                                              $ 63.2 $ 91.7 $ 79.3
Dollar increase (decrease)                             $ (28.5) $ 12.4
Percentage increase (decrease) (31)% 16%

Years Ended YY December 31, 2018 and 2017

• Net product rrr evenuesrr – Net product revenue increased 67% in 2018 to $26.6 million, representing a full year of 
revenues recognized from the sale of XERMELO in the United States and sales of bulk tablets of XERMELO to 
Ipsen.  Product revenues are recorded net of estimated product returns, pricing discounts including rebates offered ff
pursuant to mandatory federal and state government programs and chargebacks, prompt pay discounts and distribution
fees and co-pay assistance.  Revenue recognition policies require estimates of the aforementioned sales allowances
each period.

• Collaborative agreementsrr – Revenue from collaborative agreements decreased 52% in 2018 to $36.3 million, 
primarily due to revenues recognized as a result of the timing of clinical trial activities under the collaboration and 
license agreement with Sanofi and decreases in milestone revenues from Ipsen.  Revenues under the Sanofi agreement 
in 2018 were primarily attributable to the funding of our share of type 2 diabetes development expenses. 

• Royalties and other revenuerr  – Revenues from royalties and other revenue increased 99% in 2018 to $0.4 million.

Years Ended YY December 31, 2017 and 7 2016

• Net product rrr evenuesrr – Net product revenue was $15.9 million in 2017, representing revenues recognized from the 
sale of XERMELO in the United States and sales of bulk tablets of XERMELO to Ipsen.  Product revenues are 
recorded net of estimated product returns, pricing discounts including rebates offered pursuant to mandatory federal ff
and state government programs and chargebacks, prompt pay discounts and distribution fees and co-pay assistance. 
Revenue recognition policies require estimates of the aforementioned sales allowances each period.

• Collaborative agreementsrr – Revenue from collaborative agreements decreased 4% in 2017 to $75.6 million, primarily 
due to a decrease in revenues recognized from the collaboration and license agreement with Sanofi, partially offset by ff
increases in milestone revenues recognized in 2017 from the license and collaboration agreement with Ipsen.  
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Revenues under the Sanofi agreement in 2017 and 2016 were primarily attributable to the development activities we 
performed relating to type 1 diabetes, together with funding of our share of type 2 diabetes development expenses. 

• Royalties and other revenuerr  – Revenues from royalties and other revenue increased 15% in 2017 to $0.2 million.

In 2018, two independent specialty pharmacies, Biologics, Inc. and Diplomat Pharmacy, represented yy 25% and 14% of 
revenues, respectively.  In 2017, no customers for XERMELO sales represented more than 10% of revenues. 

In 2018, Sanofi and Ipsen represented 53% and 7% of revenues, respectively.  In 2017, Sanofi and Ipsen represented 
66% and 18% of revenues, respectively.  In 2016, Sanofi and Ipsen represented 90% and 9% of revenues, respectively.

Cost of Sales

Total TT cost of sales and dollar and percentage changes as compared to the prior year are as follows (dollar amounts are 
presented in millions):

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r

2018 2017 2016
Total cost of sales                                             $ 2.5 $ 1.9 $ —
Dollar increase                       $ 0.6 $ 1.9
Percentage increase 31% N/A

Years Ended YY December 31, 2018 and 2017

Cost of sales for 2018 increased 31% in 2018 to $2.5 million.  We began capitalizing inventory in WW 2017 following FDA
approval of XERMELO, as the related costs were expected to be recoverable through the commercialization of the product. 
Costs incurred prior to FDA approval were recorded as research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of A
comprehensive loss.  Cost of sales consists of third-party manufacturing costs, freight and indirect overhead costs associated 
with sales of XERMELO. The pre-commercialized inventory is expected to be sold over approximately the next eighteen 
months.  As a result, cost of sales will reflect a lower average per unit cost of materials.  Cost of sales in 2018 and 2017
included $1.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of amortization of intangible assets related to XERMELO.yy

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses and dollar and percentage changes as compared to the prior year are as follows 
(dollar amounts are presented in millions):

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r

2018 2017 2016
Total research and development expense $ 100.2 $ 152.2 $ 164.0
Dollar decrease $ (52.0) $ (11.8)
Percentage decrease (34)% (7)%

Research and development expenses consist primarily of third-party and other services principally related to 
nonclinical and clinical development activities, salaries and other personnel-related expenses, facility and equipment costs and 
stock-based compensation.

Years Ended YY December 31, 2018 and 2017

• Third-party and other services –rr Third-party and other services decreased 45% in 2018 to $63.8 million, primarily due 
to decreases in our external clinical development costs relating to sotagliflozin.  Third-party and other services relate 
principally to our clinical trial and related development activities, such as nonclinical and clinical studies and contract 
manufacturing. 

• Personnel – Personnel costs– decreased 4% in 2018 to $21.2 million, primarily due to lower incentive compensation.  
Salaries, bonuses, employee benefits, payroll taxes, recruiting and relocation costs are included in personnel costs.
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• Stock-based compensation – Stock-based compensation expense– increased 23% in 2018 to $6.0 million, primarily due 
to a shorter vesting period of the annual restricted stock unit awards granted in 2018.

• Facilities and equipment – Facilities and equipment costs– decreased 6% in 2018 to $2.8 million.

• Other – Other costs– increased 10% in 2018 to $6.4 million.

Years Ended YY December 31, 2017 and 7 2016

• Third-party and other services –rr Third-party and other services decreased 12% in 2017 to $116.5 million, primarily
due to decreases in our external clinical development costs relating to sotagliflozin. 

• Personnel – Personnel costs– increased 17% in 2017 to $22.1 million, primarily due to increases in personnel. 

• Stock-based compensation – Stock-based compensation expense– increased 25% in 2017 to $4.9 million.

• Facilities and equipment – Facilities and equipment costs– decreased 11% in 2017 to $3.0 million.

• Other – Other costs– increased 3% in 2017 to $5.8 million.  

Increase (Decrease) in Fair Value VV of Symphony Icon Liability

The fair value of the Symphony Icon purchase liability increased by $2.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
and decreased by d $0.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, respectively (see Note 10, Arrangements with Symphony 
Icon, Inc., of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for more information). 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses and dollar and percentage changes as compared to the prior year are as 
follows (dollar amounts are presented in millions):

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r

2018 2017 2016
Total selling, general and administrative expense $ 63.8 $ 66.1 $ 43.2
Dollar increase (decrease) $ (2.3) $ 22.9
Percentage increase (decrease) (4)% 53%

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs to support the commercialization of 
XERMELO and our research and development activities, professional and consulting fees, stock-based compensation expense,
and facility and equipment costs.

Years Ended YY December 31, 2018 and 2017

• Personnel – Personnel costs decreased 7% in 2018 to $28.0 million, primarily due to lower incentive compensation and 
benefit costs. Salaries, bonuses, employee benefits, payroll taxes, recruiting and relocation costs are included in personnel 
costs.

• Professional and consulting feesrr  – Professional and consulting fees decreased 3% in 2018 to $20.2 million, primarily 
due to lower marketing costs.

• Stock-based compensation – Stock-based compensation expense increased 24% in 2018 to $5.7 million, primarily due 
to a shorter vesting period of the annual restricted unit awards granted in 2018.

• Facilities and equipment – Facilities and equipment costs were comparable in each year at t $2.0 million. 



49

• Other – Other costs– decreased 9% in 2018 to $7.9 million, primarily due to decreases in training, travel costs, and 
contributions to charitable foundations.

Years Ended YY December 31, 2017 and 7 2016

• Personnel – Personnel costs increased 84% in 2017 to $30.0 million, primarily due to increases in personnel, including 
increases in sales and marketing personnel, in connection with commercialization of XERMELO. 

• Professional rr and consulting fees – Professional and consulting fees increased 13% in 2017 to $20.8 million, primarily 
due to increases in legal and patent fees, as well as marketing and consulting costs in connection with commercialization 
of XERMELO.

• Stock-based compensation – Stock-based compensation expense increased 30% in 2017 to $4.6 million, primarily due 
to awards granted to sales and marketing personnel.

• Facilities and equipment – Facilities and equipment costst increased 27% in 2017 to $1.9 million.

• Other – Other costs– increased 161% in 2017 to $8.7 million, primarily due to travel and contributions to charitable 
foundations.

Interest Expense and Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest Expenserr .  Interest expense increased 197% in 2018 to $20.8 million from $7.0 million in 2017, due to a loan
agreement completed in December 2017.  Interest expense increased 6% in 2017 from $6.6 million in 2016.

Interest rr and Other Income (Expense), Net.  Interest and other income, net was $3.5 million, $2.0 million, and $2.3 million
in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.  

Income Tax BenefitTT

The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $12.7 million (see Note 7, Income Taxes of the TT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for more information).  There was no income tax expense or benefit in 2018 or 
2016.  

Net Loss and Loss per Common Share

Net loss decreased to d $120.5 million in 2018 from $123.0 million in 2017 and $131.4 million in 2016.  Net loss per 
common share was $1.14 in 2018, $1.17 in 2017, and $1.27 in 2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations from inception primarily through sales of common and preferred stock, contract and WW
milestone payments we received under our strategic and other collaborations, target validation, database subscription and 
technology license agreements, product sales, government grants and contracts, and financing under debt and lease
arrangements.  We have also financed certain of our research and development activities under our agreements with Symphony WW
Icon, Inc.  From our inception through December 31, 2018, we had received net proceeds of $1.5 billion from issuances of 
common and preferred stock and convertible debt.  In addition, from our inception through December 31, 2018, we received 
$868.9 million in cash payments from strategic and other collaborations, target validation, database subscription and 
technology license agreements, product sales, sales of compound libraries and reagents, and government grants and contracts,
of which $831.8 million had been recognized as revenues through December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $160.1 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. As of 
December 31, 2017, we had $310.8 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. We used cash of WW $148.6 
million in operations in 2018. This consisted primarily of the net loss for the year of $120.5 million and a net decrease in other 
operating liabilities net of assets of $44.8 million, partially offset by non-cash charff ges of $11.7 million related to stock-based 
compensation expense and $5.0 million related to depreciation and amortization expense, including amortization of debt 
issuance costs.  Investing activities provided cash of $169.6 million in 2018, primarily due to net maturities of investments of 
$169.7 million.  Financing activities used cash of $2.2 million, representing repayments of $14.5 million to debt borrowings, 
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partially offset by receipt of debt proceeds of ff $12.5 million, net of debt issuance costs.  Cash was also used to repurchase $1.0 
million of common stock.

Texas Institute for Genomic Medicine.TT   In July 2005, we received an award from the Texas Enterprise Fund for the TT
creation of a knockout mouse embryonic stem cell library containing 350,000 cell lines for the Texas Institute for Genomic TT
Medicine, or TIGM, using our proprietary gene trapping technology, which we completed in 2007.  yy We also equipped WW TIGM 
with the bioinformatics software required for the management and analysis of data relating to the library.  The Texas Enterprise TT
Fund made an additional award to the TexasTT A&M University System for the creation of facilities and infrastructure to house 
the library.

Under the terms of our award, we were responsible for the creation of a specified number of jobs. We receive credits WW
against this job obligation based on funding received by TIGM and certain related parties from sources other than the State of 
Texas.  Subject to these credits, the State may require us to repay $2,415 for each job we fall short.  TT We have evaluated our WW
performance obligation and have concluded that such credits are sufficient to fully offf fset our job obligation; howeverff , our 
maximum aggregate exposure for such payments is approximately $14.2 million, without giving effect to any credits to which ff
we may be entitled.

Facilities.  In August 2018, our subsidiary Lex-Gen Woodlands, L.PWW . entered into a term loan and security agreement PP
refinancing the previously existing mortgage on our facilities in The Woodlands,WW Texas. TT The loan agreement provides for a 
$12.9 million mortgage on the property and has a two-year term with a 10-year amortization. The mortgage loan bears interest 
at a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 5.5% and (b) 7.5% and provides for a balloon 
payment of $10.3 million due in August 2020.

In March 2015, our subsidiary Lexicon Pharmaceuticals (New Jersey), Inc. leased a 25,000 square-foot office space inff
Basking Ridge, New Jersey.  The term of the lease extends from June 1, 2015 through December 31, 2022, and provides for 
escalating yearly base rent payments starting at $482,000 and increasing to $646,000 in the final year of the lease.  

Including the lease and debt obligations described above, we had incurred the following contractual obligations as of 
December 31, 2018:

Payments due by period (in millions)

Contractual Obligations Total
Less than 1

year 2-3 years 4-5 years
More than 5

years

Debt $ 249.9 $ 1.3 $ 98.6 $ 150.0 $ —

Interest payment obligations 69.2 19.2 36.8 13.2 —

Operating leases 2.6 0.6 1.3 0.7 —

TotalTT $ 321.7 $ 21.1 $ 136.7 $ 163.9 $ —

Our future capital requirements will be substantial and will depend on many factors, including the success of our sales,
marketing, distribution and other commercialization activities for XERMELO in the United States and the revenues we 
generate from that approved product; the success of Ipsen’s sales, marketing, distribution and other commercialization activities
for XERMELO outside of the United States and Japan; our and Sanofi’s ability to obtain regulatory approval for the marketing 
and sales of sotagliflozin for type 1 diabetes; our and Sanofi’s ability to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin for type 1 
diabetes, if approved; the progress and scope of Sanofi’s development activities with respect to sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes
patients and Sanofi’s ability to successfully commercialize sotagliflozin for type 2 diabetes, if approved; the timing, progress 
and results of clinical trials of telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211 and LX2761; the amount and timing of payments, if any, yy
under our existing collaboration agreements with Sanofi, Ipsen and other entities; the amount and timing of our research, 
development and commercialization expenditures; the resources we devote to developing and supporting our products and 
other factors.  Our capital requirements will also be affected by any expenditures we make in connection with license ff
agreements and acquisitions of and investments in complementary technologies and businesses.  We expect to continue toWW
devote substantial capital resources to commercialize XERMELO; to seek regulatory approval and prepare for 
commercialization in the United States for sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes; to our nonclinical and clinical development effortsff
with respect to telotristat ethyl, sotagliflozin, LX9211, LX2761 and our other drug candidates; and for other general corporate
activities.  We believe that our current unrestricted cash and investment balances and cash and revenues we expect to derive WW
from strategic and other collaborations and other sources will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next 12 ff
months.  During or after this period, if cash generated by operations is insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we will ff
need to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain additional credit arrangements.  Additional financing may not be 
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available on terms acceptable to us or at all. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities may result in additional 
dilution to our stockholders.

Disclosure about Market Risk

We are exposed to limited market and credit risk on our cash equivalents which have maturities of three months or less WW
at the time of purchase.  We maintain a short-term investment portfolio which consists of U.S. WW Treasury bills and corporate debt TT
securities that mature three to 12 months from the time of purchase, which we believe are subject to limited market and credit 
risk. We currently do not hedge interest rate exposure or hold any derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio.WW

We had approximately WW $160.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31, 
2018. We believe that the working capital available to us will be sufWW ficient to meet our cash requirements for at least the next ff
12 months.

We have operated primarily in the United States and substantially all sales to date have been made in U.S. dollars.WW
Accordingly, we have not had any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations.yy

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

See “Disclosure about Market Risk” under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” for quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this Item are incorporated under Item 15 in Part IV of this report.V

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial offf ficerff , has evaluated 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securitiesff
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, and as described below, ww
management identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting relating to the design of our controls
to prevent overstatement of estimated pass-through costs recorded in our clinical trial expense accruals.  Internal control over 
financial reporting is an integral component of our disclosure controls and procedures.  As a result of this material weakness,
our principal executive officer and principal financial offf ficer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were ff
not effective as of December 31, 2018 to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under ff
the Securities Exchange Act is gathered, analyzed and disclosed with adequate timeliness, accuracy and completeness.

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportingr

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act).

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become ff
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of ff December 31, 
2018.  In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission inT Internal Control-Integrated Framework rr (2013 Framework).

Based on such assessment using those criteria, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal 
control over financial reporting was not effective due to a material weakness in the design of our controls to prevent ff
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overstatement of estimated pass-through costs recorded in our clinical trial expense accruals.  In December 2018, we were 
notified by the third party vendor performing our three Phase 3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes that the
aggregate pass-through costs payable by us with respect to such clinical trials would be $19.0 million less than previously
estimated. As a result, our accruals of expenses for such clinical trials were overstated by such amount.  Upon review, we ww
determined that we did not design or maintain adequate controls and procedures to review the estimates provided by such third 
party vendors and identify any shortfall in estimated pass-through costs. This material weakness resulted in a cumulative
accounting error and misstatements in our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 
2017.  Management has concluded that correction of the cumulative accounting error in 2018 would have materially misstated 
the 2018 financial statements, but was not material to any of our previously issued consolidated financial statements, and 
therefore, did not require our previously filed reports to be amended.  However, because correcting the cumulative accounting 
errors in 2018 would have resulted in a material misstatement of the 2018 financial statements, the financial statements for 
2016 and 2017 and the interim financial statements in 2017 and 2018 have been revised in this annual report on Form 10-K.  
The corrections of prior year financial statements for 2015 are reflected in the opening balance of retained earnings as of 
January 1, 2016. 

Our independent auditors have also audited our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 as
stated in the audit report which appears on page F-2 and is incorporated under Item 15 in Part IV of this report.V

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportingr

Our management is committed to the planning and implementation of remediation efforts to address the materialff
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described above.  These remediation efforts are in process and includeff
a new procedure that we obtain periodic forecasts or reconciliations of clinical trial costs, including pass-through costs, at 
defined points during the conduct of clinical trials and review and evaluate such forecasts or reconciliations in order to assess
our contractual payment obligations.  These remediation efforts are intended both to address the identified material weaknessff
and to enhance our overall financial control environment.  When fully implemented and operational, our management believes 
that these measures will appropriately remediate the material weakness and strengthen our internal control over financial 
reporting.

Subsequent to our evaluation described above, there were no other significant changes in internal controls or other 
factors that could significantly affect internal controls, including any other corrective actions.ff

Item 9B.     Other Information

None.
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PARPP TRR III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governanceff

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from (a) the information appearing under 
the captions “Election of Directors,” “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” “Corporate 
Governance” and “Executive and Director Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of 
directors and is to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2018 and (b) the information appearing under Item 1 in Part I of 
this report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the 
captions “Corporate Governance” and “Executive and Director Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement which 
involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 
120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2018. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with the 
instructions to Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K, the information contained in our proxy statement under the sub-heading
“Compensation Committee Report” shall not be deemed to be filed as part of or incorporated by reference into this annual 
report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the 
captions “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in 
our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2018.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director IndependenceTT

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the 
captions “Corporate Governance” and “Transactions with Related Persons” in our definitive proxy statement which involvesTT
the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120 
days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2018.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item as to the fees we pay our principal accountant is hereby incorporated by
reference from the information appearing under the caption “Ratification and Approval of Independent Auditors” in our 
definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2018.
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PARPP TRR  IV

Item 15.               Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents filed as a part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or because the 
required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description
3.1 — Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report 

on Form 8-K dated April 26, 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).
3.2 — Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the 

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 20, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).
3.3 — Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8 K dated April 26, 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.1 — Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 17, 2007, with Invus, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to thePP

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 17, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.2 — Amendment, dated October 7, 2009, to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 17, 2007, with Invus, 

L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’PP s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 7, 2009 and 
incorporated by reference herein).

4.3 — Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2007, with Invus, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the PP
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 17, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein).

4.4 — Stockholders’Agreement, dated June 17, 2007, with Invus, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’PP s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 17, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein).

4.5 — Supplement to TransactionT Agreements, dated March 15, 2010, with Invus, L.P. and Invus C.VPP . (filed asVV
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2010 and incorporated by 
reference herein).

4.6 — Supplement No. 2 to TransactionT Agreements, dated February 23, 2012, with Invus, L.P. and Invus C.VPP . VV
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 23, 2012 and 
incorporated by reference herein).

4.7 — Indenture related to the 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021, dated as of November 26, 2014, with 
Wells FarWW go Bank, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
November 26, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit No. Description
4.8 — Form of 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 (filed as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’A s

Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 26, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein).
*10.1 — Offer Letterff , dated July 1, 2014, with Lonnel Coats, as amended.
10.2 — Offer Letterff , dated March 10, 2011, with Pablo Lapuerta, M.D. (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011 and incorporated by reference 
herein).

10.3 — Offer Letterff , dated March 23, 2016, with Praveen Tyle, Ph.D. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’TT s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2016 and incorporated by reference
herein).

*10.4 — Offer Letterff , dated March 16, 2015, with Alexander A. Santini, as amended.
10.5 — Employment Agreement with Jeffrey L. ff Wade, J.D.WW  (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-96469) and incorporated by reference herein).
10.6 — Form of Indemnification Agreement with Officers and Directorsff  (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-96469) and incorporated by reference herein).
10.7 — Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K dated April 27, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
10.8 — 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated 

April 27, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
*10.9 — 2017 Non-Employee Directors’ Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.10 — Form of Stock Option Agreement with Officersff  under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 

10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017 and 
incorporated by reference herein).

10.11 — Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement with Officersff  under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as 
Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017 
and incorporated by reference herein).

10.12 — Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant to Directors under the 2017 Non-Employee Directors’ Equity 
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.13 — Collaboration and License Agreement, dated November 5, 2015, with Sanofi (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the period ended December 31, 2015 and incorporated by A
reference herein).

†10.14 — Amendment No. 1, dated July 1, 2017, to Collaboration and License Agreement, dated November 5, 2015, 
with Sanofi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
September 30, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.15 — License and Collaboration Agreement, dated October 21, 2014, with Ipsen Pharma SAS (filed as Exhibit 
10.1 to the amendment to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the period ended A
September 30, 2014, as filed on December 23, 2014, and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.16 — First Amendment, dated March 17, 2015, to License and Collaboration Agreement, dated October 21, 
2014, with Ipsen Pharma SAS (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the period ended March 31, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.17 — Collaboration and License Agreement, dated December 17, 2003, with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 
2015 and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit No. Description
10.18 — First Amendment, dated May 30, 2006, to Collaboration and License Agreement, dated December 17, 

2003, with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.19 — Second Amendment, dated November 2, 2016, to Collaboration and License Agreement, dated December 
17, 2003, with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K dated November 2, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.20 — Second Amended and Restated Collaboration and License Agreement, dated November 30, 2005, with 
Genentech, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.21 — Amendment, dated June 8, 2009, to Second Amended and Restated Collaboration and License Agreement, 
dated November 30, 2005, with Genentech, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K/A dated June 8, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein).A

†10.22 — Commercial Supply Agreement, dated June 6, 2016, with Catalent CTS, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the period ended March 31, 2017 and incorporated by A
reference herein).

†*10.23 — Amendment One to Commercial Supply Agreement, dated April 4, 2018, with Catalent CTS, LLC.
†*10.24 — Amendment Two to Commercial Supply TT Agreement, dated April 27, 2018, with Catalent CTS, LLC.

10.25 — Economic Development Agreement, dated July 15, 2005, with the State of Texas and theTT TexasTT A&M
University System (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period 
ended September 30, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.26 — Amendment, dated April 30, 2008, to Economic Development Agreement, dated July 15, 2005, with the
State of Texas and theTT TexasTT A&M University System (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated April 30, 2008 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.27 — Term Loan and Security TT Agreement, dated August 30, 2018, between Lex-Gen Woodlands, L.PWW . and PP
Revere Credit Opportunities Fund III, LP (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’P s Current Report on Form 
8-K dated August 30, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein).

†10.28 — Loan Agreement, dated December 4, 2017, with BioPharma Credit PLC and BioPharma Credit 
Investments IV Sub LPV  (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’P s Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
December 4, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).

21.1 — Subsidiaries (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).

*23.1 — Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
*24.1 — Power of Attorney (contained in signature page).
*31.1 — Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ff Act of 2002.
*31.2 — Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ff Act of 2002.
*32.1 — Certification of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers Pursuant to Section 906 of the ff

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*101.INS — XBRL Instance Document.

*101.SCH — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
*101.CAL — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
*101.DEF — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*101.LAB — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
*101.PRE — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.TT

_____________________

* Filed herewith.
† Confidential treatment has been requested for a portion of this exhibit.  The confidential portions of this exhibit have been

omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Date: March 15, 2019 By: /s/ LONNEL COAL TSAA

Lonnel Coats
President and Chief Executive Officerrr

Date: March 15, 2019 By: /s/ JEFFREY L. Y WADEWW
Jeffrey L.ff WadeWW
Executive Vice PrVV esident, Corporate andrr
Administrative Affairs and Chief Financial Officer

Power of r Attorney
KNOW ALL PERSONS BYL THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 

appoints Lonnel Coats and Jeffrey L.ff Wade, or either of them, each with the power of substitution, his or her attorney-in-fact, toWW
sign any amendments to this Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, here ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact,
or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ LONNEL COATSAA President, Chief Executive Officer and Directorff
(Principal Executive Officer)ff

March 15, 2019
Lonnel Coats

/s/ JEFFREY L.Y WADEWW Executive Vice President, Corporate and
Administrative Affairs and Chief Financial Offf ficerff
(Principal Financial Officer)ff

March 15, 2019
Jeffrey L.ff WadeWW

/s/ JAMES F. TESSMER Vice President, Finance and VV Accounting
(Principal Accounting Officer)ff

March 15, 2019
James F. Tessmer

/s/ RAYMOND DEBBANEAA Chairman of the Board of Directors March 15, 2019
Raymond Debbane

/s/ PHILIPPE J. AMOUYALYY Director March 15, 2019
Philippe J. Amouyal

/s/ SAMUEL L. BARKER Director March 15, 2019
Samuel L. Barker, Ph.D.

/s/ ROBERTRR  J. LEFKOWITZT Director March 15, 2019
Robert J. Lefkowitz, M.D.

/s/ ALAN S. NIES Director March 15, 2019
Alan S. Nies, M.D.

/s/ FRANK P. PALANTPP ONI Director March 15, 2019
Frank P. Palantoni

/s/ CHRISTOPHER J. SOBECKI Director March 15, 2019
Christopher J. Sobecki

/s/ JUDITH L. SWAINWW Director March 15, 2019
Judith L. Swain, M.D.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:TT

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) as of WW
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders' (deficit) equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material yy
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanyWW Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommissionTT
(2013 framework) and our report dated March 15, 2019 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

Adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for accounting for revenues
in 2018 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customersrr .

Basis for Opinionr

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are WW
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.WW Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. WW

/s/ Ernst & Young LLPYY P

We have served as the Company’WW s auditor since 2002.

Houston, TexasTT

March 15, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:TT

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reportingr

We have audited Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’WW s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, because of the efT fect of the material weakness ff
described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) has 
not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.ff

A material weakness is a deficiencyA , or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that thereyy
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s
assessment. Management has identified a material weakness in controls related to the Company’s clinical trial expense accrual
process.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public CompanyWW Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders' (deficit) equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 
This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 
2018 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 15, 2019, which expressed an ff
unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinionr

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for itsff
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report ff
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be WW
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.WW Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all ff
material respects.  

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and ff
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a WW
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reportingr

A company’A s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’A s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. ff

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate ff
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLPYY

Houston, TexasTT

March 15, 2019
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Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)r

As of December 31,

2018 2017
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 80,386 $ 61,661
Short-term investments 79,666 249,127
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4 5,924 4,825
Inventory 4,680 1,948
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,668 4,434

Total current assets 173,324 321,995
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $60,006 and

$58,623, respectively 15,865 17,687
Goodwill 44,543 44,543
Other intangible assets 50,119 51,885
Other assets 285 429

Total assets $ 284,136 $ 436,539
Liabilities and Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 17,759 $ 38,762
Accrued liabilities 14,482 12,282
Current portion of deferred revenue 3,395 40,351
Current portion of long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs 1,115 14,094

Total current liabilities 36,751 105,489
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 23,651 24,903
Long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs 243,887 231,576
Deferred tax liabilities 6,014 6,014
Other long-term liabilities 238 292

Total liabilities 310,541 368,274
Commitments and contingencies
Equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 225,000 shares authorized; 106,162 and 105,711 shares

issued, respectively 106 106
Additional paid-in capital 1,447,954 1,435,526
Accumulated deficit (1,471,577) (1,365,241)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (12) (222)
Treasury stock, at cost, 236 and 122 shares, respectivelyT (2,876) (1,904)

Total (deficit) equityTT (26,405) 68,265
Total liabilities and (deficit) equityTT $ 284,136 $ 436,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.rr
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Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except per sharr e amounts)

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r

2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Net product revenue $ 26,583 $ 15,890 $ —
Collaborative agreements 36,271 75,621 79,101
Royalties and other revenue 355 178 155

Total revenues 63,209 91,689 79,256
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales (including finite-lived intangible asset amortization) 2,491 1,899 —
Research and development, including stock-based compensation of

$6,010, $4,905 and $3,938, respectively 100,243 152,223 163,973
Increase (decrease) in fair value of Symphony Icon, Inc. purchase

liability — 2,101 (703)
Selling, general and administrative, including stock-based

compensation of $5,686, $4,567 and $3,514, respectively 63,754 66,090 43,157
Total operating expensesTT 166,488 222,313 206,427

Loss from operations (103,279) (130,624) (127,171)
Interest expense (20,777) (6,984) (6,567)
Interest and other income, net 3,508 1,954 2,293
Net loss before taxes (120,548) (135,654) (131,445)
Income tax benefit — 12,661 —
Net loss $ (120,548) $ (122,993) $ (131,445)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (1.14) $ (1.17) $ (1.27)

Shares used in computing net loss per common share, basic and diluted 105,830 105,237 103,863

Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 210 (27) 24

Comprehensive loss $ (120,338) $ (123,020) $ (131,421)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.rr
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Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated pComprehensive TrTT yeasury
Shares Par Value Capitalp Deficit Gain (Loss) Stock TotalTT

Balance at December 31, 2015 103,860 $ 104 $ 1,397,646 $ (1,108,812) $ (219) $ (2,747) $ 285,972
Stock-based compensation — — 7,452 — — — 7,452
Issuance of common stock under Equity Incentive

Plans 722 1 6,124 — — — 6,125
Repurchase of common stock — — — — — (621) (621)
Net loss — — — (131,445) — — (131,445)

Unrealized gain on investments — — — — 24 — 24
Balance at December 31, 2016 104,582 105 1,411,222 (1,240,257) (195) (3,368) 167,507
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principleff — — 1,991 (1,991) — — —
Stock-based compensation — — 9,472 — — — 9,472
Issuance of common stock to designees of Symphony

Icon Holdings LLC 660 — 10,499 — — — 10,499
Issuance of common stock under Equity Incentive

Plans 469 1 5,485 — — — 5,486
Issuance of treasury stock — — (3,143) — — 3,143 —
Repurchase of common stock — — — — — (1,679) (1,679)
Net loss — — — (122,993) — — (122,993)
Unrealized loss on investments — — — — (27) — (27)
Balance at December 31, 2017 105,711 106 1,435,526 (1,365,241) (222) (1,904) 68,265
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principleff — — — 14,212 — — 14,212
Stock-based compensation — — 11,696 — — — 11,696
Issuance of common stock under Equity Incentive

Plans 451 — 732 — — — 732
Repurchase of common stock — — — — — (972) (972)
Net loss — — — (120,548) — — (120,548)
Unrealized gain on investments — — — — 210 — 210
Balance at December 31, 2018 106,162 $ 106 $ 1,447,954 $ (1,471,577) $ (12) $ (2,876) $ (26,405)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.rr
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Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

YearYY  Ended Decemberr  31,r
2018 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (120,548) $ (122,993) $ (131,445)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,683 3,399 2,056
Increase (decrease) in fair value of Symphony Icon, Inc. purchase liability — 2,101 (703)
Stock-based compensation 11,696 9,472 7,452
Loss on disposal of property and equipment — 3 16
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,336 599 527
Deferred tax benefit — (12,661) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (1,099) 166 (4,080)
Increase in inventory (2,732) (1,948) —
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,766 (557) 6,259
(Increase) decrease in other assets 144 33 (32)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities (18,857) (11,875) 13,584
Decrease in deferred revenue                                                                                (23,996) (51,133) (69,262)

Net cash used in operating activities (148,607) (185,394) (175,628)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (95) (228) (231)
Purchases of investments (119,987) (267,873) (425,673)
Maturities of investments                                                                                      289,658 318,623 444,156

Net cash provided by investing activities 169,576 50,522 18,252
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of fees 732 7,987 3,624
Repurchase of common stock (972) (1,679) (621)
Proceeds from debt borrowings, net of fees 12,529 145,905 —
Repayment of debt borrowings (14,533) (2,280) (2,016)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,244) 149,933 987
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 18,725 15,061 (156,389)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                                                                                                 46,600 202,989
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                                                                                          $    0,386  $ 61,661 $ 46,600

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 16,465 $ 5,870 $ 6,050

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued in satisfaction of Symphony Icon payment obligation $ — $ 10,499 $ —
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 210 $ (27) $ 24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.rr
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Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2018r

1. Organization and Operations

Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Lexicon” or the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation incorporated on July 7, 1995.
Lexicon was organized to discover the functions and pharmaceutical utility of genes and use those gene function discoveries in
the discovery and development of pharmaceutical products for the treatment of human disease.

Lexicon has financed its operations from inception primarily through sales of common and preferred stock, contract 
and milestone payments to it under strategic collaborations and other research and development collaborations, target r
validation, database subscription and technology license agreements, product sales, government grants and contracts and 
financing under debt and lease arrangements. The Company’s future success is dependent upon many factors, including, but not 
limited to, its ability to successfully commercialize XERMELO (telotristat ethyl) and any other products which gain regulatory 
approval, develop and obtain regulatory approval for its other drug candidates, achieve milestones under its collaboration 
agreements, establish new collaboration and license agreements, obtain and enforce patents and other proprietary rights in its 
discoveries, comply with federal and state regulations, and maintain sufficient capital to fund its activities.  ff As a result of the
aforementioned factors and the related uncertainties, there can be no assurance of the Company’s future success.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation:rr The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Lexicon and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries.  Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and ff
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.ff

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments:TT  Lexicon considers all highly-liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, short-term 
investments consist of U.S. treasury bills and corporate debt securities. The Company’s short-term investments are classified as
available-for-sale securities and are carried at fair value, based on quoted market prices of the securities.  The Company views
its available-for-sale securities as available for use in current operations regardless of the stated maturity date of the 
security.  Unrealized gains and losses on such securities are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.  Net 
realized gains and losses, interest and dividends are included in interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on the
specific identification method.

Accounts Receivable:  Lexicon records trade accounts receivable in the normal course of business related to the sale of 
products or services.   The allowance for doubtful accounts takes into consideration such factors as historical write-offs, the ff
economic climate and other factors that could affect collectibilityff .  Write-ofWW fs are evaluated on a case by case basis.ff

Inventory:  Inventories are determined at the lower of cost or market value with cost determined under the specific
identification method and may consist of raw materials, work in process and finished goods. Inventory consisted of the 
following as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2018 2017

Raw materials $ 3,564 $ 616
Work-in-process 232 149
Finished goods 884 1,183

Total inventoryTT $ 4,680 $ 1,948
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Concentration of Credit Risk:rr  Lexicon’s cash equivalents, investments and accounts receivable represent potential
concentrations of credit risk. The Company attempts to minimize potential concentrations of risk in cash equivalents and 
investments by placing investments in high-quality financial instruments. The Company’s accounts receivable are unsecured 
and are concentrated in pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies located in Europe and the United States.  The Company
has not experienced any significant credit losses to date.  In 2018, customers in France and the United States represented 60%
and 40% of revenue, respectively.  In 2017, customers in France and the United States represented 83% and 17%, respectively. 
In 2016, customers in France and the United States represented 99% and 1% of revenue, respectively. At December 31, 2018, 
management believes that the Company has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Segment Information and Significant Customers: Lexicon operates in one business segment, which primarily focuses
on the discovery, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products for the treatment of human disease. yy
Substantially all of the Company’s revenues have been derived from drug discovery alliances, target validation collaborations 
for the development and, in some cases, analysis of the physiological effects of genes altered in knockout mice, technology ff
licenses, subscriptions to its databases, product sales, government grants and contracts and compound library sales.  In 2018, 
Sanofi represented 53% of revenues and two independent specialty pharmacies, Biologics, Inc. and Diplomat Pharmacy,yy
represented 25% and 14% of revenues, respectively.  In 2017, Sanofi and Ipsen Pharma SAS (“Ipsen”) represented 66% and 
18% of revenues, respectively.  In 2016, Sanofi represented 90% of revenues.

Other Intangible Assets:  Other intangible assets, net consist of in-process research and development acquired in
business combinations, which are reported at fair value, less accumulated amortization.  Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.  During 2017, intangible assets relating to
XERMELO of $24.7 million were reclassified from indefinite-lived to finite-lived assets following the approval of XERMELO 
by the FDA.  The Company has recorded $1.8 million and $1.5 million in amortization expense related to this asset, which is
recorded as cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 
2018 and 2017, respectively.

Estimated future amortization expense for intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 is as follows:

For the r YearYY  Endingr
December 31r

(in thousands)
2019 $ 1,766
2020 1,766
2021 1,766
2021 1,766
2023 1,766
Thereafter 12,654

$ 21,484

Property and Equipment:rr  Property and equipment that is held and used is carried at cost and depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets which ranges from three to 40 years.  Maintenance, repairs and 
minor replacements are charged to expense as incurred.  Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life or the remaining lease term.  Significant renewals and betterments are capitalized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:  Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to be held and used are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be 
recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to 
future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. There were no impairments of long-
lived assets, including finite-lived intangible assets, in 2018, 2017 or 2016. 

Indefinite lived intangible assets are also tested annually for impairment and whenever indicators of impairment are 
present.  When performing the impairment assessment, the Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is
necessary to recalculate the fair value of its intangible assets.  If management believes, as a result of the qualitative assessment,
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that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the intangible assets is less than its carrying amount, the Company calculates
the asset’s fair value.  If the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value, then the intangible asset is written down to its fair 
value. There were no impairments of indefinite lived intangible assets in 2018, 2017  or 2016.

Goodwill Impairment:  Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested at least annually for impairment at the reporting unit 
level. The Company has determined that the reporting unit is the single operating segment disclosed in its current financial 
statements. Impairment is the condition that exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.  The 
first step in the impairment process is to determine the fair value of the reporting unit and then compare it to the carrying value, 
including goodwill.  If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further action is required and no impairment loss is 
recognized.  Additional impairment assessments may be performed on an interim basis if the Company encounters events or 
changes in circumstances that would indicate that, more likely than not, the carrying value of goodwill has been 
impaired. There was no impairment of goodwill in 2018, 2017 or 2016.

Revenue Recognition:

Product Revenuesrr

Product revenues consist of commercial sales of XERMELO in the United States and sales of bulk tablets of 
XERMELO to Ipsen.  Product revenues are recognized when the customer obtains control of the Company’s product, which
occurs upon delivery to the customer. The Company recognizes product revenue net of applicable reserves for variable 
consideration, including allowances for customer credits, estimated rebates, chargebacks, discounts, returns, distribution service
fees, and government rebates, such as Medicare Part D coverage gap reimbursements in the United States, as discussed below. 
These estimates are based on the most likely amount method for relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory 
requirements, industry data and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Product shipping and handling costs are 
considered a fulfillment activity when control transfers to the Company’s customers and such costs are included in cost of 
sales.

Customer Credits: The Company’s specialty pharmacy customers are offered various forms of consideration, ff
including allowances, service fees and prompt payment discounts. The Company expects that the specialty pharmacies will
earn prompt payment discounts.  As a result, the Company deducts the full amount of those discounts from total product sales
when revenues are recognized.  Service fees are also deducted from product sales as they are earned.

Rebates: Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program.  Rebate 
amounts are based upon contractual agreements or legal requirements with public sector (e.g., Medicaid) benefit providers.  
Rebates are amounts owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant and are based upon contractual 
agreements or legal requirements with public sector benefit providers.  The allowance for rebates is based on statutory discount 
rates and expected utilization. The Company’s estimates for expected utilization of rebates are based on third party market 
research data and data received from the specialty pharmacies.  Rebates are generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the 
accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual yy
balance for known unpaid rebates from the prior quarter.  If actual future rebates vary from estimates, the Company may need 
to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenue in the period of adjustment.ff

Chargebacks:  Chargebacks are discounts that occur when contracted customers purchase directly from a specialty 
pharmacy.  Contracted customers, which currently consist primarily of Public Health Service Institutions, non-profit clinics, 
and federal government entities purchasing via the Federal Supply Schedule, generally purchase the product at a discounted 
price. The specialty pharmacies, in turn, charge back to Lexicon the difference between the price initially paid by the specialty ff
pharmacies and the discounted price paid to the specialty pharmacies by the customer. The allowance for chargeback is based 
on known sales to contracted customers.

Medicare Part D Coverage Gap:  The Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit mandates manufacturers to fund 50%
of the Medicare Part D insurance coverage gap for prescription drugs sold to eligible patients.  The Company’s estimates for 
the expected Medicare Part D coverage gap are based on data received from the specialty pharmacies.  Funding of the coverage 
gap is generally invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be 
incurred for the current quarter’s activity, plus an accrual balance for known prior quarters.  If actual future funding varies fromyy
estimates, the Company may need to adjust prior period accruals, which would affect revenues in the period of adjustment.ff

Co-payment assistance:  Patients who have commercial insurance and meet certain eligibility requirements may
receive co-payment assistance. The Company accrues a liability for co-payment assistance based on actual program 
participation and estimates of program redemption using data provided by third-party administrators.
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Collaborative Agrg eementsrr

Revenues under collaborative agreements include both license revenue and contract research revenue.  The Company 
performs the following five steps in determining the amount of revenue to recognize as it fulfills its performance obligations 
under each of its agreements:  (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligation in the
contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract,
and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies the performance obligation.  The Company applies this five-step
model to contracts when it is probable that the Company will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods 
or services it transfers to the customer.  At contract inception, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within
each contract and determines those that are performance obligations, and assesses whether each promised good or service is
distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective 
performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.  The Company develops assumptions that require
judgment to determine the stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract.

At contract inception, the Company evaluates whether development milestones are considered probable of being 
reached and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the most likely amount method.  If it is probable 
that a significant revenue reversal will not occur, the associated development milestone value is included in the transaction
price.  Development milestones that are not within the control of the Company or the licensee, including those requiring 
regulatory approval, are not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received.  The transaction price is 
allocated to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which the Company recognizes 
revenue when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.  At the end of each reporting period, the Company re-evaluates the 
probability of achievement of the development milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its estimates of yy
the overall transaction price.  Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect ff
collaboration revenues in the period of adjustment.

In agreements in which a license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined distinct from other performance 
obligations identified in the agreement, the Company recognizes revenue when the license is transferred to the licensee and the 
licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. 

For agreements that include sales-based royalties, including milestones based on a level of sales, the license is deemed 
to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company recognizes revenue at the later of (i) when the related 
sales occur, or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or 
partially satisfied).

The Company may receive payments from its licensees based on billing schedules established in each contract.  Up-
front payments and fees are recorded as deferred revenue upon receipt or when due, and may require deferral of revenue 
recognition to a future period until the Company performs its obligations under these agreements.  Amounts are recorded as 
accounts receivable when the Company’s right to consideration is unconditional.

Cost of Sales:  Cost of sales consists of third-party manufacturing costs, freight and indirect overhead costs associated 
with sales of XERMELO. The Company began capitalizing inventory during 2017 once the FDA approved XERMELO as the A
related costs were expected to be recoverable through the commercialization of the product.  Costs incurred prior to approval of 
XERMELO have been recorded as research and development expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 
As a result, cost of sales for approximately the next eighteen months will reflect a lower average per unit cost of materials.  
Product shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. Cost of sales also includes the amortization of the in-process
research and development intangible asset for XERMELO using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 14
years.

Research and Development Expenses:rr  Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for company-
sponsored as well as collaborative research and development activities. These costs include direct and research-related 
overhead expenses and are expensed as incurred.  Technology license fees for technologies that are utilized in research and TT
development and have no alternative future use are expensed when incurred.  Substantial portions of the Company’s preclinical
and clinical trials are performed by third-party laboratories, medical centers, contract research organizations and other vendors.  r
For preclinical studies, the Company accrues expenses based upon estimated percentage of work completed and the contract 
milestones remaining.  For clinical studies, expenses are accrued based upon the number of patients enrolled and the duration 
of the study.  The Company monitors patient enrollment, the progress of clinical studies and related activities to the extent 
possible through internal reviews of data reported to the Company by the vendors and clinical site visits. The Company’s
estimates depend on the timeliness and accuracy of the data provided by the vendors regarding the status of each program and 
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total program spending.  The Company periodically evaluates the estimates to determine if adjustments are necessary or 
appropriate based on information it receives.

Stock-Based Compensation:  The Company recognizes compensation expense in its statements of comprehensive loss
for share-based payments, including stock options and restricted stock units issued to employees, based on their fair values on
the date of the grant, with the compensation expense recognized over the period in which an employee is required to provide 
service in exchange for the stock award.  Stock-based compensation expense for awards without performance conditions is 
recognized on a straight-line basis.  Stock-based compensation expense for awards with performance conditions is recognized 
over the period from the date the performance condition is determined to be probable of occurring through the time the
applicable condition is met. As of December 31, 2018, stock-based compensation cost for all outstanding unvested options and 
restricted stock units was $22.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.2 years.

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes method.  The Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model requires the input of subjective assumptions.  Because the Company’s employee stock options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions canff
materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’ff s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable
single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.  For purposes of determining the fair value of stock options, the
Company segregates its options into two homogeneous groups, based on exercise and post-vesting employment termination 
behaviors, resulting in different assumptions used for expected option lives.  Historical data is used to estimate the expected ff
option life for each group.  Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility in the Company’s stock price. The following 
weighted-average assumptions were used for options granted in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively:

Expected
Volatility

Risk-free
Interest Rate

Expected
TermTT

Dividend
Rate

December 31, 2018:
Employees 58% 2.6% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 63% 2.8% 8 0%
December 31, 2017:
Employees 61% 1.7% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 70% 2.2% 8 0%
December 31, 2016:
Employees 63% 1.1% 4 0%
Officers and non-employee directorsff 83% 1.6% 8 0%

Net Loss per Common Share:rr  Net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding. Shares associated with convertible debt, stock options and restricted stock units are not included 
because they are antidilutive.

Correction of errrr ors in prrr eviously rrr eported consolidated financial statements:rr  During the year ended December 31, 
2018, the Company identified errors in its previously issued financial statements for the interim and annual periods prior to the 
quarter ended December 31, 2018 related to the recognition of research and development expense and accrued liabilities for its 
inTandem1, inTTT andem2 and inTTT andem3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin.  TT The Company recognized research and development 
expense based on its estimates of clinical trial costs, but in 2018 the Company determined that the design of controls were not 
sufficiently precise to prevent the overstatement of estimated pass-through costs recorded in the clinical trial expense accrual.  ff
In December 2018, the Company was notified by the third party vendor performing such clinical trials that the aggregate pass-
through costs payable by the Company with respect to such clinical trials would be $19.0 million less than previously
estimated.  As a result, the Company’s accruals of expenses for such clinical trials were overstated by such amount. 

The Company assessed the materiality of these errors in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff ff Accounting Bulletins No. 99, Materiality and No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior ff Year Misstatements whenYY
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”), using both the rollover method and the iron YY
curtain method, as defined in SAB 108.  The Company concluded that the errors, including other adjustments discussed below, ww
were immaterial to prior years but, if corrected in the current year, would have been material to the current year. Under SAB
108, such prior year misstatements must be corrected by adjusting the prior year financial statements if such corrections would 
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be material to the current year if made in the current year.  Correcting prior year financial statements for such immaterial 
misstatements does not require previously filed reports to be amended.

In addition to the adjustments related to research and development expense and accrued liabilities for the inTandem1,TT
inTandem2 and inTTT andem3 clinical trials, the Company recorded other adjustments related to the years ended December 31, TT
2016 and 2015 and the quarterly periods in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 to correct for immaterial errors related 
to research and development and selling, general and administrative expense.  These other adjustments were not previously 
recorded in the appropriate periods, as the Company concluded that they were immaterial to its previously issued consolidated 
financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, correction of these errors decreased the Company’s net loss by $6.1 
million and $10.0 million, respectively. The cumulative effect of those adjustments increased previously reported retained ff
earnings by $16.1 million, which included an adjustment of $0.1 million to the opening balance at December 31, 2016. The 
Company also corrected its financial statements for each of the interim periods in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
2017.  See Note 15, Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited).
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The effects of the corrections of the errors on the Company’ff s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and 
balance sheets are presented in the tables below. The corrections of the errors had no effect on the previously reported total ff
amounts of operating, investing, and financing cash flows on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.

Years ended DecemberYY  31,r

2017 2016

Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Revenues:
Net product revenue $ 15,890 $ — $ 15,890 $ — $ — $ —
Collaborative agreements 74,267 1,354 75,621 83,182 (4,081) 79,101
Royalties and other revenue 178 — 178 155 — 155

Total revenues 90,335 1,354 91,689 83,337 (4,081) 79,256
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales (including
finite-lived intangible asset
amortization) 1,899 — 1,899 — — —

Research and development,
including stock-based
compensation of $4,905
and $3,938, respectively 156,813 (4,590) 152,223 178,151 (14,178) 163,973

Increase (decrease) in fair
value of Symphony Icon,
Inc. purchase liability 2,101 — 2,101 (703) — (703)

Selling, general and
administrative, including
stock-based compensation
of $4,567 and $3,514,
respectively 66,203 (113) 66,090 43,044 113 43,157

Total operating expensesTT 227,016 (4,703) 222,313 220,492 (14,065) 206,427
Loss from operations (136,681) 6,057 (130,624) (137,155) 9,984 (127,171)
Interest expense (6,984) — (6,984) (6,567) — (6,567)
Interest and other income, net 1,954 — 1,954 2,293 — 2,293
Net loss before taxes (141,711) 6,057 (135,654) (141,429) 9,984 (131,445)
Income tax benefit 12,661 — 12,661 — — —
Net loss $(129,050) $ 6,057 $(122,993) $ (141,429) $ 9,984 $ (131,445)
Net loss per common share,

basic and diluted $ (1.23) $ 0.06 $ (1.17) $ (1.36) $ 0.09 $ (1.27)
Shares used in computing net

loss per common share,
basic and diluted 105,237 105,237 103,863 103,863
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December 31, 2017
Previously
reported Adjustment As revised

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 61,661 $ — $ 61,661
Short-term investments 249,127 — 249,127
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4 4,825 — 4,825
Inventory 1,948 — 1,948
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,434 — 4,434

Total current assets 321,995 — 321,995
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and

amortization of $58,623 17,687 — 17,687
Goodwill 44,543 — 44,543
Other intangible assets 51,885 — 51,885
Other assets 429 — 429

Total assets $ 436,539 $ — $ 436,539
Liabilities and Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 57,652 $ (18,890) $ 38,762
Accrued liabilities 12,282 — 12,282
Current portion of deferred revenue 40,099 252 40,351
Current portion of long-term debt, net of deferred financing
costs 14,094 — 14,094

Total current liabilities 124,127 (18,638) 105,489
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 22,428 2,475 24,903
Long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs 231,576 — 231,576
Deferred tax liabilities 6,014 — 6,014
Other long-term liabilities 292 — 292

Total liabilities 384,437 (16,163) 368,274

Commitments and contingencies
Equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no
shares issued and outstanding — — —

Common stock, $.001 par value; 225,000 shares authorized;
105,711 shares issued 106 — 106

Additional paid-in capital 1,435,526 — 1,435,526
Accumulated deficit (1,381,404) 16,163 (1,365,241)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (222) — (222)
Treasury stock, at cost, 122 shares, respectivelyTT (1,904) — (1,904)

Total (deficit) equityTT 52,102 16,163 68,265
Total liabilities and (deficit) equityTT $ 436,539 $ — $ 436,539
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3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FF Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 
2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which amends FASBFF ASC Topic 606. TT ASU 2014-09 provides a single,
comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. This standard contains principles for the 
determination of the measurement of revenue and the timing of when such revenue is recognized. Revenue recognition will 
reflect the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that is expected to be earned in exchange for those goods or 
services.  In 2015, the FASB issued FF ASU No. 2015-14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Deferral of Effective Date”,ff
which deferred the effective date by one year to annual periods after December 15, 2017 including interim periods within that ff
reporting period. In 2016, the FASB issued four additionalFF ASUs related to Topic 606: TT ASU Nos. 2016-08, 2016-10, 2016-12 
and 2016-20. These ASUs clarify various aspects of the new revenue guidance, including principal versus agent 
considerations, identifying performance obligations and licensing, and they include other improvements and practical 
expedients.  The Company adopted this new standard on January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective transition method, 
and has applied the provisions to contracts that were not complete as of January 1, 2018.

Impact of Adoptionff

The Company’s primary source of collaboration revenue has been through its license and collaboration agreements 
with three separate third-party licensees:  Texas Institute for Genomic Medicine (“TIGM”), Sanofi and Ipsen.  TT With respect to W
its contract with TIGM, the Company evaluated the variable consideration relating to the remaining milestone and determined, 
based on the most likely amount method, that it was not probable that a significant reversal would occur and therefore, 
concluded no constraint was required.  Accordingly, the Company recorded a yy $14.2 million cumulative-effect adjustment to itsff
accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2018 and reduced deferred revenue in the same amount. 

With respect to its collaboration agreements with Sanofi and Ipsen, the Company evaluated the variable consideration W
relating to future milestone payments and determined, based on the most likely amount method, that the estimated amounts
could be considered as part of the transaction price.  The Company then evaluated the variable constraint and determined that 
the variable consideration amounts are constrained, primarily by future events that are not within the control of the Company.  
The future events primarily relate to receipt of positive results from studies, approval from regulatory agencies, and upon
achieving sales in certain locations. Accordingly, the Company determined that there was no cumulative adjustment required yy
for these agreements on the date of adoption.

The adoption of this ASU did not impact the timing or amount of revenues recognized related to its contracts with 
customers for the sale of product.

In November 2018, the FASB issued FF ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the TT
Interaction between Topic 808 and TT Topic 606.”  TT This targeted amendment to Topic 808 clarifies that certain transactions TT
resulting from a collaboration agreement should be accounted for as revenue under Topic 606 when the collaborative TT
arrangement participant is a customer for a good or service that is a distinct unit-of-account.  This amendment is effective for ff
fiscal years, and interim periods within years presented, beginning after December 15, 2019, and should be applied 
retrospectively to the date of initial application of Topic 606.  TT The Company has applied the provisions of Topic 606 to account TT
for its transactions for collaboration arrangements, including recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
requirements. 

In January 2016, the FASB issued FF ASU No. 2016-01, “Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities.” ASU 2016-01 requires that most equity investments be measured at fair value, with subsequent changes
in fair value recognized in net income. The pronouncement also impacts financial liabilities under the fair value option and the 
presentation and disclosure requirements for financial instruments. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and interim ff
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is not permitted. The adoption of this ASU
on January 1, 2018 did not have an impact on Lexicon’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued FF ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases.” ASU 2016-02 requires companies that lease assets to
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments, in its balanceyy
sheet. The pronouncement will also require additional disclosures about the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows 
arising from leases. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after ff
December 15, 2018, and early adoption is permitted. This ASU is required to be adopted using a modified retrospective 
approach.  Management adopted ASU 2016-02 on the effective date of January 1, 2019.  Upon adoption, the Company ff
recognized $2.1 million for right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities of the same amount on the consolidated balance
sheet, primarily related to leases of office space. ff The adoption of this ASU on January 1, 2019 did not have a material impact 
on Lexicon’s consolidated financial statements.  
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In March 2016, the FASB issued FF ASU No. 2016-09, “Stock Compensation,” which is intended to simplify several
aspects of the accounting for share-based payment award transactions. The Company adopted this pronouncement effective ff
January 1, 2017.  Upon adoption, the Company recognized approximately $6.1 million of accumulated excess tax benefits as
deferred tax assets that under the previous guidance could not be recognized until the benefits were realized through a reduction
in cash taxes paid. This part of the guidance is applied using a modified retrospective method with a cumulative-effect ff
adjustment to the accumulated deficit for the excess tax benefits not previously recognized. However, given the full valuation 
allowance placed on the additional $6.1 million of deferred tax assets, the recognition of this provision of ASU 2016-09 had no 
impact to the Company’s accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2017.  Additionally, the Company recorded an adjustment to yy
accumulated deficit of $2.0 million as a result of making an entity-wide accounting policy election to account for forfeitures of 
share-based payment awards as they occur instead of estimating the number of awards that are expected to vest.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and investments held at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

As of December 31, 2018

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated Fair

Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 80,386 $ — $ — $ 80,386
Securities maturing within one year:

U.S. treasury securities 73,983 — (9) 73,974
Corporate debt securities 5,695 — (3) 5,692

Total short-term investmentsTT $ 79,678 $ — $ (12) $ 79,666
Total cash and cash equivalents and investmentsTT $ 160,064 $ — $ (12) $ 160,052

As of December 31, 2017

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Estimated Fair

Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 61,661 $ — $ — $ 61,661
Securities maturing within one year:

U.S. treasury securities 222,316 — (168) 222,148
Corporate debt securities 27,033 — (54) 26,979

Total short-term investmentsTT $ 249,349 $ — $ (222) $ 249,127
Total cash and cash equivalents and investmentsTT $ 311,010 $ — $ (222) $ 310,788

There were no realized gains or losses for the year ended December 31, 2018. There were $7,000 in realized losses for 
the year ended December 31, 2017. There were no realized gains or losses for the year ended December 31, 2016.



F-17

5. Fair Value MeasurVV ements

The Company uses various inputs in determining the fair value of its investments and measures these assets on a 
recurring basis.  Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized by the level of 
objectivity associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. The following levels are directly related to the amount 
of subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities:

• Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets, which include U.S. treasury securities

• Level 2 – other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, market corroborated 
inputs, etc.), which include corporate debt securities

• Level 3 – significant unobservable inputs (including the Company’s own assumptions in determining the fair value of 
the Symphony Icon purchase consideration liability)

The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the credit risk associated 
with investing in those securities. The following tables provide the fair value measurements of applicable Company assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis according to the fair value levels defined above as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value
As of December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in thousands)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 80,386 $ — $ — $ 80,386
Short-term investments 73,974 5,692 — 79,666

Total cash and cash equivalents and investmentsTT $ 154,360 $ 5,692 $ — $ 160,052

Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value
As of December 31, 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in thousands)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 61,661 $ — $ — $ 61,661
Short-term investments 222,148 26,979 — 249,127

Total cash and cash equivalents and investmentsTT $ 283,809 $ 26,979 $ — $ 310,788

The Company did not have any Level 3 assets at December 31, 2018 or 2017. The Company did not have any Level 3 
liabilities at December 31, 2018 or 2017. Transfers between levels are recognized at the actual date of circumstance that TT
caused the transfer.  In March 2017, the Company satisfied its remaining contingent payment obligation to designees of 
Symphony Icon Holdings LLC.  Prior to payment, the Symphony Icon purchase consideration liability, a Level 3 liabilityyy , wasyy
estimated using a probability-based income approach utilizing an appropriate discount rate. Changes in the fair value of the 
Symphony Icon purchase consideration liability were recorded as an increase or decrease in Symphony Icon purchase liability 
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The fair value of the Symphony Icon purchase 
consideration liability increased by $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 and decreased by $0.7 million
during the year ended December 31, 2016.  The following table summarizes the change in consolidated balance sheet carrying 
value associated with Level 3 liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017.
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Other Long-term
Liabilities

(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2015 22,815
Change in valuation of purchase consideration payable to former Symphony Icon stockholders (703)
Payment of contingent payment obligation with cash (3,200)
Balance at December 31, 2016 18,912
Change in valuation of purchase consideration payable to former Symphony Icon stockholders 2,101
Payment of contingent payment obligation with common stock and cash (21,013)
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ —

The Company also has assets that under certain conditions are subject to measurement at fair value on a non-recurring 
basis. These assets include goodwill associated with the acquisitions of Coelacanth Corporation in 2001 and Symphony Icon in
2010 and intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Symphony Icon in 2010.  For these assets, measurement at fair 
value in periods subsequent to their initial recognition is applicable if one or more is determined to be impaired.  

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Estimated
Useful Lives As of December 31,

In YearsYY 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Computers and software 3-5 $ 4,557 $ 4,605
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 5,644 6,006
Laboratory equipment 3-7 3,378 3,423
Leasehold improvements 3-7 416 400
Buildings 15-40 59,212 59,212
Land — 2,664 2,664

Total property and equipment 75,871 76,310
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (60,006) (58,623)

Net property and equipment $ 15,865 $ 17,687
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7. Income TaxesTT

The Tax Cuts and JobsTT Act (the “2017 Tax TT Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017.  The 2017 Tax TT Act significantly 
changes U.S. corporate income tax laws, including a reduction of the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35 percent to 21
percent, reduction of certain tax credits, limitations or deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation, and 
limitations on the use of net operating loss carryforwards.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company's 
accounting for the income tax effects of the 2017 ff TaxTT Act was completed without material changes to the previously reported 
estimates. 

 Lexicon recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events that have 
been recognized differently in the financial statements and tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are ff
determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of liabilities and assetsff
using enacted tax rates and laws in effect in the years in which the difff ferences are expected to reverse. ff Accordingly, at yy
December 31, 2017, the Company remeasured certain deferred tax assets and liabilities at the 21 percent effective tax rate, ff
which resulted in a decrease of $165.3 million.  Deferred tax assets are evaluated for realization based on a more-likely-than-
not criteria in determining if a valuation allowance should be provided.

The following data contain certain corrections of errors identified in previously reported amounts.  See Note 2,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The components of Lexicon’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

As of December 31,
2018 2017

(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 206,789 $ 183,839
Research and development tax credits 47,087 46,574
Orphan drug credits 24,524 24,524
Capitalized research and development 71,047 68,603
Stock-based compensation 4,641 3,923
Deferred revenue 5,458 13,523
Interest 3,625 —
Other 6,044 5,656

Total deferred tax assets 369,215 346,642
Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred tax liability related to acquisition of Symphony Icon (10,525) (10,896)
Other (2) (1)
Total deferred tax liabilities (10,527) (10,897)
Less: valuation allowance (364,702) (341,759)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (6,014) $ (6,014)

The $10.5 million deferred tax liability relates to the tax impact of future amortization or possible impairments 
associated with intangible assets acquired with Symphony Icon, which are not deductible for tax purposes.  During 2017, after 
XERMELO was approved by the FDA, the intangible asset related to XERMELO became finite-lived and as a result $8.7 
million of the related deferred tax liability could be considered as a source of taxable income. Lexicon does not believe it can 
estimate the reversal of the temporary difference related to the remaining assets acquired with sufff ficient certainty such that ff $6.0 
million of the deferred tax liability is not considered as a source of taxable income in assessing the Company’s need for a 
valuation allowance in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of the tax laws in effect immediately prior to the enactment of the ff
2017 Tax TT Act. 

At December 31, 2018, Lexicon had both federal and state NOL carryforwards of approximately L $941.9 million and 
$455.8 million, respectively.  The federal and state NOL carryforwards will begin to expire in 2019.  L The Company’s R&D tax
credit carryforwards of approximately $47.1 million begin to expire in 2019.  The orphan drug credit relates to a credit that is 
calculated as a percentage of expenditures for development of XERMELO, which has received Orphan Drug designation from
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the FDA.  Utilization of the NOL, R&D credit and orphan drug credit carryforwards may be subject to a significant annual
limitation due to ownership changes that have occurred previously or could occur in the future provided by Section 382 of the 
Internal Revenue Code.  Based on the federal tax law limits and the Company’s cumulative loss position, Lexicon concluded it 
was appropriate to establish a full valuation allowance for its net deferred tax assets, excluding the deferred tax liability relating 
to the XERMELO finite-lived asset, until an appropriate level of profitability is sustained.  During the year ended 
December 31, 2018, the valuation allowance increased $22.9 million, primarily due to the Company’s current year net loss, 
offset in part by expiring R&D credits. Lexicon recorded income tax benefits of ff $12.7 million in the year ended December 31, 
2017.  Of the $12.7 million tax benefits, $8.7 million is the release of a valuation allowance as a result of the ability to estimate
the reversal of the deferred tax liability related to the intangible associated with XERMELO, as discussed above.  The 
remaining $4.0 million was recorded to remeasure the deferred tax liability associated with the remaining indefinite-lived 
intangible asset associated with Symphony Icon at the newly enacted U.S. corporate income tax rate.  There were no income
tax benefits in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2016, respectively.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company
did not have any unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company is primarily subject to U.S. federal and New Jersey and Texas state income taxes. TT The tax years 1995 to 
current remain open to examination by U.S. federal authorities and 2004 to current remain open to examination by state 
authorities.  The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax
expense.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had no accruals for interest or penalties related to income tax 
matters.

8. Goodwill

On July 12, 2001, Lexicon completed the acquisition of Coelacanth Corporation in a merger. Coelacanth, now Lexicon 
Pharmaceuticals (New Jersey), Inc., formed the core of the Company’s division responsible for small molecule compound 
discovery.  The results of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals (New Jersey), Inc. are included in the Company’s results of operations for 
the period subsequent to the acquisition.  Goodwill associated with the acquisition of $25.8 million, which represents the excess
of the $36.0 million purchase price over the fair value of the underlying net identifiable assets, was assigned to the consolidated 
entity, Lexicon.  yy

On July 30, 2010, Lexicon exercised its Purchase Option (as defined in Note 10) and completed the acquisition of 
Symphony Icon, Inc.  Goodwill associated with the acquisition of $18.7 million, which represents the assets recognized in
connection with the deferred tax liability acquired and did not result from excess purchase price, was assigned to the 
consolidated entity, Lexicon.  yy

Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is tested at least annually for impairment at the reporting unit level, which 
is the Company’s single operating segment. The Company performed an impairment test of goodwill on its annual impairment 
assessment date. This test did not result in an impairment of goodwill.

9. Debt Obligations

Convertible Notes. In November 2014, Lexicon completed an offering ff of $87.5 million in aggregate principal amount 
of its 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 (the “Convertible Notes”). The conversion feature did not meet the criteria for 
bifurcation as required by generally accepted accounting principles and the entire principal amount was recorded as long-term 
debt on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The Convertible Notes are governed by an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated as of November 26, 2014, between the 
Company and WellsWW Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee. The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5.25% per year, payable 
semiannually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on June 1, 2015. The Convertible Notes mature on 
December 1, 2021. The Company may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to the maturity date, and no sinking fund is provided 
for the Convertible Notes.

Holders of the Convertible Notes may convert their Convertible Notes at their option at any time prior to the close of 
business on the business day immediately preceding the maturity date. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver for each
$1,000 principal amount of converted Convertible Notes a number of shares of its common stock equal to the conversion rate, 
as described in the Indenture. The conversion rate is initially 118.4553 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 
Convertible Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of $8.442 per share of common stock). The conversion rate is 
subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, following certain 
corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date, the Company will increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to
convert its Convertible Notes in connection with such a corporate event in certain circumstances.
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If the Company undergoes a fundamental change, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any 
portion of their Convertible Notes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 
Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase 
date.

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company incurred $3.4 million of debt issuance costs. 
The debt issuance costs are amortized as interest expense over the expected life of the Convertible Notes using the effective ff
interest method.  The Company determined the expected life of the debt was equal to the seven-year term of the Convertible 
Notes.  As of December 31, 2018, the balance of unamortized debt issuance costs was $1.4 million, which offsets long-term ff
debt on the consolidated balance sheets.

The fair value of the Convertible Notes was $97.5 million as of December 31, 2018 and was determined using Level 2 
inputs based on the indicative pricing published by certain investment banks or trading levels of the Convertible Notes, which
are not listed on any securities exchange or quoted on an inter-dealer automated quotation system.

Mortgage Loan.  In August 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of Lexicon entered into a term loan and security 
agreement, refinancing the previously existing mortgage on its facilities in The Woodlands,WW Texas (the “Property”).  TT The 
Company recorded the refinancing as a debt extinguishment, with no recognition of gain or loss on the transaction.  The loan 
agreement provides for a $12.9 million mortgage on the Property and has a two-year term with a 10-year amortization.  The 
mortgage loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 5.5% and (b) 7.5% and 
provides for a balloon payment of $10.3 million due in August 2020.  Lexicon incurred $0.4 million of debt issuance costs in
connection with the mortgage loan, which offsets long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets and will be amortized asff
interest expense over the two-year term of the loan agreement.  As of December 31, 2018, the balance of unamortized debt 
issuance costs was $0.3 million.  The consolidated balance sheet includes mortgage debt of $12.1 million as of December 31, 
2018.  The buildings and land that serve as collateral for the mortgage loan are included in property and equipment at $59.2 
million and $2.7 million, respectively, before accumulated depreciation, as of yy December 31, 2018.  The fair value of Lexicon’s
mortgage loan approximates its carrying value.  The fair value of Lexicon’s mortgage loan was determined using Level 2 inputs
using discounted cash flow analysis, based on the Company’s estimated current incremental borrowing rate.  

BioPharma Term Loan.TT   In December 2017, Lexicon entered into a loan agreement with BioPharma Credit PLC and 
BioPharma Credit Investments IV Sub LPV  that provides up toP $200 million borrowing capacity (the “BioPharma Term Loan”) TT
available in two tranches, each maturing in December 2022.  The BioPharma Term Loan bears interest at TT 9% per year, subject 
to additional interest if an event of default occurs and is continuing, and is payable quarterly.  A tranche of A $150 million was
funded in December 2017. 

The BioPharma Term Loan is subject to mandatory prepayment provisions that require prepayment upon a change of TT
control or receipt of proceeds from certain non-ordinary course transfers of assets. The Company may prepay the BioPharma 
Term Loan in whole at its option at any time.  TT Any prepayment of the BioPharma Term Loan is subject to customary make-TT
whole premiums and prepayment premiums.

The Company’s obligations under the BioPharma Term Loan are secured by a first lien security interest in TT
substantially all of the assets of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, other than its facilities in The Woodlands,WW Texas. TT
The loan agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants and events ff
of default applicable to the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, including among other things, covenants restricting 
dispositions, fundamental changes in our business, mergers or acquisitions, indebtedness, encumbrances, distributions,
investments, transactions with affiliates and subordinated debt.  If an event of default occurs and is continuing, all amounts ff
outstanding under the BioPharma Term Loan may be declared immediately due and payable.TT

In connection with the BioPharma Term Loan, the Company incurred TT $4.1 million of debt issuance costs. The debt 
issuance costs are amortized as interest expense over the expected life of the BioPharma Term Loan using the efTT fective interest ff
method. The Company determined the expected life of the debt was equal to the five-year term of the BioPharma Term Loan.  TT
As of December 31, 2018, the balance of unamortized debt issuance costs was $3.2 million, which offsets long-term debt on the ff
consolidated balance sheets.

The fair value of the BioPharma Term Loan approximates its carrying value.  TT The fair value of the BioPharma Term TT
Loan was determined using Level 2 inputs using discounted cash flow analysis, based on the Company’s estimated current 
incremental borrowing rate. 
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The following table includes the aggregate scheduled future principal payments of the Company’s long-term debt as of 
December 31, 2018:

For the r YearYY  Endingr
December 31r

(in thousands)
2019 $ 1,285
2020 11,130
2021 87,500
2022 150,000
2023 —
Thereafter —
Total debt 249,915
Less deferred financing costs (4,913)
Less current portion (1,115)
Total long-term debtTT $ 243,887

10. Arrangements with Symphony Icon, Inc.

On June 15, 2007, Lexicon entered into a series of related agreements providing for the financing of the clinical 
development of certain of its drug candidates, including XERMELO, along with any other pharmaceutical compositions 
modulating the same targets as those drug candidates (the “Programs”). The agreements included a Novated and Restated 
Technology LicenseTT Agreement pursuant to which the Company licensed to Symphony Icon, a then wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Symphony Icon Holdings LLC (“Holdings”), the Company’s intellectual property rights related to the Programs. Holdings 
contributed $45 million to Symphony Icon in order to fund the clinical development of the Programs.

Under a Share Purchase Agreement, dated June 15, 2007, between the Company and Holdings, the Company issued 
and sold to Holdings 1,092,946 shares of its common stock on June 15, 2007 in exchange for $15 million and an exclusive
purchase option (the “Purchase Option”) that gave the Company the right to acquire all of the equity of Symphony Icon, 
thereby allowing the Company to reacquire all of the Programs.  On July 30, 2010, Lexicon entered into an Amended and 
Restated Purchase Option Agreement (the “Purchase Option Agreement”) with Symphony Icon and Holdings and 
simultaneously exercised the Purchase Option, thereby reacquiring the Programs. Pursuant to the amended terms of the 
Purchase Option, Lexicon paid Holdings $10 million on July 30, 2010 and issued 1,891,074 shares of common stock to
designees of Holdings on July 30, 2012 in satisfaction of an additional $35 million base payment obligation.  

Lexicon also agreed to make up to $45 million in additional contingent payments, which would consist of 50% of any 
consideration Lexicon received pursuant to any licensing transaction (a “Licensing Transaction”) under which Lexicon grants a TT
third party rights to commercialize XERMELO or other pharmaceutical compositions modulating the same target asr
XERMELO (the “LG103 Programs”), subject to certain exceptions. The contingent payments would be due if and when 
Lexicon received such consideration from a Licensing Transaction. In the event Lexicon received regulatory approval in the TT
United States for the marketing and sale of any product resulting from the LG103 Programs prior to entering into a Licensing
Transaction for the commercialization of such product in the United States, in lieu of any contingent payment from such a T
Licensing Transaction, Lexicon would pay Holdings the sum of TT $15 million and the amount of certain expenses Lexicon 
incurred after its exercise of the Purchase Option which were attributable to the development of such product, reduced by up to 
50% of such sum on account of any contingent payments paid prior to such United States regulatory approval attributable to 
any such Licensing Transaction outside of the United States with respect to such product. In the event Lexicon made any suchTT
payment upon United States regulatory approval, Lexicon would have no obligation to make subsequent contingent payments 
attributable to any such Licensing Transactions for the commercialization of such product outside the United States until the TT
proceeds of such Licensing Transactions exceed T 50% of the payment made as a result of such United States regulatory 
approval.  The contingent payments were payable in cash or a combination of cash and common stock, in Lexicon’s discretion,
provided that no more than 50% of any contingent payment would be paid in common stock.  In December 2014, Lexicon paid 
$5.8 million in cash and issued 666,111 shares of common stock to designees of Holdings in satisfaction of a $11.5 million
contingent payment obligation as a result of receiving an upfront payment pursuant to Lexicon’s license and collaboration
agreement with Ipsen.  In April 2015, Lexicon paid $0.75 million in cash to Holdings in satisfaction of its contingent payment 
obligation as a result of receiving an additional upfront payment from Ipsen in March 2015.  In September 2016, Lexicon paid 
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$3.2 million in cash to Holdings in satisfaction of its contingent payment obligation as a result of receiving a milestone
payment from Ipsen in August 2016.

In September 2016, Lexicon entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Purchase Option Agreement with 
Holdings and Symphony Icon pursuant to which Lexicon agreed to pay Holdings $21.0 million upon Lexicon’s receipt of 
regulatory approval in the United States for the marketing and sale of XERMELO, such buyout amount to be in lieu of any 
remaining payments which may be or become payable to Holdings under the Purchase Option Agreement. In March 2017, 
Lexicon paid $10.5 million in cash and issued 659,905 shares of common stock to designees of Holdings in satisfaction of its
remaining contingent payment obligation as a result of receiving regulatory approval in the United states for the marketing and 
sale of XERMELO. 

Lexicon accounted for the exercise of the Purchase Option and acquisition of Symphony Icon as a business 
combination. In connection with its acquisition of Symphony Icon, Lexicon paid $10.0 million in cash, and also agreed to pay
Holdings additional base and contingent payments as discussed above. The fair value of the base and contingent consideration 
payments was $45.6 million and was estimated by applying a probability-based income approach utilizing an appropriate 
discount rate. This estimation was based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, referred to as Level 3 
inputs. Key assumptions include: (1) a discount rate of 14% for the base payments; (2) a discount rate of 18% for the
contingent payments; and (3) a probability adjusted contingency.  No discount rate was used in the valuation of the contingent 
consideration liability as of December 31, 2016 as the expected buyout was short-term in nature.  As programs progressed, the
probability adjusted contingency was adjusted as necessary.  Subsequent changes in the fair value of the Symphony Icon 
purchase consideration liability were recorded as increase or decrease in fair value of Symphony Icon purchase liability 
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The fair value of the Symphony Icon purchase 
consideration liability increased by $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 and decreased by $0.7 million
during the year ended December 31, 2016.  

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Obligations:  A Lexicon subsidiary leases ofA fice space in Basking Ridge, New Jersey under a leaseff
agreement, the term of which began in June 2015 and terminates in December 2022.  Rent expense is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Additionally, Lexicon leases certain equipment under operating leases.yy

Rent expense for all operating leases was approximately $0.6 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The following table includes non-cancelable, escalating future lease 
payments:

For the r YearYY  Endingr
December 31r

(in thousands)
2019 $ 657
2020 637
2021 646
2022 658
2023 —
Thereafter —

TotalTT $ 2,598

Employment Arrangements: Lexicon has entered into employment arrangements with certain of its corporate officers. ff
Under the arrangements, each officer receives a base salaryff , subject to adjustment, with an annual discretionary bonus based yy
upon specific objectives to be determined by the compensation committee. The employment arrangements are at-will and some 
contain non-competition agreements. Some of the arrangements also provide for certain severance payments for either six or 12 
months and, in some cases, payment of a specified portion of the officerff ’s bonus target for such year, in the event of a specified 
termination of the officerff ’s employment.

Legal Proceedings:rr   On January 28, 2019, a purported securities class action complaint captioned Daniel Manopla v. 
Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Lonnel Coats and Jeffrey L.ff Wade was filed against the CompanyWW , and certain of its ofyy ficers in ff
the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division. TT The lawsuit purports to be a class action brought 
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on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s securities during the period from March 11, 2016 through January 17, 2019.  The 
complaint alleges that the defendants violated federal securities laws by making materially false and misleading statements and/
or omissions concerning data from its Phase 3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 1 diabetes patients and the prospects of 
FDA approval of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.  A The complaint purports to assert claims for violations of 
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  The complaint seeks,
on behalf of the purported class, an unspecified amount of monetary damages, interest, fees and expenses of attorneys and 
experts, and other relief.

In addition, Lexicon is from time to time party to claims and legal proceedings that arise in the normal course of its 
business and that it believes will not have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its results of operations, ff
financial condition or liquidity.

12. Equity Incentive AwardsAA

Equity Incentive Plans

2017 Equity Incentive Plan:  In September 1995, Lexicon adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan, which was 
subsequently amended and restated in February 2000, April 2009, April 2012, April 2015 and April 2017 and renamed the 2017 
Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”).

The Equity Incentive Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to employees and nonstatutory stock 
options to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. The plan also permits the grant of stock bonus awards,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stock appreciation rights and performance stock awards. Incentive and 
nonstatutory stock options have an exercise price of 100% or more of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on
the date of grant.  Most stock options granted under the Equity Incentive Plan become vested and exercisable over a period of 
four years; however some have been granted with different vesting schedules.  Stock options granted under the Equity ff
Incentive Plan have a term of ten years from the date of grant.  

The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to stock awards under the Equity Incentive 
Plan shall not exceed in the aggregate 15,000,000 shares. As of December 31, 2018, an aggregate of 15,000,000 shares of 
common stock had been reserved for issuance, options to purchase 5,953,831 shares and 1,285,752 restricted stock units were
outstanding, 1,909,515 shares had been issued upon the exercise of stock options, 1,451,648 shares had been issued pursuant to
restricted stock units and 113,940 shares had been issued pursuant to stock bonus awards or restricted stock awards granted 
under the Equity Incentive Plan.

2017 Non-Employee Directors’rr  Equity Incentive Plan:’   In February 2000, Lexicon adopted the 2000 Non-Employee 
Directors’ Stock Option Plan, which was subsequently amended and restated in April 2009, April 2012, April 2015 and April 
2017 and renamed the 2017 Non-Employee Directors’ Equity Incentive Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”).  Under the Directors’ Plan, 
non-employee directors may be granted awards under the plan with an aggregate grant date fair value of more than $500,000
during any calender year, taken together with any cash fees paid to such non-employee director in compensation for service on 
Lexicon’s board of directors during such calender year. Stock options granted under the Directors’ Plan have an exercise price 
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and a term of ten years from the date of 
grant.

The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to stock awards under the Directors’ Plan
shall not exceed in the aggregate 600,000 shares. As of December 31, 2018, an aggregate of 600,000 shares of common stock 
had been reserved for issuance, stock options to purchase 198,551 shares were outstanding, none had been issued upon the
exercise of stock options and 103,208 shares had been issued pursuant to restricted stock awards granted under the Directors’
Plan.
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Stock Option Activity:  The following is a summary of stock option activity under Lexicon’s equity incentive plans:

2018 2017 2016

(in thousands, except exercise price data) Options

Weighted
AverageAA
Exercise

Price Options

Weighted
AverageAA
Exercise

Price Options

WeightedWW
AverageAA
Exercise

Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 4,961 $ 11.17 4,834 $ 11.24 4,217 $ 12.35
Granted 1,916 10.00 892 14.31 1,370 10.40
Exercised (97) 7.55 (458) 11.97 (495) 12.17
Expired (239) 14.21 (157) 26.42 (195) 27.33
Forfeited (389) 12.04 (150) 13.84 (63) 10.45
Outstanding at end of year 6,152 10.68 4,961 11.17 4,834 11.24
Exercisable at end of year 3,620 $ 10.72 3,077 $ 10.95 2,727 $ 12.55

The weighted average estimated grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 were $5.63, $8.59 and $6.43, respectively.  The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the 
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $0.2 million, $2.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively.  The weighted 
average remaining contractual term of stock options outstanding and exercisable was 6.6 and 5.2 years, respectively, as of yy
December 31, 2018.  At December 31, 2018, the aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding stock options and the exercisable
stock options was $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Stock Bonus and Restricted Stock Unit Activity:

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, Lexicon granted its non-employee directors 20,512, 
10,248 and 11,456 shares, respectively, of restricted stock awards. yy The restricted stock awards had weighted average grant date 
fair values of $7.80, $15.61 and $13.96 per share, respectively, and vested immediatelyyy . 

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, Lexicon granted its employees restricted stock units in
lieu of or in addition to annual stock option awards. These restricted stock units vest in three to four annual installments.r The 
following is a summary of restricted stock units activity under Lexicon’s stock-based compensation plans for the year ended 
December 31, 2018:

Shares

Weighted AverageAA
Grant Date Fair

Value

(in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 946 $ 10.50
Granted 872 9.79
VestedVV (334) 9.85
Forfeited (198) 10.59
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 1,286 $ 10.17

Aggregate Sharrr es Reserved for Issuancerr

As of December 31, 2018, an aggregate of 7,438,134 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon 
exercise of outstanding stock options and vesting of outstanding restricted stock units and 4,583,555 additional shares were
available for future grants under Lexicon’s equity incentive plans. The Company has a policy of using either authorized and 
unissued shares or treasury shares, including shares acquired by purchase in the open market or in private transactions, to 
satisfy equity award exercises.

13. Benefit Plan

Lexicon maintains a defined-contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.  The plan 
covers substantially all full-time employees.  Participating employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings, up to the 
Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit.  Beginning in 2000, the Company was required to match employee 
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contributions according to a specified formula.  The matching contributions totaled $1.0 million, $1.0 million and $0.7 million
in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Company contributions are vested based on the
employee’s years of service, with full vesting after four years of service.r

14. Collaboration and License Agreements

Lexicon has derived substantially all of its revenues from drug discovery and development alliances, target validation 
collaborations for the development and, in some cases, analysis of the physiological effects of genes altered in knockout mice, ff
product sales, government grants and contracts, technology licenses, subscriptions to its databases and compound library sales.

Sanofi.  In November 2015, Lexicon entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement, which was subsequently
amended in July 2017 (collectively, the “Sanofi yy Agreement”), with Sanofi for the worldwide development of Lexicon’s diabetes
drug candidate sotagliflozin.  In December 2016, Sanofi terminated its rights under the Sanofi Agreement with respect to Japan.

Under the Sanofi Agreement, Lexicon has granted Sanofi an exclusive, worldwide (excluding Japan), royalty-bearing 
right and license under its patent rights and know-how to develop, manufacture and commercialize sotagliflozin.  Subject to 
specified exceptions, neither party may (a) perform clinical development activities relating to any other compound which 
inhibits sodium-glucose cotransporters type 1 or type 2 or (b) commercialize any such compounds in the United States, 
countries of the European Union and certain other specified countries, in each case during the royalty terms applicable in such 
countries. Among the specified exceptions is a right Lexicon retained to pursue the development of LX2761, with respect to 
which Lexicon granted Sanofi certain rights of first negotiation specified in the Sanofi Agreement.

Under the Sanofi Agreement, Sanofi paid Lexicon an upfront payment of $300 million.  In addition, Lexicon is 
eligible to receive from Sanofi (a) up to an aggregate of $110 million upon the achievement of four development milestonesr
relating to the results of certain Phase 3 clinical trials of sotagliflozin in type 2 diabetes patients, (b) up to an aggregate of $220 
million upon the achievement of four regulatory milestones relating to the first commercial sale following regulatory approval r
of sotagliflozin for type 1 and type 2 diabetes, respectively, in each of the United States and Europe, of which two milestones yy
representing the substantial majority of such aggregate amount relate to type 2 diabetes and the remaining two milestones relate 
to type 1 diabetes, (c) $100 million upon the achievement of a milestone based on the results of either of two outcomes studies
in type 2 diabetes patients, the completion of which would likely occur after initial regulatory approval of sotagliflozin in type 
2 diabetes, and (d) up to an aggregate of $990 million upon the achievement of six commercial milestones that will be achieved 
upon reaching specified levels of sales. The Company believes that each of the development and regulatory milestones under 
the Sanofi Agreement is substantive.  Due to the uncertainty surrounding the achievement of the future development and 
regulatory milestones, these payments are deemed constrained and will not be recognized as revenue unless and until the
constraint is resolved.  Commercial milestones will be accounted for as royalties and recorded as revenue upon achievement of 
the milestone, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria were met.  Lexicon is also entitled to tiered, escalating royalties
ranging from low double digit percentages to forty percent of net sales of sotagliflozin, based on indication and territory, withyy
royalties for the higher band of such range attributable to net sales for type 1 diabetes in the United States, and subject in each 
case to customary royalty reduction provisions. 

Lexicon will continue to be responsible for all clinical development activities relating to type 1 diabetes and has 
exercised an exclusive option to co-promote and have a significant role, in collaboration with Sanofi, in the commercialization 
of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes in the United States. Under the terms of its co-promotion option, Lexicon 
will fund forty percent of the commercialization costs relating to such co-promotion activities. Sanofi will be responsible for all 
clinical development and commercialization of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 2 diabetes worldwide and will be solely 
responsible for the commercialization of sotagliflozin for the treatment of type 1 diabetes outside the United States. Lexicon 
shared in the funding of a portion of the planned type 2 diabetes development costs over the first three years of the 
collaboration, up to an aggregate of $100 million, which was satisfied in 2018. Sanofi will book sales worldwide in all
indications.

The parties are responsible for using commercially reasonable efforts to perform their development and ff
commercialization obligations pursuant to mutually approved development and commercialization plans.

The parties’ activities under the Sanofi Agreement are governed by a joint steering committee and certain other 
governance committees which reflect equal or other appropriate representation from both parties. If the applicable governance
committee is not able to make a decision by consensus and the parties are not able to resolve the issue through escalation to
specified senior executive officers of the parties, then Sanofi will have final decision-making authorityff , subject to limitationsyy
specified in the Sanofi Agreement.
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The Sanofi Agreement will expire upon the expiration of all applicable royalty terms for all licensed products in all
countries. The royalty term for each licensed product in each country is the period commencing on the effective date of the ff
Sanofi Agreement and ending on the latest of expiration of specified patent coverage, expiration of specified regulatory
exclusivity and 10 years following the first commercial sale in the applicable country. Either party may terminate the Sanofi 
Agreement in the event of an uncured material breach by the other party. Prior to completion of the core development activities 
for type 2 diabetes specified in the development plan, Sanofi may terminate the Sanofi Agreement on a country-by-country and 
licensed product-by-licensed product basis, in the event of (a) notification of a material safety issue relating to the licensed 
product or the class of sodium-glucose cotransporters type 1 or type 2 inhibitors resulting in a recommendation or requirement 
that Lexicon or Sanofi cease development, (b) failure to achieve positive results with respect to certain clinical trial results, (c)
the occurrence of specified fundamental adverse events or (d) the exploitation of the licensed product infringing third party
intellectual property rights in specified major markets and Sanofi is unable to obtain a license to such third party intellectual 
property rights.

The Company considered the following as its performance obligations with respect to the revenue recognition of the 
$300 million upfront payment:

• The exclusive worldwide license granted to Sanofi to develop and commercialize sotagliflozin;
• The development services Lexicon is performing for sotagliflozin relating to type 1 diabetes; and
• The funding Lexicon will provide for development relating to type 2 diabetes.

The Company determined that the license had stand-alone value because it is an exclusive license that gives Sanofi the
right to develop and commercialize sotagliflozin or to sublicense its rights.  In addition, sotagliflozin is currently in 
development and it is possible that Sanofi or another third party could conduct clinical trials without assistance from Lexicon. 
As a result, the Company considers the license and the development services under the Sanofi Agreement to be separate 
performance obligations.  The Company recognized the portion of the transaction price allocated to the license immediately 
because Lexicon delivered the license and earned the revenue at the inception of the arrangement.  The Company is recognizing 
as revenue the amount allocated to the development services for type 1 diabetes and the obligation to provide funding for 
development services for type 2 diabetes over the period of time Lexicon performs services or provides funding, currently
expected to be through 2020.  

The Company determined that the initial transaction price was the $300 million upfront payment because it was the
only payment that was fixed and determinable at the inception of the arrangement.  There was considerable uncertainty at the 
date of the agreement as to whether Lexicon would earn milestone payments or royalty payments.  As such, the Company did 
not include those payments in the allocable consideration. The Company allocated the transaction price based on the relative 
best estimate of selling price of each performance obligation.  The Company estimated the selling price of the license
deliverable by applying a probability-based income approach utilizing an appropriate discount rate.  The significant inputs the 
Company used to determine the projected income of the license included: exercising the option to co-promote, estimated future 
product sales, estimated cost of goods sold, estimated operating expenses, income taxes, and an appropriate discount rate. The 
Company estimated the selling price of the development services for type 1 diabetes by using internal estimates of the cost to
hire third parties to perform the services over the expected period to perform the development. The Company estimated the
obligation to provide funding for type 2 diabetes by using internal estimates of the expected cash flows and timing for $100 
million in funding.

As a result of the allocation, the Company recognized $126.8 million of the $300 million upfront payment for the 
license in 2015. The Company is recognizing the $113.8 million allocated to the development services performance obligation 
and the $59.4 million allocated to the funding performance obligation over the estimated period of performance as the
development and funding occurs.  Milestone payments that are contingent upon the achievement of a substantive milestone are
deemed constrained.  If or when the constraint is determined to be resolved, the Company will re-evaluate the overall 
transaction price and recognize an adjustment on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period that the adjustment was evaluated. 
During 2018, there has not been an adjustment to the transaction price.  In December 2018, the parties also agreed to an 
allocation of the initial submission costs relating to the preparation and submission of the applications with the FDA for A
approval of sotagliflozin.  As a result, the Company recorded $8.6 million in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018.  
Revenue recognized under the Sanofi Agreements was $33.2 million, $60.1 million and  $71.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2018,  2017 and 2016, respectively.  Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 includes $1.9 
million and $6.3 million, respectively, of sales of clinical trial materials to Sanofi. yy

Ipsen.  In October 2014, Lexicon entered into a License and Collaboration Agreement, which was subsequently
amended in March 2015 (collectively, the “Ipsenyy Agreement”), with Ipsen for the development and commercialization of 
XERMELO outside of the United States and Japan (the “Licensed Territory”).TT
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Under the Ipsen Agreement, Lexicon granted Ipsen an exclusive, royalty-bearing right and license under its patent 
rights and know-how to commercialize XERMELO in the Licensed TerritoryTT .  Ipsen is responsible for using diligent efforts toff
commercialize XERMELO in the Licensed Territory pursuant to a mutually approved commercialization plan.  Subject to TT
certain exceptions, Lexicon was responsible for conducting clinical trials required to obtain regulatory approval for XERMELO
for carcinoid syndrome in the European Union, including those contemplated by a mutually approved initial development plan, 
and has the first right to conduct most other clinical trials of XERMELO.  Lexicon was responsible for the costs of all clinical
trials contemplated by the initial development plan. The costs of additional clinical trials will be allocated between the parties 
based on the nature of such clinical trials.  Under the Ipsen Agreement, Ipsen has paid Lexicon an aggregate of $45.0 million
through December 31, 2018, consisting of $24.5 million in upfront payments, a $6.4 million milestone upon the acceptance of 
the filing submitted by Ipsen to the European Medicines Agency for XERMELO as an adjunct to somatostatin analog therapy 
for the long-term treatment of carcinoid syndrome, a $5.1 million milestone upon Ipsen’s receipt of approval from the 
European Commission for the marketing of XERMELO in all member states of the European Union, Norway and Iceland, a
$3.8 million milestone upon Ipsen’s first commercial sale in Germany, a yy $3.8 million milestone upon Ipsen’s first commercial 
sale in the United Kingdom and a $1.3 million milestone upon Ipsen’s receipt of approval from Health Canada.  In addition, 
Lexicon is eligible to receive from Ipsen (a) up to an aggregate of approximately $11.8 million upon the achievement of 
specified regulatory and commercial launch milestones and (b) up to an aggregate of €72 million upon the achievement of 
specified sales milestones.  Milestone payments that are contingent upon achievement of a substantive milestone are deemed 
constrained. Lexicon is also entitled to tiered, escalating royalties ranging from low twenties to mid-thirties percentages of net 
sales of XERMELO in the Licensed TerritoryTT , subject to a credit for amounts previously paid to Lexicon by Ipsen for the yy
manufacture and supply of such units of XERMELO.  Lexicon and Ipsen have entered into a commercial supply agreement 
pursuant to which Lexicon supplies Ipsen’s commercial requirements of XERMELO, and Ipsen pays an agreed upon transfer 
price for such commercial supply.

The Company considered the following as its performance obligations with respect to the revenue recognition of the 
$24.5 million upfront payment: 

• The exclusive license granted to Ipsen to develop and commercialize XERMELO in the Licensed 
Territory;TT

• The development services Lexicon is performing for XERMELO;
• The obligation to participate in committees which govern the development of XERMELO

until commercialization; and
• The obligation to supply commercial supply of XERMELO, under a commercial supply agreement.

The Company determined that the license had stand-alone value because it is an exclusive license that grants Ipsen the
right to develop and commercialize XERMELO or to sublicense its rights.  In addition, at the time of the agreement, it would 
have been possible for Ipsen or another third party to conduct clinical trials without assistance from Lexicon.  As a result, the
Company considers the license and the development services under the Agreement to be separate performance obligations.  The 
Company recognized the portion of the transaction price allocated to the license immediately because Lexicon delivered the 
license and earned the revenue at the inception of the arrangement.  The Company is recognizing as revenue the amount 
allocated to the development services and the obligation to participate in committees over the period of time Lexicon performs 
services, which was completed in 2018. 

The Company determined that the commercial supply agreement is a contingent deliverable at the onset of the 
Agreement. There was inherent uncertainty in obtaining regulatory approval at the time of the agreement, thus, making the 
applicability of the commercial supply agreement outside the control of Lexicon and Ipsen. As a result, the Company has
determined the commercial supply agreement does not meet the definition of a performance obligation that needs to be 
accounted for at the inception of the arrangement.  The Company has also determined that there is no significant and 
incremental discount related to the commercial supply agreement that should be accounted for at the inception of the 
arrangement.

The Company determined that the initial transaction price was the $24.5 million upfront payments because they were
the only payments that were fixed and determinable at the inception of the arrangement.  There was considerable uncertainty at 
the date of the agreement as to whether Lexicon would earn milestone payments, royalty payments or payments for finished 
drug product.  As such, the Company did not include those payments in the transaction price. The Company allocated the 
transaction price based on the relative best estimate of selling price of each performance obligation.  The Company estimated 
the selling price of the license deliverable by applying a probability-based income approach utilizing an appropriate discount 
rate. The significant inputs the Company used to determine the projected income of the license included: estimated future 
product sales, estimated cost of goods sold, estimated operating expenses, income taxes, and an appropriate discount rate. The 
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Company estimated the selling price of the development services by using internal estimates of the cost to hire third parties to
perform the services over the expected period to perform the development. The Company estimated the selling price of the 
obligation to participate in committees by using internal estimates of the number of internal hours and salary and benefits costs 
to perform these services. 

l f h ll i h i dAs a result of the allocation, the Company recognized $ illi$21.2 million f h of the $24.5 million upfront payment for the 
license in 2014, and an additional $1.4 million in 2015 upon entering into the amendment.  The Company is recognizing the 
$1.7 million allocated to the development services deliverable over the estimated period of performance as development 
occurs, and is recognizing the $0.1 million allocated to the committee participation deliverable ratably over the estimated 
period of performance.  Milestone payments that are contingent upon the achievement of a substantive milestone are deemed 
constrained.  If or when the constraint is determined to be resolved, the Company will re-evaluate the overall transaction price
and recognize an adjustment on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period that the adjustment was evaluated.  During 2018, the
milestone earned when Ipsen received approval from Health Canada was determined to be a distinct performance obligation 
relating to the development activities and accordingly, was recognized as revenue without further allocation to the remaining yy
performance obligations.  Revenue recognized under the Agreement was $4.6 million, $16.2 million and $7.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
include $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of royalties from Ipsen.  Revenue for the years ended yy December 31, 2018
and 2017 include $1.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively, from sales of bulk tablets of XERMELO to Ipsen. yy

Texas Institute for Genomic MedicineTT .   In July 2005, Lexicon received a $35.0 million award from the TexasTT
Enterprise Fund for the creation of a knockout mouse embryonic stem cell library containing 350,000 cell lines for the TexasTT
Institute for Genomic Medicine (“TIGM”) using Lexicon’s proprietary gene trapping technology, which Lexicon completed in yy
2007.  Lexicon also equipped TIGM with the bioinformatics software required for the management and analysis of data relating 
to the library. The Texas Enterprise Fund made an additional award of TT $15.0 million to the TexasTT A&M University System for 
the creation of facilities and infrastructure to house the library.  

Under the terms of the award, Lexicon was responsible for the creation of a specified number of jobs beginning in 
2012, reaching an aggregate of 1,616 new jobs in Texas by December 31, 2016.  Lexicon receives credits against those jobTT
obligations based on funding received by TIGM and certain related parties from sources other than the State of Texas.  Subject TT
to these credits, the State may require Lexicon to repay $2,415 for each job Lexicon falls short beginning in 2013.  Lexicon has 
evaluated its performance obligation and has concluded that such credits are sufficient to fully offf fset its job obligation;ff
however, Lexicon’s maximum aggregate exposure for such payments is approximately $14.2 million, without giving effect to ff
any credits to which Lexicon may be entitled.  Upon adoption of Topic 606, Lexicon determined that it was not probable that a TT
significant reversal would occur and therefore, reduced deferred revenue by this amount in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.
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15. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following data contain certain corrections of errors identified in previously reported amounts.  See Note 2,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The table below sets forth certain unaudited statements of comprehensive loss
data, and net loss per common share data, for each quarter of 2018 and 2017:

(in thousands, except per sharr e data)

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

(Unaudited)
2018
Revenues $ 25,374 $ 13,798 $ 6,966 $ 17,071
Loss from operations $ (37,713) $ (30,272) $ (22,927) $ (12,367)
Net loss $ (41,822) $ (34,549) $ (27,396) $ (16,781)
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (0.40) $ (0.33) $ (0.26) $ (0.16)
Shares used in computing net loss per common

share, basic and diluted 105,668 105,848 105,881 105,920
2017
Revenues $ 17,962 $ 12,087 $ 27,674 $ 33,966
Loss from operations $ (39,512) $ (33,491) $ (28,605) $ (29,016)
Net loss $ (31,918) $ (34,657) $ (29,809) $ (26,609)
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (0.31) $ (0.33) $ (0.28) $ (0.25)
Shares used in computing net loss per common

share, basic and diluted 104,461 105,300 105,582 105,588

For all periods presented, the weighted average number of shares outstanding are the same for both basic and diluted 
net loss per common share.  For these periods, shares associated with convertible debt, stock options and restricted stock units
are not included in the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding because they are antidilutive. 
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The impact of the error corrections are presented on a “Previously reported,” “Adjustments,” and “As adjusted” basis 
in the following quarterly financial data for 2017 and 2018 (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 Three Months Ended March 31, 2017

Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Revenues $ 25,207 167 $ 25,374 $ 18,293 (331) $ 17,962
Loss from operations $ (37,966) 253 $ (37,713) $ (42,485) 2,973 $ (39,512)
Net loss $ (42,075) 253 $ (41,822) $ (34,891) 2,973 $ (31,918)
Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted $ (0.40) — $ (0.40) $ (0.33) 0.02 $ (0.31)
Shares used in computing net
loss per common share, basic
and diluted 105,668 105,668 104,461 104,461

Three Months Ended June 30, 2018 Three Months Ended June 30, 2017
Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Previously
reported Adjustments

As
adjusted

Revenues: $ 13,753 45 $ 13,798 $ 12,053 34 $ 12,087
Loss from operations $ (30,429) 157 $ (30,272) $ (33,893) 402 $ (33,491)
Net loss $ (34,706) 157 $ (34,549) $ (35,059) 402 $ (34,657)
Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted $ (0.33) — $ (0.33) $ (0.33) — $ (0.33)
Shares used in computing net
loss per common share, basic
and diluted 105,848 105,848 105,300 105,300

Three Months Ended September 30,r
2018

Three Months Ended September 30,r
2017

Previously
reported Adjustment

As
adjusted

Previously
reported Adjustment

As
adjusted

Revenues: $ 6,856 110 $ 6,966 $ 26,942 732 $ 27,674
Loss from operations $ (23,043) 116 $ (22,927) $ (29,518) 913 $ (28,605)
Net loss $ (27,512) 116 $ (27,396) $ (30,722) 913 $ (29,809)
Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted $ (0.26) — $ (0.26) $ (0.29) 0.01 $ (0.28)
Shares used in computing net
loss per common share, basic
and diluted 105,881 105,881 105,582 105,582

Three Months Ended December 31, 2017r
Previously
reported Adjustment

As
adjusted

Revenues: $ 33,047 919 $ 33,966
Loss from operations $ (30,785) 1,769 $ (29,016)
Net loss $ (28,378) 1,769 $ (26,609)
Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted $ (0.27) 0.02 $ (0.25)
Shares used in computing net
loss per common share, basic
and diluted 105,588 105,588
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